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Versant Object Database, VDS, Versant®, enJin, FastObjects, Versant JDO, Versant Open Access and
VRTEF are trademarks of Versant in the United States and/or other countries. All other corporate or trade
names or service marks referred to in this report are the names or marks of their respective owners in the
United States and/or other countries.




CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933. These forward-looking staterments are
based on Versant’s current expectations about our business and indusiry and reflect our beliefs and assumptions
based upon information that is reasonably available to us dt the date of this report. In many cases you may
identify these forward-looking statements by words such as “will, " “should,” “may,” “might”, “believes,”
“anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “estimates” and similar expressions. These forward-looking statements may
include, among other things, projections of our future financial performance and trends anticipated for our -
business.

We caution invesiors that forward-looking statements are only predictions, forecasts or estimates based
upon our current expectations about future events. The forward-looking statements are not guarantees or
assurances of our future performance and are subject to significant risks and uncertainties that are inherently
difficult to assess and predict. Our actual results and performance may differ materially from the results and
performance anticipated by any forward-looking statements due to these risks and uncentainties. Some of the
important risks and factors that could cause our results and performance to differ from results or performance
anticipated by this report are discussed in ltem 1A of this report, —Risk Factors,” which you should read
carefully. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements in order to reflect
events or circumstances that may arise or occur after the date of this report or for any other reason. Readers are
urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made by Versant in this report and in our other
reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission that attempt to advise interested parties of the risks
and factors that may affect our business.

PART1 ‘
Item 1. * Business ' :
Overview of the Company

We are a leading provider of object-oriented data management software that forms a critical
component of the infrastructure of enterprise computing. Companies use Versant solutions to solve
complex data management and data integration problems. We design, develop, market and support object-
oriented database management system products to address such problems: We also provide related
product support, training, and consulting services to assist users in developing and deploying software
applications based on our products. We operate our business within a single operating segment referred to
as Data Management. We were incorporated in California in August 1988 under the name Object Sciences
Corporation and completed our initial public offering of our common stock under the name of Versant
Object Technology Company in July 1996. The name of the company was changed to Versant Corporation
on July 15, 1998. In November 2002, we acquired Mokume Software, Inc., a privately held company that
developed technology for use in real-time applications. In March 2004, we acquired Poet Holdings, Inc.
(Poet) through a merger. Prior to that merger, Poet was a provider of object-oriented data management
software headquartered in the United States, whose stock was publicly traded on the Frankfurt stock
exchange. In June 2004, we acquired the JDO Genie product line and its customers from JDO Genie
(PTY) Ltd., a privately held South African company and in July 2004, we acquired FastObjects, Inc., a
private company that held North American distribution rights with respect to Poet’s FastObjects database
management product. In September 2004, we sold Poet’s Catalog solutions business. In August of 2005, we
effected a 1-for-10 reverse split of our outstanding common stock. In February 2006, we sold our
WebSphere consulting business. Qur principal executive offices are located at 6539 Dumbarton Circle,
Fremont, California 94555 and our telephone number is (510)789-1500. Our website URL is
www.versant.com. Other than as expressly set forth in this annual report, the information contained in, or
referred to on, our website is not a part of this annual report.




Industry Background

Computerized data management has evolved significantly over the past few decades. As business
computing became more sophisticated, network and hierarchical databases emerged in the 1970s to serve
growing business data requirements. In the 1980s, these types of databases were largely superseded by
relational database technology, which continues to be a widely prevalent database technology today. The
mid to late 1980s saw the emergence of object-oriented software programming, in which smaller software
building blocks called objects, which can perform specific functions, are aggregated with other objects in
order to create larger software systems. With the advent of object-oriented software programming, it
became possible to incorporate the unique features and advantages of object-based software into database
management solutions. Our principal products are object-based database management software solutions,
which we believe have advantages over relational database technology. In particular, we believe that
object-based database management solutions are especially well suited for successfully addressmg the
complex and challenging data management and analytical requirements of companies who need to rapidly
source, update, analyze and use very large changing bodies of complex data for a wide variety of business
applications.

Certain Industry Terms

~ For reference purposes we have listed below certain well-known technical terms often used in our
data management industry to assist readers in better understanding the information provided in this -

report:
¢ Application Server Software—Deployment software that is used to build and deploy Internet
applications, including commercial websites and internal company websites.

¢ Cache—Performance enhancing software that works with servers to improve their response times
and throughput.

e Data Integration—a broad term for a variety of techniques that enable the data from one software
system to be used in Other software systems,

» Disk mirroring—a technique using specialized software, and often specialized hardware, to get the
same data on two storage disks for the purpose of increasing the reliabitity or making a quick
snapshot (duptlicate backup) of a database.

e Fault tolerant server—a server that offers higher reliability by the use of duplicated hardware 'and ’
specialized software. In the case of a failure of one database, the surviving database can continue
offering normal service.

¢ J2EE-based—an application or software component that is deployed ina Java2 Enterprlse Edition
(J2EE) software environment. . ‘

. JDO—Java Data Object, a standard based Java API for Versant.

¢ JDBC—Java Database Connectmty, a standard in relatlonal Database world for processing SQL to
Java.

_» JVI—Java Versant Interface, a }ifdprietary based Java API for Versant,

o Object-Oriented—object oriented software uses smaller building blocks called objects to create
larger software systems, ‘

» ODBC—Open Database Connectivity, a standard i 1n relattonal Database world for proce551ng SQL
to other than Java. ‘




o Relational Database—Data management software that stores data as tables and columns and can be
accessed using an industry standard language called SQL.

* Replication—a range of technical approaches that enable multiple databases to be approximately
synchronized, or to contain the same data.

e Two-Phase Commitment—A specialized protocol for performing database transactions across
multiple distributed resources.

o UMTS—Universal Mobile Teleccommunication System, a third generation mobile phone
technology.

o XML —A standard format used to exchange data (information) between multiple software systems.

Overview of the Products and Services

We provide sophisticated data management solutions designed to address complex data management
needs. Our Versant Object Database product is used primarily by larger enterprises which have significant
large-scale data management requirements, such as technology providers, telecommunications carriers,
government defense agencies and defense contraclors, healthcare companies and companies in the
financial services and transportation industries. Since the incorporation of Poet’s FastObjects solution into
our product line in March 2004, we have expanded the scope of our solutions to address the data
management needs of smaller systems as well. The data management needs of our customers usually
involve many business functions, ranging from usage and management of the customer’s internal data to
the processing of externally originated information; such as customer enrollment, billing and payment
transaction data. Our solution has also been used to solve complex data management issues such as fraud
detection, risk analysis, yield management, and a host of other problems that requires an application

specific data management solution.

In addition to our product offerings, to assist users in their development and deployment of
applications based on the Versant Object Database and FastObijects, we offer a variety of services,
including consulting, training, and technical support services. We also provide maintenance and support
services with respect to our own products.

Benefits of Versant Solutions
Our products provide customers the following benefits for specialized data management:

e High Performance. Our object-based architecture provides direct access or navigation to stored
objects. The balanced client-server architecture of Versant products enhances performance by
efficiently distributing processing burdens between clients and servers to leverage the processing
power of networked computers.

‘e Highly Scalable Support for Distributed Computing. QOur productS can work in various environments
ranging from small workgroup operations to operations involving thousands of users over the wide
area networks or the Internet. This scalability can be achieved through object-level operations and
other design features.

e Reliability, Availability and Serviceability. Our Versant Object Database product offers a number of
features designed to permit continuous operation, including features providing online backup and
recovery and online modification of the database system, as well as system utilities that can operate
while the system is running. These features, together with replication and disk mirroring provided
by a Fault Tolerant Server, support continuous operation of our products.




* Language-Independent Support for Object-Oriented Programming. Our products provide native
support for the leading object-oriented software development languages of C+ +, Microsoft NET
and Java. This facilitates rapid and flexible application development by our customers and the
maintenance and evolution of complex and dynamic applications that closely model real-world
systems and processes.

» Support for Component Architectures. The Versant Object Database client integrates with leading
J2EE application servers, including IBM WebSphere and BEA Weblogic application servers. These
application servers enable users to build and deploy J2EE-based applications that will work
compatibly and directly with the Versant Object Database in order to gain our inherent productivity
and performance advantages.

» Support of Major Operating Systems. Versant products operate on a wide range of server platforms,
including UNIX platforms from Sun Microsystems, Hewlett-Packard and IBM, Linux platforms
from Red Hat, and Microsoft Windows platforms.

Our Strategy

We were involved in the following activities in fiscal 2006, which are likely to impact our operations
and business in fiscal 2007 and beyond:

We further implemented a restructuring plan to significantly reduce our operating expenses by
consolidating our product lines and streamlining our engineering, marketing, sales, and administrative
resources. The purpose of the restructuring was to refocus our business back to our core object database
product offerings.

In accordance with the aforementioned restructuring plan, we elected not to renew the building office
lease for Versant Ltd in the United Kingdom, which terminated on October 24, 2006. The remaining
employees, including a salesperson and consultant/engineer, continue to be located in the United
Kingdom. Maintenance agreements have been transferred to our international operations in Germany,
and technical support for these maintenance agreements is being provided through our European
aperations. As we continue to maintain a sales presence in the United Kingdom while providing technical
support for maintenance agreements through our European operations, we believe that operations in the
United Kingdom will not be adversely impacted. We anticipate formally winding down the Versant Ltd
entity during fiscal 2007.

Additionally, in February 2006, we sold our WebSphere consulting business in exchange for a one-
time cash payment plus certain contingent payments during a 24-month period foltowing the close of the
transaction. We believe that the sale of the WebSphere consulting business will allow us to better focus our
resources on our core object database offerings.

We also continued to focus our sales and marketing efforts on our data management products,
Versant Object Database and FastObjects, and related consulting and training services. Versant Object
Database was the key focus of our marketing efforts and by far the major source of our license revenues in
fiscal 2006.

The technology sector was the largest vertical market for our revenues in fiscal 2006. The
incorporation of the Versant products into the offerings of independent software vendors (ISVs) has
increased our share of license revenues in this sector. Examples of the technology applications in which our
products are used are demand consensus forecasts, collaborative planning, and requirements management
applications.

The telecommunications industry also continued to be a very significant vertical market for our
revenues in fiscal 2006. Customers in the telecommunications industry have used our products in such




strategic distributed applications as network modeling and management, fault diagnosis, fraud prevention,
service activation and assurance, and customer billing. Most notably, we were able to deploy our software
in the next generation 3G UMTS applications built by several leading telecommunications equipment
providers. .

We have also been able to gain customer acceptance in other vertical markets, including defense,
financial services, transportation, and health care, and hope to continue to derive revenues from customers
in these markets.

Products and Services
Versant Object Database (VOD)

VOD, a seventh generation object database management system, is designed to support multi-user,
commercial applications in distributed computing environments. VOD enables users 1o store, manage, and
distribute information that often cannot be administered effectively through traditional database
technologies, including the following types of information:

o real-time data, such as graphics, images, video, audio and unstructured text;

« dynamic, graph-oriented data, such as network management data and advanced financial
instruments; and

« meta-data, data aiding integration of diverse systems, and workflow information, which together
enable the construction of applications that integrate diverse systems and add new functionality,
often making this functionality available over the Internet.

The object-oriented, balanced client-server architecture of VOD provides the basis for high-
performance, scalable distributed applications. We believe that VOD’s performance is superior compared
1o relational database management systems, particularly for complex data applications, for which VOD has
the capability of processing a wide variety of abstract data types in a highly concurrent, high performance
manner. We also believe that use of VOD allows our customers to reduce the time they need to develop
applications for their data management systems and improves their system performance.

VOD is designed to integrate up to 65,000 databases connected over a like number of locations on a
variety of hardware and software platforms. Each database has a theoretical storage capacity of 4.6 million
terabytes, an amount far beyond the actual capacity of most existing operating systems. VOD implements a
variety of database features, including two-phase commitment for distributed transaction integrity and
“database triggers” to monitor changing events and data and to notify users and applications when
specificd events occur. In addition, on-line management utilities enable routine maintenance to be
performed while the database is running. These include utilities to perform backup operations, manage log
files, dynamically evolve database schema, add, delete and compress volumes on disk storage and related
functions. These utilities provide multiple levels of administrative access and application security. .

Version 7.0 of VOD includes the core object database management system, C++ and Java language
interfaces (proprietary JV1 and standards based JDO), and XML for import and export of data into the
database. By bundling these components with VOD, we believe we are enhancing the solution that we are
offering making it easier for customers to deploy applications requiring such components.

As part of the VOD family, we also offer Fault Tolerant Server, Asynchronous Replication, Warm
Standby, Online Reorganization, Versant Monitoring Console, Versant SQL, and High Availability
Backup Solution as add-on options that a customer can use in situations requiring advanced capabilities.

o Versant Fault Tolerant Server provides for highly reliable operations in mission-critical
environments. This product provides transparent failure recovery by connecting database clients to




synchronized copies of the database stored on physically separate computers. If one of the
databases fails, due to operating system failure, hardware breakdown or any other form of
interruption, the other database continues operation without application interruption. When the
failed database is restored, the two databases automatically resynchronize and resume operations
without any interruption in application processing.

e Versant Monitoring Console is an add-on tool for the monitoring of Versant Object Databases,
designed following the standard managing console/remote agent paradigm. The remote agent
resides on the Versant server system, while the managing console is a graphical interface running on
a Versant client system to display the ongoing activity of the monitored database.

o Versant Asynchronous Replication add-on module for Versant Object Database supports both master-
slave and peer-to-peer asynchronous replication between multiple object servers. This can be used
to replicate data to a distributed recovery site or to replicate data between multiple local object
servers for increased performance and reliability.

o Versant’s Warm Standby allows customers to keep a secondary database near the state of the
production database for reporting and fast restore requirements. This option is especially useful for
customers with very large data sets.

® Versant’s Online Reorganization allows the online compaction of production database data volumes
for special categories of applications that are performing heavy data deletions. This option allows
customers to ensure continuous operations at required performance levels by eliminating
performance degradation due to fragmentation, a common problem for databases in this
application category.

o The Versant SQL (VSQL) product provides JDBC/ODBC driver connectivity, allowing the use of
standard SQL enabled tooling to access The Versant Object Database. This is especially useful for
customers who use industry standard reporting tools such as Crystal Reports and Microsoft Access. -

e Versant’s High Availability Backup Solution enables VOD to use the mirroring and backup features
of other enterprise storage systems to take an online backup of very large data volumes within
seconds, without impacting transaction response times.

During our last three fiscal years, the vast majority of our revenues were driven by sales of VOD (and
its predecessor, VDS), FastObjects and related maintenance and consulting services.

FastObjects

FastObjects is an object database management system designed to provide minimal administration
and work natively with the customer’s product. The primary target application for our FastObjects product
line is for use as an embedded data management system to be integrated in a customer’s products.
FastObjects is used in a vast range of applications, including medical devices, vending machines, telecom
equipment, and defense systems. The majority of FastObjects installations are now running under the
Microsoft Windows Operating System.

During fiscal 2006, we focused most of our development resources on our flagship product line,
Versant Object Database. In the future, we plan to offer a Microsoft NET application program interface
for VOD enabling our FastObjects NET customers to migrate to VOD,




Services

We derived almost one-half of our revenues from services in fiscal 2006. Our services include
maintenance and support programs for our data management products, consulting services and customer
specific extensions to our products.

Maintenance Services. 'We provide maintenance and technical support services for our products that
are generally available at an annual fee that varies depending on the type and level of support the customer
requires. Maintenance and support contracts, which typically have twelve-month terms, are offered
concurrently with the initial license of our product and entitle a customer to telephone support, product
upgrades, and documentation updates. For additional fees, customers may purchase a special support
package that provides dedicated support engineers and telephone support available for 24 hours per day
and seven days a week. Maintenance contracts are typically renewable annually and typically are paid for in
advance for all products, but in some instances, maintenance and support fees are paid in arrears. For the
support of older versions of our products, we offer specific obsolescence support options.

Professional Services. 'We also provide a variety of training and consulting services to assist customers
in the design, development, training and management of applications that are built based on our core
products. Training services arc offered for a variety of Versant-specific and other object-related
technologies and range from beginning to advanced levels. Consulting services are available for analysis
and design assistance, mentoring and technical information transfer, application coding, design reviews
and performance analysis. In addition, we provide custom development services to customers that request
unique or proprietary product extensions.

Sales and Marketing

Sales Channels. 'We market and sell our products principally through our direct sales force and
through value-added resellers, systems integrators, and distributors.

Direct Sales. Our direct sales organization is based in our corporate offices in Fremont, California
and Hamburg, Germany, and in some regional and home offices in the US and Europe. The direct sales
organization includes field sales personnel, who are responsible for account management, and systems
engineers, who answer technical questions and assist customers in running benchmarks against competitive
products and in developing prototype applications.

Indirect Sales. Part of our sales strategy is to develop indirect distribution channels, such as value-
added resellers and systems integrators. Systems integrators may include our products with their own or
those of other vendors, in order to provide a complete solution to their customers. Under their agreements
with Versant, value-added rescllers and systems integrators are typically not subject to any minimum
purchase or resale requirements and can cease marketing our products at any time. Certain value-added
resellers and systems integrators offer products they produced by themselves or other vendors, which in
some cases may compete with our products.

Marketing. 'The primary objective of our marketing efforts is to build increased visibility for Versant
and its products and to generate sales leads for our business. Qur marketing programs include our efforts
at cultivating media and analyst relations, fostering valuable investor communications, speakers’ programs,
online marketing, partner-marketing programs and participation in conferences and tradeshows, Our
products are typically marketed through (i) development licenses, which entitle the customer to develop
applications that use a Versant software product, and (ii) deployment licenses, which entitie the customer
to sell and market.

Sales Process. The cycle for a complete sale of our products to new and large enterprise customers
can often exceed nine months and may extend to a year or beyond. For existing customers with successfully
deployed applications, sales cycles for new applications of our core products are generally shorter. During




the sales cycle, meetings involving both technical and management staff are conducted frequently at the
prospective customer’s site and at our headquarters. As part of their product selection process, our
prospective customers typically perform a detailed technical evaluation or benchmark of our object-based
technologies, often directly comparing them to competitive products. Upon completion of the evaluation, a
customer that chooses our solution may purchase one or more development licenses depending upon the
number of their programmers that will develop and build their customers’ application. Development
licenses enable the customer to develop applications that use our software. Additionally, a customer may
purchase technical support, training courses and consulting services. Our customers may also purchase
deployment licenses enabling them to deploy applications developed under a development license. In some
cases our customers purchase deployment licenses at the same time they purchase development licenses. In
other cases customers may instead defer their purchase of deployment licenses and related maintenance .-
until they complete the application development under their development license (a process that typically
takes at least six months and can exceed one year). :

Shipping and Backlog. Our software may be either physically or electronically delivered'to the
customer. If physically delivered, our software product is shipped from either our Fremont or Hamburg
facilities and is delivered to the customer upon receipt of an approved order and a signed license -
agreement, We typically do not have a material backlog of unfilled license orders at any given time, and we
do not consider backlog to be a meaningful indicator of our future performance.

International Sales and Marketing.  Our international sales are recorded by subsidiaries located in
Germany and United Kingdom, which sell our products through distributors and value-added resellers, as
well as directly to end-users. For fiscal 2006, our international revenues derived from customers outside
North America made up approximately 63% of our total revenues, compared to 66% for fiscal 2005 and
47% for fiscal 2004.

Our Customers

We categorize our customers into two broad groups, End-Users and Value Added Resellers
(“VARs”). End Users are companies who use our products internally and do not redistribute our products
outside of their corporate organizations. VAR customers, on the other hand, include traditional Value
Added Resellers, Systems Integrators, OEMs and other vendors who redistribute Versant products to-
third party customers, either individually orf as part of an integrated product. . »

We license our data management products through two types of perpetual licenses—development
licenses and deployment licenses. Development licenses, typically sold on a per seat basis, authorize a
customer to develop an application program that uses our software product. Under a deployment license; a
customer is permitted to deploy an application that it has developed under a development license from us.
End-Users generally purchase deployment licenses based on the number of central processing units
(CPUs) supporting the server that will run the application using our database management system. We .
offer deployment licenses, for certain applications, priced on a per user basis. Pricing of Versant Object
Database and FastObjects varies according to several factors, including the number of CPUs/Cores per
server on which the applications run, and the number of users that are able to access the server at any
particular time. Customers may elect to simultancously purchase development and deployment licenses for
their projects, or instead may initially purchase only a development license and purchase a deployment
license only when their applications developed on our software are completed.

VARSs and distributors purchase development licenses from us on a per seat basis and on terms similar
to those of development licenses sold directly to End-Users. VARs are authorized to sublicense
deployment copies of our data management products, which are either bundled or embedded in the VARS’
applications, directly to End-Users. VARSs are required to report the distribution of our software to us and
are charged a royalty that is based either on the number of copies of application softwarc dlstnbuted or




computed as a percentage of the selling price charged by the VAR to its end-user customers. These
royalties may be prepaid in full or paid upon deployment.

Our Vertical Markets

Versant Object Database and FastObjects are licensed for development or deployment, or both, in a
wide range of applications. A substantial amount of our sales are for applications in the technology,
telecommunications, defense, healthcare and financial services sectors. Many of our customers have
licensed multiple copies for use in different applications.

Our future performance will depend in significant part on the increase in the use and sales of the
Versant Object Database and FastObjects in technology, telecommunications, defense, healthcare, online
gaming and financial market applications and the continued acceptance of our products within these
industries.

Competition

Qur software products compete with companies offering object and relational database management
systems. Our competitors, especially Oracle and Progress Software, have longer operating histories,
significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, service and other resources, significantly greater name
recognition, broader product offerings, larger and more established distribution channels and a larger
installed base of customers. In addition, many of our competitors have well-established relationships with
our current and potential customers and may offer broader suites of products which may incentivize
customers to purchase such competitors’ data management products. We may not be able to compete
successfully against current or future competitors, and competitive pressures could have a material adverse
effect on the business, pricing, operating results and financial condition of the company.

Research and Development

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel and related expenses,
including payroll and employee benefits, expenses for facilities and payments made to outside software
development contractors. Currently our research and development activity is conducted primarily in our
Hamburg, Germany and Pune, India facilities. In fiscal 2006, fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, our research and
development expenses were $3.1 million, $3.9 million and $5.1 million, respectively. We anticipate that we
will continue to invest significant resources in research and development activities, particularly in Germany
and India, in the future to develop new products, advance the technology of our existing products and
develop new business opportunities.

Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

We regard our products as proprietary. We attempt to protect our product technology by relying
primarily on a combination of copyright and trademark laws, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and
contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technology. For example, we license our software
pursuant to signed license agreements and, to a lesser extent, “shrink-wrap” licenses displayed in
evaluation downloads and in software installation screens, which impose certain restrictions on the
licensee’s ability to utilize our software. 1n addition, we take steps to avoid disclosure of our trade secrets,
such as requiring persons with access to our proprietary information to execute non-disclosure agreements,
and we restrict access to our software source code. We scek to protect our software, documentation and
other written materials under trade secret and copyright laws, which afford only limited protection. We
were awarded a United States patent (No. 5,822,759) for our proprietary cache system used within our
product suites, which expires in 2015. We also have certain trademarks and service marks.




Employees

As of October 31, 2006, we and our subsidiaries had a total of 76 full time employees, of whom 18
were based in the United States, 28 in Europe, and 30 in India. Of the total, 50 employees were engaged in
engineering and technical services, 10 were engaged in sales and marketing, 5 were engaged in the services
organization, and the remaining 11 were engaged in general administration and finance. To the best of our
knowledge, none of our employees is represented by a labor union. We have not experienced any
organized work stoppage to date and believe that our relationship with our employees is generally good.

Our future performance depends mostly upon the continued service of our key technical, sales, and
senior management personnel. The loss of the services of one or more of our key employees could have a
material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Restructuring

As part of our more recent restructuring efforts, we executed the following transactions to refocus the
Company on its core object database management business: -

In February 2006, we sold our WebSphere consulting business in exchange for a one-time cash
payment plus certain contingent payments during a 24-month period following the close of the transaction.
As a result, we have reflected the results of operations of our WebSphere consulting practice for fiscal
2006, fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 as discontinued operations. Therefore, reported revenues for these
periods no longer include any revenues from the WebSphere consulting practice. The tesults from the
discontinued WebSphere operations, however, are reported as net income from discontinued operations,
net of income taxes. See Note 5 of our “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in Item 8 of this
report for more information regarding this transaction.

In July 2005, we spun off our former Versant Open Access.NET (or VOA.Net) assets to Vanatec
GmbH (Vanatec), a privately held German company. Versant subsequently determined that the equity at |
risk in Vanatec was not sufficient to permit Vanatec to finance its activities without additional
subordinated financial support from Versant. Therefore, we considered Vanatec a variable interest entity
in accordance with FIN 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (As Amended). As a result, in
accordance with FIN 46(R), Vanatec’s operating results were included in Versant’s consolidated financial
statements from July 2005 through March 27, 2006. On March 27, 2006, Versant sold its entire equity
interest in Vanatec to a third party investor and entered into a joint ownership agreemént with Vanatec
with respect to technology previously licensed to Vanatec. As a result of this sale of its interest in Vanatec,
Versant is no longer required to consolidate the operating results of Vanatec as'a variable interest entity in
its financial statements.

Investor Information

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the
“Exchange Act” pursuant to which we file our periodic reports on Forms 10-Q, 10-K, 8-K, proxy
statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or “the SEC”. These
reports, proxy statements and other information may be obtained by visiting the Public Reference Room of
the SEC at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the
SEC’s Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1(800) SEC-0330. In addition, the
SEC maintains an Internet site (at http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information
statements and other information regarding issuers that file electromcally

Financial and other information about Versant can also be accessed at our lnvestor Relations website.
The address of Versant’s website is: (http://www.versant.com). We make available, free of charge, copies of
our annual reports, annual reports on Forms 10-K, quarterly reports on Forms 10-Q, current reports on
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Form 8-K and amendments to those reports, fited or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such materials with the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

This annual report on Form 10-K coniains forward-looking statements regarding the Company that
involve risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those set forth below, that could cause our actual
results of operations to differ materially from those contemplated in the forward-looking statements. The matters
set forth below should be carefully-considered when evaluating our business and prospects.

Risks Related to Our Business

We are dependent on a limited number of products, especially Versant Object Database. Nearly all of our
license revenues to date have been derived from our Versant Object Database product and its
predecessors. Consequently, if our ability to generate revenues from Versant Object Database were
negatively impacted, our business, cash flows and results of operations would be matcrially adversely
affected. Many factors could negatively impact our ability to generate revenues from Versant Object
Database, including without limitation softness in the North American market for enterprise software,
consumer demand changes in the European market for enterprise software, slowness in the general
economy or in key industries we serve, such as the technology, telecommunications and defense industries,
the success of competitive products of other vendors, reduction in the prices we can obtain for our
products due to competitive factors, the adoption of new technologies or standards that make our products
technologically obsolete and customer reluctance to invest in object-oriented technologies. Although we
have taken steps to diversify our product line through our acquisition of Poet and its FastObjects data
management product, we still expect that sales of Versant Object Database will continue to be very critical
to our revenues for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, any significant reduction in revenue levels from
our Versant Object Database product can be expected to have a material negative impact on our business
and results of operation. '

Our quarterly revenue levels are not predictable. Our revenues have fluctuated dramatically on a
guarterly basis, and we expect this trend to continue. For example, in fiscal 2006, our quarterly revenues
fluctuated from a high of $4.6 million in both the first and fourth quarters of 2006 to a low of $3.8 million.
in both the second and third quarters of 2006; and in fiscal 2005 our quarterly revenues fluctuated from a
high of $5.3 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2005 to a low of $3.2 million in the second quarter,
$3.5 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 and $3.8 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. These
quarterly fluctuations result from a number of factors, including but not limited to the following:

« delays by our customers (including customers who are resellers) in signing revenue-bearing
contracts that were expected to be entered into in a particular fiscal quarter and the timing of any
significant sales;

e the status of the market for enterprise software and general macroeconomic factors that impact
information technology, or “IT”, capital purchasing decisions;

» the lengthy sales cycle associated with our products;

e the extent to which we do or do not complete tasks under consulting projects which must be
completed in order for us to recognize certain revenues under such contracts;

e customer and market perceptions of the value and currency of object-oriented software technology;
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* uncertainty regarding the timing and scope of customer deployment schedules of applications based
on Versant Object Database where revenues are contingent upon the customer’s deployment of our
product;

» failure by us to timely develop and launch successful new products;

¢ fluctuations in domestic and foreign demand for our products and services, particularly in the -
telecommunications, technology and defense markets;

e the impact of new product mtroducnons both by us and by our competltors

* our unwdhngness to lower prices significantly to meet prices set by our competitors or reductions of
our prices to meet competition;

» the effect of publications of apinions about us and our competitors and their products;

¢ customer deferrals of orders in antmpauon of product enhancements or new product offermgs by -
us or our competitors;

. potennal customers’ unw:llmgness to mvest m our products given our size and percewed fmancnal
instability.

¢ We may not bé able to manage costs effectively given the unpredictability of our revenues. We expect to
continue to maintain a relatively high percentage of fixed expenses, and particularly-inasmuch as we have °
completed a restructuring to significantly reduce our operating expenses. We might be unable to further-
reduce certain fixed expenses to accommodate any revenue reductions. If forecasted revenue does not
materialize, then our busmess financial condition and results of operauons will be materially harmed.

Our future revenues are substantially dependent upon our installed customers continuing to ltceuse Versant
products and renewing maintenance agreements for our products; our fiture professional services and ]
muaintenance revenues are dependent on future sales of our software products. We depend heavily on our
installed customer base for future revenues from licenses of additional products or upgrades of existing
products and related maintenance renewal fees. If our customers do not purchase additional products,
upgrade existing products or renew their maintenance agreements, this could materially adversely affect
our business and future quarterly and annual operating results. The terms of our standard license
arrangements provide for a one-time license fee and a prepayment of one year of software maintenance
and support fees. Our maintenance agreements are renewable annually at the option of the'customer, and
there are no minimum payment obligations or obligations to license additional software. Therefore, our
current customers may not necessarily generate significant maintenance revenues in future periods if they
choose not to renew our maintenance services. This risk may be increased in the case of long-term
customers who have not upgraded our products, which they license. In addition, our customers may choose
not to purchase additional products, upgrades or professional services. Our professional services and
maintenance revenues are also dependent upon the continued use of our products by our installed
customer base. Consequently, any downturn in our software license revenues would likely have a
corresponding negative impact on the growth of our professional service revenues.

Our customer concentration increases the potentinl volatility of our operating results. A significant
portion of our total revenues has been, and we believe will continue to be, derived from a limited number
of orders placed by large organizations. For example, two customers each accounted for 7% and 8% of our
total revenues, respectively, for fiscal 2006; one customer accounted for 30% of our total revenues for the
quarter ended October 31, 2006 and one of our customers contributed 16% to our total revenues for the
quarter ended October 31, 2005. The timing of large orders and of their fulfillment has caused, and in the
future is likely to cause, material fluctuations in our operating results, particularly on a quarterly basis. In
addition, our major customers tend to change from year to year. The loss of any one or more of our major




customers, or our inability to replace a customer making declining purchases with a new customer of
comparable significance, could each have a material adverse effect on our business.

Reduced demand for our products and services may prevent us from achieving targeted revenues and
profitability. Our revenues and our ability to achieve and sustain profitability depend on the overall
demand for the software products and services we offer. Reduced demand for our product line may resuit
from competition offered by alternative technologics or negative customer perception of our object-
oriented technology. General economic conditions can also have a significant adverse effect on our
revenues and results of operations. The demand for IT market infrastructure, the market sector that we
serve, has not fully recovered since the economic slow down of the early 2000s. We cannot predict the
impact of these or similar events in the future, or of any related or unrelated military action, on our
customers or our business. We believe that, in light of these concerns, some businesses may continue to
curtail or eliminate capital spending on IT. In addition, we have experienced continued hesitancy on the
part of our existing and potential customers 10 commit to new products or services from us, particularly in
our North American markets. If U.S. or global economic conditions take another downturn, it could ‘
impact our revenues and thus have a material adverse impact on our business, operating results and
financial condition.

We have limited working capital and may experience difficulty in obtaining needed funding, which may limit
our ability to effectively pursue our business sirategies. At October 31, 2006, we had approximately
$8.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and working capital of approximately $6.2 million. Although our
operations were profitable in fiscal 2006, to date, we have not achieved profitability or generated positive
cash flows on a sustained basis. In response to this situation, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 and the
third quarter of fiscal 2005, we restructured our business operations to significantly reduce our operating
expenses by streamlining our operating processes. These restructuring efforts continued into the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2005 and were completed in the second quarter of fiscal 2006. Although with such
restructuring, we believe that our current cash, cash equivalents, and any net cash provided by operations
will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for the
next twelve months, we may choose to make further cost reductions, and it is possible that events may
occur that could render our current working capital reserves insufficient. Because our revenues are
unpredictable and a significant portion of our expenses is fixed (and more difficult to reduce further given
previous cost reductions), a reduction in our projected revenues or unanticipated requirements for cash
outlays could deplete our limited financial resoutces and working capital. Impairment of our working
capital would require us to make expense reductions and/or to raise funds through borrowing or debt or
equity financing. If we determined that we needed to raise additional funding to pursue our business
strategy or otherwise, there can be no assurance that any equity or debt funding will be available to us on
favorable terms, if at all. If we cannot secure adequate financing sources when required, then we would
need to further reduce our operating expenses, which we may be unable to do at a meaningful level given
our historical restructuring activities, and which would restrict our ability to pursue our business objectives.

We rely for revenues on the technology, telecommunications and defense industries, and these industries are
characterized by complexity, intense competition and changes in purchasing cycles. Historically, we have been
highly dependent upon the telecommunications industry and, more recently, we are becoming increasingly
dependent upon the technology and defense industries for sales of Versant Object Database. Our success
in these markets depends, to a large extent, on general economic conditions affecting these industries, our
ability to compete with alternative technology providers, our ability to develop products that can
successfully interoperate in different computing environments and whether our customers and potential
customers believe we have the expertise and financial stability necessary to provide effective solutions in
these markets on an ongoing basis. If these conditions, among others, are not satisfied, we may not be
successful in generating additional opportunities in these markets. Currently, companies in these industries
are hesitant to commit to additional technology expenditures and the telecommunications industry has in
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particular experienced significant economic difficulties and consolidation trends in recent years, which
could jeopardize our ability to continue to derive revenues from customers in that industry. The technology
industry has also generally experienced volatility in recent years that may adversely affect demand for our
products and services from that industry, and the defense industry may experience new cycles of lower
available technology budgets due to high levels of U.S. defense spending for operations in Iraq and
Afghanistan. In addition, the types of applications and commercial products for the technology,
telecommunications and defense markets are continuing to develop and are rapidly changing, and these
markets are characterized by an increasing number of new entrants whose products may compete with
ours. As a result, we cannot predict the future growth of (or whether there will be future growth in) these
markets, and demand for object-oriented databases applications in these markets may not develop or be
sustainable. We also may not be successful in attaining a significant share of these markets due to
competition and other factors, such as our limited size and working capital. Moreover, potential customers
in these markets generally develop sophisticated and complex applications that require substantial
consulting expertise to implement and optimize. There can be no assurance that we can hire and retain
adequate personnel for this practice.

We depend increasingly on our international operations for our revenues as North American revenues have
declined. A large and increasing portion of our revenues is derived from customers located outside North
America, and it is critical for us to maintain our international revenues. Following our 2004 acquisition of
Poet, which had a strong European presence, international revenues have represented a larger percentage
of our total revenues than it had historically, and consequently, we must conduct our operations
internationally and maintain a significant presence in international markets. For fiscal 2006, our
international revenues derived from customers outside North America made up approximately 63% of our
total revenues, compared to 66% for fiscal 2005 and 47% for fiscal 2004. North American revenues were
37% of our total revenues for fiscal 2006 and 34% of our total revenues for fiscal 2005, down from 53% of
total revenues for fiscal 2004. North American revenues were $6.2 million and $5.3 million for fiscal 2006
and fiscal 2005, respectively, down significantly from North American revenues of $9.3 million for fiscal
2004. We believe that lower revenues generated from our North American operations for the past two
fiscal years, compared to revenues generated from our international operations, are due largely to cautious
purchasing behavior for the past few years as well as the impact of changes in our sales management and
organization, which has to some degree shifted more of our sales emphasis to European customers. During
that period, European revenues grew significantly, primarily due to our merger with Poet, although
revenues from our core data management products also grew in this region. It is possible that our North
America revenues will continue to remain depressed in fiscal 2007, making our international revenues even
more critical to our operations and cash flows.

International Operations pose unique risks. Our international operations are subject to a number of
unique risks in addition to the risks faced by our domestic operations. These risks include, but are not
limited to the following arcas:

¢ longer receivable collection periods;

¢ adverse changes in regulatory requirements;
» dependence on independent resellers;

» fluctuations in foreign exchange rates;

» compliance with multiple and conflicting regulations and technology standards in different
jurisdictions;

» import and export restrictions, tariffs and other regulatory restrictions;

» difficulties in, and increased costs of, staffing and managing foreign operations;
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potentially adverse tax consequences arising from international operations and inter-company
transactions;

e the burdens of complying with a variety of foreign laws, including more protective employment laws
in Germany;

o the impact of business cycles, economic and political instability and potential hostilities outside the
United States; and

» limited ability to enforce agreements, intellectual property rights and other rights in some foreign
countries.

In addition, in light of increasing global security and terrorism, there may be additional risks of
disruption to our international sales activities. Any prolonged disruption in the markets in which we derive
significant revenues may potentially have a material adverse impact on our revenues and results of
operations.

In order to be successful, Versant must attract, retain and motivate key employees and failure to do so could
seriously harm the Company. ln order to effectively execute our business strategy, we must attract, retain
and motivate our executives and other key employees, including those in managerial, sales and technical
positions. We reduced our workforce in connection with a restructuring of our operations in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2004 and in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. These and other circumstances may adversely
affect our ability to attract and retain key management. We must continue to motivate employees and keep
them focused on the achievement of our strategies and goals. In addition, as a result of our merger with
Poet in March of 2004, we now employ a sizable German workforce subject to German law, which
generally provides greater financial protection to terminated employees than does United States law.
Consequently, failure to retain our German employecs may cause us to incur significant severance costs,
which could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. We also retain a significant
number of employees in our offices in Pune, India. There is increasing competition for skilled employees in
the Indian market, resulting in a greater risk of employee turnover and loss of key trained personnel there,
which could adversely impact our research and development and quality control activities.

Our personnel, management teamn and operations are located in different countries and as a result, we may
experience difficulty in coordinating our activities and successfully implementing Company goals. Following
our 2004 merger with Poet, we acquired significant operations and personnel in Europe, and now have
approximately 28 employees based in Europe whose activities must be well coordinated with those of our
U.S. workforce and other employees. In addition, we also perform a significant amount of engineering
work in India through our wholly owned subsidiary located in Pune, India. We currently employ about 30
employees in India, which represents approximately 39% of our total workforce. As a result of the Poet
merger and recent management changes, our management team resides in both our U.S. headquarters in
Fremont, California and our office in Hamburg, Germany. Our Chief Executive Officer resides in
Hamburg, Germany and our Chief Financial Office resides in our Fremont, California office. The
significant geographic dispersion of our management team and our workforce may make it more difficult
for us to successfully manage our long-term objectives, coordinate activity across the Company, and
integrate our operations and business plans.

Our products have a lengthy sales cycle.  The sales cycle for our Versant Object Database and
FastObjects products varies substantially from customer to customer. This sale cycle often exceeds nine
months and can sometimes extend to a year or more, especially for sales to defense sector customers. Due
in part to the strategic nature of our products and the expenditures associated with their purchase,
potential customers are typically cautious in making decisions to acquire our products. Influencing our
customers’ decision'to license our products generally requires us to provide a significant level of education
to prospective customers regarding the uses and benefits of our products, and we frequently commit to
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provide that education without any charge or reimbursement. Generally, pre-sales support efforts, such as
assistance in performing benchmarking and application prototype development, are also conducted with
no charge to customers. Because of the lengthy sales cycle for our products and the relatively large average
dollar size of our individual licenses, a lost or delayed sales transaction could potentially have a significant
negative impact on our operating results for a particular fiscal period.

We are subject to litigation and the risk of future litigation. We and certain of our present and former
officers and directors were named as defendants in four class action lawsuits filed in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of California in 1998. The complaint in those suits alleged
violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, and
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 10b-5 promulgated under the Exchange Act, in connection with
public statements about our financial performance. Although this case was later dismissed, there can be no
assurance that we will not be subject to similar litigation in the future. For example, during fiscal 2006, we
settled a litigation that commenced in the last quarter of fiscal 2004 when we were sued by Systems
America, Inc., a privately held company, in an action which alleged that, prior to our acquisition of
Mokume Software, Inc. in November 2002, persons associated with Mokume Software misappropriated
trade secrets and confidential information of Systems America, unfairly competed with Systems America
with respect to its customer relationships, and infringed Systems America’s trademarks and trade names.
We are currently party to a litigation in which Rockwell Automation, one of our customers, is seeking
indemnification from us for similar claims asserted against it by Systems America, Inc. Litigation can be
expensive to defend, can consume significant amounts of management time and can result in an adverse
judgment or scttlement that could have adverse effects on our results of operations and financial condition.

We will incur increased costs as a result of recently enacted laws and regulations relating to corporate
governance matters and public disclosure. Recently and regulations affecting public companies, including
the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, rules adopted or proposed by the SEC and by the
NASDAQ Stock Market and new accounting pronouncements, including new accounting rules regarding
the expensing of stock options, will increase our costs to evaluate the implications of these laws, regulations
and standards and comply with their requirements. To maintain high standards of corporate governance
and public disclosure, we intend to invest resources to comply with evolving standards. We expect that this
investment will result in increased general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2007 and 2008, and a
diversion of management time and attention from strategic revenue generation and cost management
activities. The impact of these events could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified
persons to serve on our board of directors, on our board committees or as executive officers. We are taking
steps to comply with applicable laws and regulations in accordance with the deadlines by which compliance
is required, but we cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing of additional costs that we may incur
to respond to their requirements and cannot be certain that we will be able to fully comply with the
provisions of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act regarding compliance with certain assessments and
auditor attestations regarding internal control structure reporting.

The requirement to account for stock options we grant as compensation expense reduce our net income and
our earnings per share, and may resulf in or increase losses. Effective November 1, 2005, we adopted the
fair value recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, and Securities
and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (*SAB 107"), using the modified-prospective
transition method. SFAS 123(R) requires us to account for options awarded under our stock plans using a
fair value-based model on the option grant date and record it as a stock-based compensation expense.
Expenses we incur under SFAS 123(R) may significantly reduce our net income and our earnings per
share, and may result in or increase our losses. As a result of adopting Statement 123(R), the Company’s
net income before income taxes for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2006 included stock-based
compensation of $236,000. See NOTE 3 of our “NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS” in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.




Adoption and application of accounting regulations and related interpretations and policies regarding
revenue recognition could cause us to defer recognition of revenue or recognize lower revenues and profits.
Although we use standardized license agreements designed to meet current revenue recognition criteria
under generally accepted accounting principles, we must often negotiate and revise terms and conditions of
these standardized agreements, particularly in multi-lement or multi-year transactions. As our
transactions increase in complexity with the sale of larger, multi-product, multi-year licenses, negotiation
of mutually acceptable terms and conditions can extend the sales cycle and, in certain situations, may
require us to defer recognition of revenue on such licenses. We believe that we are in compliance with
Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended; however, these future, more
complex, multi-element, multi-year license transactions, which may require additional accounting analysis
to account for them accurately, could lead to unanticipated changes in our current revenue accounting
practices and may contain terms affecting the timing of revenue recognition.

Charges to earnings resulting from the application of the purchase method of accounting for the merger with
Poet and FastObjects may adversely affect the market value of our common stock.  In accordance with the U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles, we account for the merger with Poet and FastObjects, Inc. using
the purchase method of accounting, which results in charges to carnings that could have a material adverse
effect on the market value of our commeon stock. Under the purchase method of accounting, we have
allocated the total estimated purchase price of Poet and FastObjects to net tangible assets and amortizable
intangible assets based on their fair values as of the respective dates of the closing of these acquisitions,
and recorded the excess of the purchase price over those fair values as goodwill. We will incur additional
depreciation and amortization expense over the useful lives of certain intangible assets acquired in
connection with these acquisitions, which will extend into future fiscal years. In addition, to the extent the
value of goodwill or intangible assets is impaired, we may be required to incur material charges relating to
the impairment of those assets. Such amortization and potential impairment charges could have a material
impact on our results of operations. '

Risks Related to Our Industry

Our products face significant competition. For Versant Object Database and FastObjects products, we
compete with other companies offering other database management systems. We face substantial
competition from substantially larger and well-cstablished relational database management companies
including Oracle, Computer Associates, Sybase, IBM, and Microsoft. We also face competition from object
database companies including Progtess Software Corporation and Objectivity. Additionally, some
prospective customers might attempt to build specialized data storage capability themselves using their
own internal engineering resources, sometimes starting with low level operating system functionality, and
other times utilizing lower level data storage routines that are commercially available, such as Oracle
Berkeley DB, a simplified database without query processing capability.

Many of our competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical,
marketing, service and other resources, better name recognition, broader suites of product offerings,
stronger sales and distribution channels and a much larger installed base of customers than ours. In
addition, many of our competitors have wetl-established relationships with our current and potential
customers. Qur competitors may be able to devote greater resources to the development, promotion, and
sale of their products. They may further have more direct access to corporate decision-makers of key
customers based on their previous relationships with customers. Our competitors may also be able to
respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements and may be
able to obtain sales of products competitive to ours through package sales of a suite of a variety of products
that we do not offer. We may not be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors,
and competitive pressures could cause us to lose revenues or lower the prices for our products to increase
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sales, or take other responsive actions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
operating results and financial condition.

We depend on successful technology development. 'We believe that significant research and development
expenditures will continue to be necessary for us to remain competitive. While we believe our research and
development expenditures will improve our product lines, because of the uncertainty of software
development projects, these expenditures will not necessarily result in successful product introductions.
Uncertainties affecting the success of software development project introductions include technical
difficulties, delays in introductions of new products, market conditions, competitive products, and '
consumer acceptance of new products and operating systems. In addition, if we are required to adopt cost-
conservation measures, we may be compelled to reduce the amounts of our investment in research and
development activities, which could adversely affect our ability to maintain the competitiveness of our
existing products, our ability to develop new products, and our future research and development
capabilitics. Recent reductions in our operating expenses could require us to limit our research and
development expenditures, which in turn could adversely affect our ability to continue to timely develop
technologies and products necessary for us to remain competitive,

We also face certain challenges in integrating third-party technology embedded in our products. These
challenges include the technological challenges of integration, which may result in development delays, and
uncertainty regarding the economic terms of our relationship with the third-party technology providers,
which may result in delays of the commercial release of new products. We expect that evolving industry
standards will affect our business. The principal risk is that this technology may stimulate the creation of a
broader range of competitors, and some of them could potentially be able to offer applications bundled
with application servers. The opportunity is that we expect a very large number of applications to be built
with programming interfaces that can readily use Versant products to gain performance and other
advantages.

We depend on our personnel, for whom competition is intense. QOur future performance depends in
significant part upon the continued service of our key technical, sales and senior management personnel.
The loss of the services of one or more of our key employees could have a material adverse effect on our
business. Our future success also depends on our continuing ability to attract, train and motivate highly
qualified technical, sales and managerial personnel. Our current financial position and expense reductions
may make it more difficult for us to attract and retain highly talented individuals due to constraints on our
ability to offer compensation at levels that may be offered by larger competitors.

We must protect our intellectual property. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights,
unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products, obtain or use information that we
regard as proprietary or use or make copies of our products in violation of license agreements. Policing
unauthorized use of our products is difficult and potentially expensive. In addition, the laws of many
jurisdictions do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States.
Shrink-wrap licenses may be wholly or partiaily unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions, and
copyright and trade secret protection for software may be unavailable in certain foreign countries. QOur
means of protecting our proprietary rights may not be adequate, and our competitors may independently
develop similar technology, which they could then market and sell to our customers, which could have an
adverse impact on our revenues.

We may be subject to claims of intellectual property infringement. We expect that developers of object-
oriented technology will increasingly be subject to infringement claims as the number of products,
competitors and patents in our industry sector grows. For example, in 2004 we were served with a
complaint filed by Systems America, Inc. alleging that we received misappropriated intellectual property
from Mokume Software, Inc. when we acquired Mokume in November 2002, and that Mokume had
interfered with certain business relationships of Systems America. While this action has since been settled,
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we are currently the defendant in a suit filed by a customer, Rockwell Automation, who is seeking
indemnity from Versant against a similar claim that Systems America has asserted against Rockwell
Automation in a separate lawsuit. Any claim of this type, whether meritorious or not, could be time-
consuming, could result in significant litigation expenses, could cause product shipment delays and require
us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements or pay amounts in settlement of the claims or pursuant to
judgments. If any of our products or technologies were found to infringe third-party rights, royalty or
Jicensing agreements to use such third-party rights might not be availabte on terms acceptable to us, or at
all, and we might be enjoined from marketing an infringing product or technology, cach of which
circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial
condition.

Risks Related to our Stock

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market. 'We do not currently meet the listing
requirements necessary for our common stock to be listed on the NASDAQ Global Market System,
formerly, the Nasdaq National Market (“NMS”). Effective October 1, 2002, we transfersed the listing of
our common stock from the NMS to The NASDAQ Capital Market (formerly the Nasdaq SmallCap
Market). The continued listing of our common stock on The NASDAQ Capital Market may be perceived
as a negative by investors and may adversely affect the liquidity and trading price of our common stock, We
may be unable to re-list our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Market System, or NGMS.

We may engage in future acquisitions that dilute our shareholders and cause us to incur debt or assume
contingent liabilities. As part of our strategy, we may review opportunities to buy other businesses or
technologies that would complement our current products, expand the breadth of our markets or enhance
our technical capabilities, or that may otherwise offer us growth opportunities. In the event of any future
acquisitions, any or all of the following could potentially occur:

e pay amounts of cash to acquire assets or businesses;
s issue stock that would dilute current shareholders’ percentage ownership;
¢ incur debt; and/or
» assume liabilities.
Such acquisitions also involve numerous risks, including the following:

e problems combining the acquired operations, technologies or products or integration of new
personnel;

e the incurrence of substantial transaction costs to effect such acquisitions;

e the incurrence of unanticipated costs in completing such acquisitions or in inheriting unforeseen
liabilities and expenses of acquired businesses;

« diversion of management’s attention from our core business;

e adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers;

o risks associated with entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience; and
. poter;tia] loss of key employees of purchased organizations.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate any acquired businesses,
products or technologies that we might purchase in the future.
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Our stock price is volatile. Our revenues, operating results and stock price have been and may
continue to be subject to significant volatility, particularly on a quarterly basis. We have previously
experienced revenues and earnings results that were significantly below levels expected by security analysts
and investors, which have had an immediate and significant adverse effect on the trading price of our
common stock. This may occur again in the future. Additionally, as a significant portion of our revenues
often occurs late in the quarter, we may not be aware of any revenues shortfall until late in the quarter,
which, when announced, could result in an even more immediate and adverse effect on the trading price of
our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2.  Property.

Our principal administrative, sales and marketing operations are located at leased office facilities at
6539 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, California 94555. Our current lease for these facilities, which expires on
June 30, 2007, is for approximately a 54,000 square foot office building. However, we only occupy
approximately 21,000 square feet of this space, and in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, we recorded a
restructuring charge to reflect this reduced space usage in the future periods.

Additionally, we also lease office space for our international subsidiaries, generally under multi-year
operating lease agreements, in Hamburg, Germany, Pune, India, and the United Kingdom. We did not
renew the leased office facility in the United Kingdom, which terminated on October 24, 2006. We believe
that all of our current facilities are in reasonably good operating condition and will be adequate for our
requirements for the next several years. Based on current commercial real estate market conditions, we
believe that we will be able to lease comparable facilities in Germany or India if required, and in the U.S.
to replace or renew our Fremont, California lease that is expiring in June 2007.

Item3. Legal Proceedings.

We may from time to time be subject to various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business.
Currently, we are not subject to any material legal proceedings required to be disclosed under this Item 3.

Itemd4.  Scbmission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matters were submitted 10 a vote of our security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.
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PART 11

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities.

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “VSNT.” Our common
stock commenced trading on the Nasdaq National Market on July 18, 1996. From July 19, 1999 until
March 7, 2000, our common stock was traded on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market. From March 8, 2000 until
September 30, 2002, our common stock was traded on the Nasdaq National Market. OQur common stock
has been traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market (formerly the Nasdaq SmallCap Market) since October 1,
2002. We requested that listing of our common stock be transferred to the Nasdaq Capital Market as of
October 1, 2002 since it then seemed unlikely that, in the near term, we would continue to be able to satisfy
the then-applicable listing criteria of the Nasdaq National Market System. The following table lists the high
and low intra-day prices of our common stock reported on the Nasdaq Capital Market for the periods
indicated during the last two fiscal years. The prices shown below have been adjusted to reflect the 1-for-10
reverse split of our common stock that became effective on August 22, 2005.

Fiscal year ended October 31, 2006 High Low
FOUTth QUATIEE . .. ..ottt $12.88 $5.92
THIFA QUATLET ..ot eeeis et e r e e et iae e en $ 7.00 $6.02
SECON QUATLET. . ..ot eea et r e e e et n e $ 8.09 3$498
T T LV 4 T O R R R R R $ 641 $3.01
Fiscal year ended October 31, 2005

Fourth QUArTEr . .. ... ...ouitie e $ 440 $2.71
Third QUATTET .. .. oot e e $ 6.80 $2.70
SECON QUATEET. . vt ve e et eeneeiae e as e asr e aans $ 9.60 $4.99
First QUArter ... ....oiiiientinriraaenraen o aaaaaeeeas $13.30 $6.60

Shareholders

There were approximately 128 holders of record of our common stock as of January 5, 2007. We
believe that a significant number of beneficial owners of our common stock hold their shares in street
name. Based on information available to us, we believe that there are approximately 3,134 beneficial
owners of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have neither declared nor paid any cash dividend on our common stock in the past. We intend to
retain future earnings, if any, to fund development and growth of our business and, therefore, do not
anticipate that we will declare or pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

In connection with our merger with Poet in fiscal 2004, the holders of our then outstanding shares of
Series A Preferred Stock had their outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock converted into shares of
our common stock at an increased conversion rate of three shares (rather than two shares) of common
stock per each share of Series A Preferred Stock. In addition, the exercise price of ¢certain comman stock
purchase warrants held by such preferred shareholders was reduced from $21.30 to $16.60 per share and
the term of such warrants was extended by one year. As a result of these actions, a deemed dividend in the
amount of approximately $2.4 million was recorded during the three months ended April 30, 2004, Please
see Item 7—“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected historical financial data presented below are derived from the consolidated financial
statements of Versant Corporation. The selected consolidated financial data set forth below is qualified in
its entirely by, and should be read in conjunction with, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and the Consolidated Financial Statements of Versant
and notes thereto included elsewhere in this report.

It should also be noted that in fiscal 2004, we completed a merger with Poet on March 18, 2004, which
increased our revenues and operating expenses for part of fiscal 2004 and substantially increased the
number of outstanding shares of common stock at fiscal year-end for purposes of computing net loss per
share in fiscal 2004. We incurred restructuring charges of approximately $218,000, $638,000 and
$3.3 million for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and charges of approximately $12.9 million and
$1.0 million related to impairment of goodwill and intangible assets for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Each of the above has an impact on the comparability of the selected financial data presented in [tem 6 of
this report. '

Fiscal Year Ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Consolidated statements of operations data:
Revenues:
= 1= $ 8469 § 8828 5 9686 § 9,082 $10,106
Maintenamce, . .. ... . s 6,726 6,305 6,783 6,076 5,300
Professional Services, . ...t i e 1,550 013 1,228 2,267 1,635
Total revenuUes. . .. .. .. .. e 16,745 15,746 17,697 17,425 17,041
Cost of revenues:
TS 313 274 457 843 002
Amortization of intangible assets. ... ...... ... ..o Lo 315 671 698 91 —
MAaIMIENANICE. « o . ottt ettt ettt ettt sttt et 1,442 1,456 1,516 1,312 1,291
Professional services. . ... ... . e 1,021 870 1,059 1,945 2,128
Totalcostofrevenues .. ... .. ... it 3,091 3,271 3,730 4,191 4,321
Grossprofit . .. ... e 13,654 12.475 13,967 13,234 12,720
Operating expenses: '
Salesand marketing. . ............ it 3,062 5,803 8,004 7,703 7,854
Rescarchand development ................ ..ot 3,147 3,925 5,137 4,340 5835
General and administrative ... ...t 3,712 4,647 4514 4471 3,440
Amortizationof goodwill . .. ... .. L o o e — — — — 202
Impairmentof goodwill .. ... ... .. ... .. ... .o i — 10,300 707 — —
Impairment of intangibles ..................... ... ... ... — 2,613 317 — —
ReStructuring . . ... ..o e 218 638 3,271 — —
Total operating eXpenses. ... ... oot 10,139 27,926 21,950 16,514 17,331
Income (loss) from operations. . .. ... .o uieiinnunnnanaaaa. 3,515 (15,451) (7,983) (3,280) (4,611)
Outside shareholders’ income from VIE. . ................. 138 320 — - -
OHherinCome, NeL . . ... ...ttt 208 197 119 397 287
Gain on disposal of Variable Interest Entity . .. ............. 131 — — — —
Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes . . ........ 3,992 (14,934) (7.864) ~ (2,883) (4,324)
Provision forincome taxes . ... ... .. ... . iieae e 390 37 hi 74 68
Net income (loss) from continuing operations. . ............... 3.602 (14,971) (7,952) (2,957) (4,392)
Deemed dividend to preferred shareholders .. ........ ... ..., — — {2,422) —_ —_—
Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to
commonshareholders . ... . ... ... .. o o i i 3,602 (14,971  (10,374) (2,957 (4,392)
Net income (loss) from discontinucd opcrations, net of income taxes 231 417 (1,314) 568 1,002
Gain (loss) from sale of discontinued operations, net of income
BAKES . v e vttt ettt e et e e e e e e 468 — (309) — —

Netincome (loss) . ....... ..o $ 4301  $(14,554) §(11,997) $(2,389) §(3.390)




Fiscal Year Ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Basic income (loss) per share:

Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to

" commonshareholders . ....... ..o i $ 101 § (423) $ (333) § (217) % (338)

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax. . . $ 019 § Q12 § (052 § 042 0§ 082

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders . ........ $ 120 $ (411) § (385 § (1.75) § (2.79)
Diluted income (loss) per share: . .

Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to

commonshareholders .. ....... ... oo i i $ 101 § (423) § (333) § (217 $ (358)

Earnings {loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax. . . $ 019 $ 012 § (057) § 042 § 0.82

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders ......... S 120 $ (411) $ (385 § (L7%) § (276)
Shares used in per share calculation:

5 T S T R R R 3,577 3,539 3,117 1,368 1,227

Biluted. ..ot et iae s 3,584 3,539 317 1,368 1,227
Non-cash stock-based compensation included in the above expenses:

COSt Of TEVEMUES. . 4 . . v v hee it seesens $ 39 3 7% _3% - 3 -

Sales and MATKELNG . .o oo v v vttt 41 12 25 5 —

Research and development . ......... e 79 44 25 — -—

General and administrative .. ... .. ..o o o 77 13 36 1,204 —

Total ottt e e $ 236 % 9% 3 86 $ 1209 § —
As of October 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Consolidated balance sheet data: ‘
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. ~ $ 8,231 $ 3958 § 3313 § 2991 § 4427

Restrictedcash . .. ..ot — —_ 320 320 —
Working capital ........coiiiiiiia 6,199 870 1,311 602 2,326
Total ASSELS .. vt r st e it 20,261 16,246 32,545 11,069 11,921
Total long-term liabilities . .. ............. ..ot 770 897 1,400 392 901
Total liabilities and stockholder’ equity........... 20,261 16,246 32,545 11,069 11,921

ftem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

As indicated in the paragraph above in Item 1 of this report, this Form 10-K (including this ftem 7)
contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act and the
Securities Act. In many cases you may identify these forward-looking statements by words such as “will,”
“should,” “may,” “might,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “expecs, ” “intends,” “estimates” and similar expressions.
These forward-looking statements include, among other things, projections of our future financial performance
and trends anticipated for our business. We caution investors that forward-looking statements are only
predictions or estimates based upon our current expectations about future events. The forward-looking
statements are not guarantees or assurances of future performance and are subject to significant risks and |
uncertainties that are inherently difficult to assess and predict. Our actual results and performance may differ
materially from the results and performance anticipated by any forward-looking statements due {0 these risks
and uncertainties, some of which are discussed below in this Item 1A under the heading “Risk Factors.”
Readers are urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made by us in this report and in our
other reponts filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission that attempt to advise interested parties of the

risks and factors that may affect our business.

Background and Overview

We design, develop, market and support high performance object database management systems and
provide related maintenance and professional services. Our products and services address the complex
data management needs of enterprises and providers of products requiring data management functions.
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Our products and services collectively comprise our single operating segment, which we call “Data
Management”.

Our products are typically used by customers to manage data for business systems and enable these
systems to access and integrate data necessary for the customers’ data management applications. Our data
management products and services offer customers the ability to manage real-time, XML and other types
of hierarchical and navigational data. We believe that by using our data management solutions, customers
cut their hardware costs, accelerate and simplify their development, significantly reduce administration
costs and deliver products with a significant competitive edge.

Our Data Management business is currently comprised of the following key products:

» Versant Object Database, previously VDS, a seventh generation object database management system
that is used in high-performance large-scale real-time applications. Our former product, Versant
enJin, has been replaced by Versant Object Database using Java Data Object {JDO) and the Java
Persistence API language interface. We also offer several optional ancillary products for use with
Versant Object Database to provide compatibility and additional protection of stored data.

o FastObjects, an object-oriented database management system that can be embedded as a high
performance component into customers’ applications and systems.

Qur Versant Object Database product offerings are used primarily by larger organizations, such as
technology providers, telecommunications carriers, government defense agencies and defense contractors,
healthcare companies and companies in the financial services and transportation industries, each of which
have significant large-scale data management requirements. Versant JDO, a product that we introduced in
fiscal 2004, as part of the technology we acquired in June 2004 from JDO Genie, has now been absorbed
and integrated into the Versant product family and is no longer sold as standalone product. With the
incorporation of Poet’s FastObjects solution into our product line following our March 2004 merger with
Poet, we have expanded the scope of our solutions to also address data management needs of smaller
business systems.

Our customers’ data management needs can involve many business functions, ranging from
management of the use and sharing of a company’s internal enterprise data to the processing of externally
originated information such as customer enrollment, billing and payment transaction data. Qur solutions
have also been used to solve complex data management issues such as fraud detection, risk analysis and
yield management.

In addition to our product offerings, to assist users in developing and deploying applications based on
Versant Object Database and FastObjects, we offer a variety of services, including consulting, training and
technical support services. '

We license our products and sell associated maintenance, training and consulting services to end-users
through our direct sales force and through value-added resellers, systems integrators and distributors.

In addition to these products and services, we resell related software developed by third parties. To
date, substantially all of our revenues have been derived from the following data management products
and related services:

¢ Sales of licenses for Versant Object Database and FastObjects;

¢ Maintenance and technical support services for our products;

¢ Consulting services (Versant and Poet consulting practice} and training services;

= Nonrecurring engineering fees received in connection with providing services associated with
Versant Object Database;




e The resale of licenses, and maintenance, training and consulting services for third-party products
that complement Versant Object Database;

« Reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses, which we incurred and are recorded as
revenues in our statement of operations.

Financial Highlights for Fiscal 2006

« Our net revenues in fiscal 2006 were $16.7 million, an increase of $999,000 (or 6%} from net
revenues of $15.7 million in fiscal 2005. This increase was primarily due to closing several significant
| transactions with existing customers of both our European and North American operations during
I fiscal 2006. We depend heavily on our installed customer base for future revenues from licenses of
additional products or upgrades of existing products and related maintenance renewal fees.

e Net income for fiscal 2006 was $4.3 million compared to a net loss of $14.6 million in fiscal 2005. In
fiscal 2005, we incurred impairment charges of $12.9 million related to goodwill and intangible
assets and restructuring charges of $638,000. In fiscal 2006, we incurred no impairment charges and
incurred restructuring charges of $218,000.

o Our combined sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative
expenses were $9.9 million in fiscal 2006, a decrease of $4.5 miltion (or 31%) from $14.4 million in
fiscal 2005, primarily due to cost reductions associated with our restructuring activities initiated in
the third quarter of fiscal 2005 and completed in the second quarter of fiscal 2006. These substantial
cost reductions were a significant factor in our achieving profitability in fiscal 2006.

» Cash provided by operations in fiscal 2006 was $3.3 million compared to $68,000 of cash provided
by operations in fiscal 2005, primarily due to higher net income as a result of cost reductions related
to the Company’s restructuring efforts. During fiscal 2006, our cash and cash equivalents balance
increased by $4.2 million to $8.2 million at October 31, 2006 compared to $4.0 million at
Qctober 31, 2005. . . : .

Fiscal 2006 and Beyond
Duiring fiscal 2006, our primary focus was on the following areas:

« Continued execution of a restructuring plan begun in fiscal 2005 to substantially reduce our ongoing
operating expenses by consolidating our product lines and streamlining engineering, marketing,
sales and administrative resources. The purpose of the restructuring was to increase our ability to
achieve net income and to refocus our business back to our core object database product offerings.

_ e In February 2006, we sold our WebSphere consulting business in exchange for a one-time cash
~ payment plus certain contingent earn-out payments during a 24 month period following the close of
the transaction. See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this report
for more information.

We also focused our sales and marketing efforts on our data management products, Versant Object
Database and FastObjects, and related maintenance, consulting and training services. Versant Obiject
Database, and its predecessor VDS, were the key focus of our marketing efforts and the major source of
our license revenues in fiscal 2006.

"We expect to derive most of our revenues in fiscal 2007 from Versant Object Database and
FastObjects licenses and related services.
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Like many other software companies, we do not operate with a significant backlog of orders. Our
license revenues, in particular, are difficult to forecast. We believe that information technology spending,
particularly in the U.S., has been relatively depressed over the recent years and customers manifest very
conservative purchasing behavior. We expect higher license and maintenance revenues and lower
consulting revenues for fiscal 2007, which we expect to result in comparable total revenues to fiscal 2006.
The projected decrease in consulting revenues is primarily due to a significant European consulting
arrangement in fiscal 2006 not expected to repeat in fiscal 2007. We anticipate higher license and
maintenance revenues in fiscal 2007, as we have a higher level of dedicated resources and sales personnel
allocated to the telecommunications sector in fiscal 2007. As net income for fiscal year 2006 contained a
one-time gain of approximately $0.5 million from the sale of Versant’s WebSphere consulting business, we
believe that income from continuing operations before taxes provides a more meaningful basis for
comparing the Company’s performance in future periods. We currently anticipate income from continuing
operations before taxes of between $4.4 million and $4.6 million for fiscal year 2007, representing growth
of 10% to 15% when compared to income from continuing operations before taxes of $4.0 million in fiscal
year 2006.

We expect our sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative
expenses in fiscal 2007 to be substantially consistent compared to fiscal 2006.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amount of our assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and of our revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We base these estimates and
judgments on information reasonably available to us, such as our historical experience and trends and
industry, economic and seasonal fluctuations, and on our own internal projections that we derive from that
information. Although we believe our estimates to be reasonable under the circumstances, there can be no
assurances that such estimates will be accurate given that the application of these accounting policies
necessarily involves the exercise of subjective judgment and the making of assumptions regarding future
uncertainties. We consider “critical” those accounting policies that require our most difficult, subjective or
complex judgments, and that are the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results
of operations. These critical accounting policies relate to revenue recognition, goodwill and acquired
intangible assets, allowance for doubtful accounts, stock-based compensation, restructuring charges, and
income taxes.

Reveniue Recognition

We recognize revenues in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition with
Respect to Certain Transactions, and SOP 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain
Production-Type Contracts. Revenues consist mainly of revenues earned under software license
agreements, maintenance support agreements (otherwise known as post-contract customer support or
“PCS"), and agreements for consulting and training activities.

We use the residual method to recognize revenues when a license agreement includes one or more
elements to be delivered at a future date. If there is an undelivered element under the license
arrangement, we defer revenues based on vendor-specific objective evidence, or “VSOE?”, of the fair value
of the undelivered element, as determined by the price charged when the element is sold separately. If
VSOE of fair value does not exist for all undelivered elements of a transaction, we defer all revenues from
that transaction until sufficient evidence exists or all elements have been delivered. Under the residual
method, discounts are allocated only to the delivered elements in a multiple element arrangement, with
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any undelivered elements being deferred based on the vendor-specific objective evidence of the value of
such undelivered elements. We typically do not offer discounts on future undeveloped products.

Revenues from software license arrangements, including prepaid license fees, are recognized when all
of the following criteria are met:

* Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists.
- » Delivery has occurred and there are no future deliverables except Post Contract Support (PCS).

e The fee is fixed and determinable. If we cannot conclude that a fee is fixed and determinable, then
assuming all other criteria have been met, we recognize the revenues, as payments become due in
accordance with paragraph 29 of SOP 97-2.

e Collection is probable. Probability of collection is assessed using the following customer
information: credit service reports, bank and trade references, public filings, and/or current
financial statements. Prior payment experience is reviewed on all existing customers. Payment terms
in excess of our standard payment terms of 30-90 days net are granted only on an exception basis,
typically in situations where customers elect to purchase development and deployment licenses
simultaneously for an entire project and are attempting to align their payments with their
deployment schedules. Extended payment terms are only granted to customers with a proven ability
to pay at the time the order is received, and with prior approval of our senior management. In
accordance with paragraph 27 of SOP 97-2, we have an established history of collection, without
concessions, on longer-term receivables with such customers. We typically do not grant extended
payment terms beyond 90 days.

1f an acceptance period or other contingency exists, revenues are not recognized until customer )
acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period, or satisfaction of the contingency, as applicable. Our
license fees are non-cancelable and non-refundable, and we do not make concessions or grant refunds for
any unused amount. Also, our customer agreements for prepaid deployment licenses do not make payment
of our license fees contingent upon the actual deployment of the software. Therefore, a customer’s delay or
acceleration in its deployment schedule does not impact our revenue recognition. Revenues from related
PCS for all product lines are usually billed in advance of the service being provided and are deferred and
recognized on a straight-line basis over the term in which the PCS is to be performed, which is generally
twelve months. In some cases PCS revenues are paid in arrears of the service being provided and are
recognized as revenues at the time the customer provides a report to us for deployments made during a
given time period. Training and consulting revenues are recognized when a purchase order is received, the
services have been performed and collection is deemed probable. Consulting services are billed on an
hourly, daily or monthly rate. Training classes are billed based on group or individual attendance.

We categorize our customers into two broad groups, End-Users and Value Added Resellers (VARS).
End User customers are companies who use our products internally and do not redistribute the product
outside of their corporate organizations. VAR customers include traditional Value Added Resellers,
Systems Integrators, OEMs and other vendors who redistribute our products 1o their external third party
customers, either individually or as part of an integrated product.

We license our data management products through two types of perpetual licenses—development and
test licenses and deployment licenses. Development and test licenses are typically sold on a per seat basis
and authorize a customer to develop and test an application program that uses our software product. Prior
to an End-User customer being able to deploy an application that it has developed under our development
license, it must purchase deployment licenses based on the number of computers connected to the server
that will run the application using our database management system. For certain applications, we offer
deployment licenses priced on a per user basis. Pricing of Versant Object Database and FastObjects
licenses varies according to several factors, including the number of computer servers on which the
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application runs and the number of users that are able to access the server at any one time. Customers may
elect to simultaneously purchase development and deployment licenses for an entire project. These
development and deployment licenses may also provide for prepayment of a nonrefundable amount for
future deployment.

VARs and distributors purchase development licenses from us on a per seat basis on terms similar to
those of development licenses sold directly to End-Users, VARs are authorized to sublicense deployment
copies of our data management products that are either bundled or embedded in the VAR's applications
and sold directly to End-Users. VARSs are required to report their distribution of our software and are
charged a royalty that is based either on the number of copies of our application software that are
distributed or computed as a percentage of the selling price charged by the VARs to their end-user
customers. These royalties from VARs may be prepaid in full or paid upon deployment. Provided that all
other conditions for revenue recognition have been met, revenues from arrangements with VARs are
recognized, (i) as to prepaid license arrangements, when the prepaid licenses are sold to the VARs, and
(it) as to other license arrangements, at the time the VAR provides a royalty report to us for sales made by
the VAR during a given period.

Revenues from the resale of third-party products or services are recorded at total contract value with
the corresponding cost included in the cost of sales when we act as a principal in these transactions by
assuming the risks and rewards of ownership (including the risk of loss for collection, delivery or returns),
When we do not assume the risks and rewards of ownership, revenues from the resale of third-party
products or services are recorded at contract value net of the cost of sales.

In some instances that a customer requests engineering work for porting our products to an
unsupported platform or customization of our software for specific functionality, or any other non-routine
technical assignment, we recognize revenues in accordance with SOP 81-1 Accounting Research Bulletin
("ARB"”) No. 45 (As Amended), Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts and use either time and material
percentage of completion or completed contract methods for recognizing revenues. We use the percentage
of completion method if we can make reasonable and dependable estimates of Jabor costs and hours
required to complete the work in question. We periodically review these estimates in connection with work
performed and rates actually charged and recognize any losses when identifted. Progress to completion is
determined using the cost-to-cost method, whereby cost incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated
cost determines the percentage completed and revenue recognized. When using the percentage of
completion method, the following conditions must exist:

» An agreement must include provisions that clearly specify the rights regarding goods or services to
be provided and received by both parties, the consideration to be exchanged and the manner and
terms of settlement.

o The customer is able to satisfy their obligations under the contract.
¢ Versant is able to satisfy its obligations under the contract.

The completed contract method is used when reasonable or dependable estimates cannot be made. As
a result, in such situations, we defer all revenues until such time that the work is fully completed.

Management makes significant judgments and estimates in connection with the determination of the
revenue recognized in each accounting period. If we had made different judgments or utilized different
estimates for any period, material differences in the amount and timing of revenue recognized would have
resulted.
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Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assels

We account for purchases of acquired companies in accordance with SFAS No. 141, Business
Combinations and account for the related acquired intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. In accordance with SFAS 141, we allocate the cost of the acquired
companies to the identifiable tangible and intangible asscts acquired according to their respective fair
values as of the date of completion of the acquisition, with the remaining amount being classified as
goodwill, Certain intangible assets, such as acquired technology, are amortized to expense over time, while
in-process research and development costs, or “JPR&D”, if any, are charged to operations expenditures at
the time of acquisition.

We test for any goodwill impairment within our single Data Management operating segment. All our
goodwill has been aggregated from, and acquired in connection with, the following acquisitions:

¢ Versant Europe, acquired in 1997,

s Poet Hoidings, Inc., acquired in March 2004;

e Technology of JDO Genie (PTY) Ltd, acquired in June 2004; and
s FastObjects, Inc., acquired in July 2004

We test goodwill for impairment in accordance with SFAS 142, which requires that goodwill be tested
for impairment at the reporting unit level, at least annually and more frequently upon the occurrence of
certain events, as provided in SFAS 142. We use the market approach to assess the fair value of our assets
and this value is compared with the carrying value of those assets to test for impairment. The total fair
value of our assets is estimated by summing the fair value of our equity less our liabilities. Under this
approach, if the estimated fair value of our assets is greater than the carrying value of these assets, then
there is no goodwill impairment. If the estimated fair value of our assets is less than the carrying value of
these assets, then we allocate the reporting unit’s estimated fair value to its assets and liabilities as though
the reporting unit had just been acquired in a business combination. The impairment loss is the amount, if
any, by which the implied fair value of goodwill allocable to the reporting unit is less than that reporting
unit’s goodwill carrying amount and would be recorded in operating results during the period of such
impairment.

As required by SFAS 142, we ceased amortizing goodwill effective November 1, 2002. Prior to
November 1, 2002, we amortized goodwill over five years using the straight-line method.

Identifiable intangibles are currently amortized over five years in relation to the JDO Genie (PTY)
Ltd acquisition, six years in relation to the FastObjects, Inc. acquisition, and seven years in relation to our
acquisition of Poet, using the straight-line method in each of these cases.

In September 2006, we performed an evaluation of our goodwill and intangible assets based on the
requirements of SFAS 142 and SFAS 144. Asa result of this impairment test and valuation analysis, we
determined that the value of our goodwill and intangible assets had been fairly recorded in our financial
statements, and therefore, no impairment charges against our goodwill and intangible assets related to our
Poet and FastObjects acquisitions were recorded in fiscal 20006.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding accounts receivable and provide an
allowance-for a portion of our accounts receivable if collection becomes doubtful. We also make judgments
about the creditworthiness of our customers, based on ongoing credit evaluations and the aging profile of
customers’ accounts receivable, as well as the current economic trends that might impact the level of credit
losses in the future. Historically, our allowance for doubtful accounts has been sufficient to cover our
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actual credit losses. However, since we cannot predict changes in the financial stability of our customers, ,
we cannot guarantee that our allowance will continue to be sufficient. If actual credit losses exceed the
allowance that we have established, it would increase our operating expenses and reduce our reported net
income. We evaluate and revise our bad debt allowance as part of our quarter end process at each
subsidiary and corporate level. Our management assigns a risk factor and percentage of risk to each
account receivable, the collection of which is considered non-routine. Our allowance for doubtful accounts
amounted to $62,000, or 2% of gross accounts receivable, at October 31, 2006, and $114,000, or 4% of
gross accounts receivable, at October 31, 2005. The reduction in the allowance for doubtful accounts at
October 31, 2006 as compared to October 31, 2005, resulted from a continued favorable collection history
that we experienced during the past fiscal year.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

In December 2004, FASB revised SFAS No. 123 and issued SFAS No.123(R), Share-Based Payment,
which requires companies to expense the estimated fair value of employee stock options and similar
awards. In March 2005, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Butletin No. 107, or “SAB 107”. SAB 107
creates a framework that is premised on two overarching themes: (a) considerable judgment will be
required to successfully implement SFAS 123(R), specifically when valuing employee stock options; and
(b) reasonable individuals, acting in good faith, may conclude differently on the fair value of employee
stock options. We have applied the principles of SAB 107 in conjunction with our adoption of SFAS
123(R) in fiscal 2006. ,

We have exercised significant judgment and estimates to determine the vanables used in calculation
of stock-based compensation.

We chose the closed-form model of Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model to arrive at stock option
expense valuation. The Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model assumes that option exercises occur at the end
of an option’s expected life, and that expected volatility, expected dividends, and risk-free interest rates are
constant over the option’s term, '

The expected life of an employee stock option is the period of time that it is expected to be
outstanding. We use a historical model to arrive at the expected life of our options, but we also take into
consideration other factors that could possibly impact the future expected life of the options. We
determined that the estimated expected life of the options granted under our 2005 Equity Incentive Plan
as of October 31, 2006 was 2.2 years. We believe that none of the variables, such as the vesting period,
expected volatility, blackout periods and employee demographics have materially changed. Therefore, we
have concluded that the historical expected life represents fairly the expected future life of the options at
this time.

The expected life for the options granted to the board members under our 2005 Directors Stock
Option Plan, or “Directors Plan”, who are not full time employees of Versant, was 5.75 years as of
October 31, 2006. Versant used the simplified method allowed by SAB 107 to arrive at this calculation,
Under the simplified method, the expected term is equal to vesting term plus orlgmal contractual term
divided by two.

We have further estimated that the expected life of rights to purchase shares under our 2005
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or “ESPP”, is six months, which is the duration of each purchase period in
our plan,

Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable, such as share price, has fluctuated
(historical volatility) or is expected to fluctuate (expected volatility) during the expected life of the options.
The Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model does not incorporate a range of expected volatilities over the
option’s expected life. We use the historical volatility over the expected term of the options to estimate the
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expected volatility. We calculate the standard deviation of price changes for the periods of four years, three
years, two years, one and half years, one year and half a year. Then, we calculate historical volatility for the
past four, three, two, one and half, one, and half-year periods. We, however, take into account other
current information available to determine that the expected volatility, derived based on historical
volatility, represents fairly the future volatility of our common stock. At this time, we do not believe that
there is any indication that future volatility will differ from historical volatility. We have estimated that our
volatility is 88% as of October 31, 2006.

We use the U.S. Treasury Strip rates listed on the last Thursday of every month on the Wall Street
Journal to compute risk-free interest rate.

We have not distributed any dividends to our common shareholders and do not expect to do so in the
near future.

We estimate forfeiture rates at the time of grant and revise it in subsequent periods if actual forfeiture
rates differ from those estimates. We apply the forfeiture rate to the unvested portion of the option
valuation and perform a true up for the amount of the valuation to be recorded if the actual forfeiture rate
is different from the one applied in prior periods. The current forfeiture rate for the unvested portion of the
option valuation recognized for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 is at 209 for grants under the Equity
Tncentive Pian and 15% for grants under the Director Plan. Since our current stock price has been trading
in a stable range, we assumed that all the participants in our ESPP would hold ento their contributions to
acquire their shares at the end of the period. Therefore, we have not provided any forfeiture provision for
our ESPP for the six month purchase period commencing June 1, 2006.

For further details, please see NOTE 3 of our “NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS?” in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Restructuring

We have streamlined and restructured our operations from time to time in the past. Our restructuring
expenses and accruals require significant estimates by management using the best information available at
the time. These estimates include: facility exit costs, such as demise and lease termination costs; timing of
future sublease occupancy; sublease income based on expected future market conditions; and other fees
associated with our restructuring expenses, such as brokerage fees.

We evaluate a number of factors to determine the appropriateness and reasonableness of our
restructuring accruals on a regular basis. Such factors include, but are not limited to, available market data,
information from third party real estate brokers, and ongoing negotiations in order to estimate the
likelihood, timing, lease terms and rates to be realized from potential subleases of restructured facilities
held under operating leases. In addition, our restructuring estimates for facilities could be materially and
adversely impacted by the financial condition of sub-lessees and changes in their ability to meet their
financial obligations throughout the term of any sublease agreement. The impact of these estimated costs
and sublease proceeds are significant factors in determining the appropriateness of our restructuring
accrual balance presented in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at October 31, 2006. Our actual expenses
may differ significantly from our estimates and as such, may require adjustments to our restructuring
accruals, which will impact our operating results in future periods.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, we committed to and began implementing a restructuring
program to realign our resources, substantially reduce our ongoing operating expenses and refocus our
business on our Versant Object Database product. As a result, we recorded total restructuring charges of
$638,000 ($280,000 of which was related to severance costs) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2005.

Versant also recorded total restructuring charges of approximately $134,000 and $84,000 for the three
months ended January 31, 2006 and April 30, 2006, respectively. With the completion of the sale of the
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assets associated with our WebSphere consulting practice, in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 we had
effectively completed the restructuring plan we initiated in June 2005.

The total quarterly cost savings attributable to this restructuring plan, excluding the effect of the
VOA.NET spin-off, was approximately $400,000 for the quarter ended October 31, 2005, and was
increased to approximately $550,000 for the quarter ended July 31, 2006 and beyond. These cost savings
are related to completed headcount reduction as well as reduced discretionary spending.

Income Taxes

We estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate and account for income
iaxes payable as part of the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. This process involves
estimating our actual current tax expense as well as assessing temporary differences resulting from
differing treatment of items, such as depreciation and amortization, for financial and tax reporting
purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our
consolidated balance sheet to the extent deemed realizable. We then assess the likelihood that our
deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and the extent we believe that recovery is
not likely. We establish a valuation allowance against aur net deferred tax assets to the extent such assets
are not deemed to be realizable. If we establish a valuation allowance or increase it in a given period, then
we must increase the tax provision in our statement of operations. '

Significant management judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance recorded
against our net deferred tax assets. Due to uncertainties related to our ability to utilize our deferred tax
assets, we have established full valuation allowances at October 31, 2005 and October 31, 2006 for our
deferred tax assets.
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Results of Operations

The acquisitions of Poet, the JDO Genie assets and FastObjects, Inc. became effective on March 18,
2004, June 30, 2004 and July 6, 2004, respectively. Therefore, our consolidated statements of operations for
fiscal 2004 incorporated the results from the effective dates of these respective acquisitions.

The following table sets forth the historical results of operations for Versant for our three fiscal years
ended October 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, expressed as a percentage of total revenues.

Percentage of Revenues
Fiscal year ended October 31,

2006 2003 _I00a_
Revenues:
| e Vo= D R EELARRED 51% 56% 55%
Y C T T (T 11T - LR 40 40 38
Professional SEIVICES . . oo vvr e ottt racaiane s aiarreanans 9 _ 4 7
Total TEVEMUES . . ot ve ittt e i ara s 100% 100% 100%
Cost of revenues:
| B 1 1 <P R R R 2 2 3
Amortization of intangible assets .. ....... ... 2 4 4
VAN EEIIANICE - v vt et e et te e s e et a st 8 9 8
Professional SEIVICES .. ... evneevnrnrarnearcanac it anaae s 6 6 _6
Total COSt Of TEVENUES . . . ...ttt _18% _21% _21%
Gross Profit. . .o .vuvn oo 82% 79% 79%
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing. .. ......ooiioei i 18 37 45
Research and development . .........oiiviei i iiianns 18 25 29
General and administrative . .. ... ..o e 22 29 26
Amortizationof goodwill . ... ... 0 0 0
Impairment of goodwill. .. ... oo 0 65 4
Impairment of intangibles ........... .ol 0 17 2
Tt ] - AP R R L RCETTRRPE 1 _ 4 18
Total Operating XPenSEs .. .. .ovuninernurrr it en e s _59% 177% 124%
Incomie (l0sS) frOm OPETations. . . ...vvvvneeeiiatiiar i 23% -98% -45%
Outside shareholders’ income from VIE. ...............ocient 1 2 0
Other INCOME, NEL . v vu 't vttt it s raaie st e e 1 1 1
Gain on disposal of Variable Interest Entity. .............oovnnnon 1 0 _0
Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes ............... 26 95 -44
Provision fOr iNCOME tAXES . ... o vviuitsviie i saaaraaes 2 1 1
Net income (loss) from continuing operations.............c.oovinnn 24% -96% -45%
Deemed dividend to preferred shareholders. . .............coienen Y _0 -14
Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to
common shareholders. ... ... i 24% -96% -59%
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes. .. 1 3 -7
Gain (loss) from sale of discontinued operations, net of income taxes .. 3 _0 -2
Net income (J0SS) . .« oo vvvnrrrteraa e 28% 93% -68%
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Revenues

Total Revenues: The following table summarizes total revenues (in thousands, except percentages)
for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004: : :

* Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004
Fiscal Year ended Qctober 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 In Dollars  Percentage In Dollars Percentage
Total revenues . ...... $16,745 $15,746 $17,697 $999 6% $(1,951) -11%

Total revenues are comprised of license fees, maintenance, training, consulting, technical and other
support services. Fluctuations in our total revenues can be attributed to changes in product and customer
mix, general trends in information technology spending, changes in geographic mix, and the corresponding
impact of changes in foreign exchange rates. Further, product life cycles impact revenues periodically as
old contracts expire and new products are released.

Our total revenues increased $999,000 (or 6% in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005, and our total
revenues decreased $1,951,000 (or 11%) in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004.

The inherently unpredictabie business cycle of an enterprise software company, together with the
cautious consumer behavior in the macro-economic environment, make discernment of continued and
meaningful business trends more difficult. In terms of license revenues, we are still experiencing extremely
cautious behaviors in IT purchasing in North America: lengthy sales cycles and customers’ preference for
licensing our software on an “as needed” basis, versus the historical practice of prepaying license fees in
advance of usage, are factors adversely affecting our license revenues. This trend is more apparent in the
telecommunications and technology industries. We, however, expect higher license and maintenance
revenues and lower consulting revenues for fiscal 2007, resulting in comparable total revenues to fiscal
2006. The projected decrease in consulting revenues is primarily due to a significant European consulting
arrangement in fiscal 2006 not expected to repeat in fiscal 2007. We anticipate higher license and
maintenance revenues in fiscal 2007, as we have a higher level of dedicated resources and sales personnel
allacated to the telecommunications sector in fiscal 2007,

Revenues by Category: 'The following table summarizes our revenues by category {in thousands,
except percentages) in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiseal 2005 vs 2004
Fiscal Year ended October 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase {Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 In Dollars  Percentage _InDollars  Percentage
Total revenues by
category:
License revenues ... ... $ 8469 $ 8,828 § 9,686 $(359) 4% § (858) 9%
Maintenance revenues. . 6,726 6,305 6,783 421 7% (478) -7%
Professional services
revenues............ 1,550 613 1,228 937 153% (615) -509%
Total............... $16,745 $15,746 $17,697 $ 999 6% $(1,951) -11%
Percentage of revenues
by category:
License revenues ...... 51% 56% 55%
Maintenance revenues. . 40% 40% 38%
Professional services
TEVENUEsS. .. ....o.... 9% 4% 7%

Total............... 100% 100% 100%




Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005

License revenues:  License revenues represent perpetual license fees received and recognized from
our End-Users and Value Added Resellers.

License revenues were $8.5 million {or 51% of total revenues) in fiscal 2006, a decline of $359,000 (or
4%) from $8.8 million (or 56% of total revenues) reported in fiscal 2005. In the European region, there
was a $700,000 decrease in license revenues in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005, primarily due to a
significant follow-on order from a European telecommunications company during the three months ended
January 31, 2005 not repeated in fiscal 2006. This decline was partially offset by a $315,000 increase in
license revenues from our North American region, largely as a result of 2 significant license transaction
closed in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.

Maintenance revenues: Maintenance and technical support revenues include revenues derived from
maintenance agreements, under which we provide customers with internet and telephone access to support
personnel and software upgrades, dedicated technical assistance and emergency response support options.

Maintenance revenues were $6.7 million (or 40% of total revenues) in fiscal 2006, an increase of
$421,000 (or 7%) from $6.3 million (or 40% of total revenues) reported in fiscal 2005. European
maintenance revenues increased $310,000 in fiscal 2006, primarily as a result of three larger maintenance
contracts, an increase in extended support agreements (i.e., for customers using older Versant software not
supported through standard support agreements) that have a higher selling price, and to a lesser extent,
back maintenance revenues. Additionally, there was an increase of $111,000 in maintenance revenues from
our North American operations, primarily as a result of an increase in extended support agreements.

Professional services revenues: Professional services revenues consist of revenues from consulting,
training and technical support as well as billable travel expenses incurred by our professional services
organization.

Professional services revenues were $1.6 million (or 9% of total revenues) in fiscal 2006, an increase of
$937,000 (or 153%) from $613,000 (or 4% of total revenues) reported in fiscal 2005. This increase was
mainly due to two significant percentage-of-completion consulting arrangements with two European
customers during fiscal 2006.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

License revenues: License revenues declined $858,000 (or 9%) in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004,
This decline was largely attributable to a $2.7 million decline in license revenues in our North American
region as a result of adverse market conditions and softness of demand for our Versant Object Database
line of business. Further, due to our restructuring, we had organizational changes in our sales department
and new management team that was not fully established until the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, which
resulted in delays in closure and, in some cases, failure to close certain license contracts. The decline was
partially offset by a $1.8 million increase in license revenues from our European region as a result of a
significant follow through order from a European telecommunications company during the first quarter of
fiscal 2005, overall strong demand for our products in Europe, and the presence of an established sales
force in our European region.

Maintenance revenues: Qur maintenance revenues decreased approximately $478,000 (or 7%) in
fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The decrease was primarily due to a decline of $1.1 million in
maintenance revenues in our North American region as a result of termination of a few major
maintenance agreements for approximately $650,000 towards the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004,
and the impact of the elimination of product lines of approximately $450,000. The decrease was partially
offset by an increase of $600,000 in maintenance revenues from our European region due to increased
license revenues, the addition of Poet’s maintenance and support contracts, and the impact of a favorable
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foreign currency exchange gain of $106,000. Growth in maintenance revenues is highly dependent on our
ability to generate additional license revenues as well as retaining our customer base.

Professional services revenues: Our professional services revenues decreased approximately $615,000
(or 50%) in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The decline was primarily due to an overall decline of the
backlog of our new professional services contracts in our North American region due to economic
conditions.

Revenues by Geographic areas: 'The following table summarizes total revenues by geographic area (in
thousands, except percentages) in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004;

Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004
Fiscal Year ended October 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 In Dollars  Percentage In Dollars Percentage
Total revenues by
geographic area:
North America........ $ 6175 % 5306 $ 9278 $869 16% $(3,972) -43%
Europe............... 10,138 10,087 7,690 51 1% 2,397 31%
Asta........... ... ... 432 353 729 79 22% (376) -52%
Total............... $16,745 $15,746 $17,697 $999 6% $(1,951) -11%

Percentage of revenues
by geographic area:

North America ........ 3% 34% 53%
Europe............... 60% 64% 43%
Asia................ ., 3% 2% 4%

Total............... 100% 100% 100%

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005

Total revenues increased $999,000 (or 6%) in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005. The increase in
revenues is primarily due to an increase of $869,000 in our North America region revenues as a result of
closing a significant license transaction during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 in the U.S. Additionally,
there was an increase of $130,000 in revenues from our European and Asian regions.

International revenues represented approximately 63% and 66% of our total revenues in fiscal 2006
and fiscal 20035, respectively, compared to 47% in fiscal 2004.

The high percentage of international revenues for both fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 is mainly due to the
following:

¢ Stronger demand for our products in Europe.

» Change of management and reduction in sales personnel in our U.S. operations.
* Discontinuation of U.S. WebSphere consulting practice.

» Integration of the Poet products in Europe due to our 2004 Poet merger.

Revenues from North America: The $869,000 (or 16%) increase in North American revenues in fiscal
2006 compared to fiscal 2005 was mainly due to the closing of a significant transaction with a US customer
totaling $1.2 million in license revenues during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.

Revenues from Europe: Revenues from Europe for fiscal 2006 were at a level consistent with fiscal
2005 European revenues, with a $51,000 (or 1%) increase in European revenues in fiscal 2006 compared to
fiscal 2005.
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Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

Total revenues decreased $2.0 million (or 11%) in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004. The decrease in
revenues was primarily due to a decline of $4.0 million (or 43%) in our North American region revenues
offset by an increase of $2.4 million (or 31%) in the revenues of our European region, The revenue decline
in North America was due to weak market conditions in this region. Further, due to our restructuring, we
had an organizational change in our sales department and the new management team was not fully
established until the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, which resulted in delays and losses in closure of some of
our revenue contracts.

In fiscal 2005, international revenues represented approximately 66% of our total revenues compared
to0 47% in fiscal 2004. The increase in internationdl revenues, as a percentage of our total revenues in fiscal
2005 over fiscal 2004, partially reflects the fact that Poet’s operations, which represents a major component
of our European revenues, was included in the entire period in fiscal 2005, but was only partially included
in fiscal 2004 from March 18, 2004. Further, we have a more established sales force in Europe and operate
in a more favorable market condition there.

Revenues from North America: The $4.0 million (or 43%) decline in North American revenues in
fiscal 2005 compared 16 fiscal 2004 occurred across all three categories of revenues in this region. We
attribute this outcome more to cautious purchasing behavior in the region rather than a discernable trend
that customers are moving away from using Versant’s technology. Lower license revenues in North
America were mainly due to softness of demand for our Versant Object Database product line and the’
lack of execution of any major contract. Lower maintenance revenues in North America were due to a
decline of new license revenues and termination of some major maintenance contracts. Lower professional
services revenues in North America were primarily due to completion of several long-term consulting .
engagements that were not renewed or replaced during the fiscal year.

Revenues from Europe: The $2.4 million (or 31%) increase in European revenues in fiscal 2005
compared to fiscal 2004 was primarily due to a significant follow-on order from a Furopean
telecommunications company for $1.8 million received during the three months ended January 31, 2005,
existence of an overall strong demand for our products in Europe, a well established sales force in our
European region, and the impact of favorable foreign currency exchange rates of $359,000.

Revenues by Industry: The following table summarizes our revenues by industry (in thousands, exlcept
percentages) in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004

: ) ' +* Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004

Fiscal Year ended October 31, _Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 In Dallars  Percentage _In Dollars  Percentage
Total revenues by '
industry:
Technology ......... $ 5679 §$ 3,130 $ 3,774 $ 2,549 81% $ (644) -17%
Telecommunications . 4,508 4,084 4,575 424 10% (491) -11%
Defense ............ 1,871 1.353 3,202 518 38% (1,849) -58%
Other .............. 4,687 7,179 6,146 (2,492) -35% 1,033 7%
Total............. $16,745 $15,746 $17,697 § 999 6% $(1,951 -11%
Percentage of revenues
by industry:
Technology ......... 34% 20% 21%
Telecommunications . 27% 26% 26%
Defense ............ 11% 9% 18%
Other .............. 28% 45% 35%
Total............. 100% 100% 100%
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Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005

The technology industry has been one of our major revenue sources. The incorporation of Versant
products into the application offerings of independent software vendors, or “ISVs”, such as PeopleSoft
(since acquired by Oracle) and Borland as well as increasing sales of the ISV's products has generated
most of the license revenues in this industry. Our products are used by the technology industry mainly for
demand consensus forecasts, collaborative planning and requirements definition. Our revenues in the
technology industry increased $2.5 million (or 81%}) in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005. This increase
was mainly due to revenues from several European technology customers. In fiscal 2006, our European
operation was able to close several deals in this sector that were delayed from fiscal 2005. We also had a
significant percentage-of-completion consulting agreement with a technology company in Europe that
contributed to this increase.

The telecommunications industry continues to be a very significant vertical market industry for us. We
market our products to the telecommunications industry in strategic distributed applications such as
network modeling and management, fault diagnosis, fraud prevention, service activation and assurance,
and customer billing, Our revenues from the telecommunications industry increased $424,000 (or 10%) in
fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005; this increase was primarily a result of a significant Jicense contract
from a European telecommunications company in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 for approximately
$590,000.

Defense industry revenues increased $518,000 (or 38%) in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 mainly
due to a major percentage-of-completion consulting agreement with a European customer during fiscal
2006.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

Our revenues in the technology industry decreased $644,000 (or 17%}) in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal
2004. This was primarily due to a decline in our North American professional services revenues.

Our revenues from the telecommunications industry declined $491,000 (or 11%) in fiscal 2005
compared to fiscal 2004, primarily due to a continued weak demand for our products in the
telecommunications industry.

Defense industry revenues declined $1.8 million (or 58%) in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004,
mainly due to a decline in demand for our products in the defense industry and the absence of any major
defense industry contracts as a result of economic conditions and changes in management of our sale
organization.
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Cost of Revenues

Cost of Revenues: 'The following table summarizes the cost of revenues (in thousands, except
percentages) in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004
Fiscal Year ended October 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease}
2006 2005 2004 In Dollars  Percentage In Dollars ~ Percentage
Total revenues .......... $16,745 $15,746 $17,697 § 999 6%  $(1,951) -11%
Cost of license revenues . . 313 274 457 39 14% (183) -40%
Cost of maintenace
LEVENUES. .\ .o vvnrennns 1,442 1,456 1,516 (14) -1% (60} -4%
Cost of professional service
revenues. . ............ 1,021 870 1,059 151 17% (189) -18%
Amortization of
intangibles............ 315 671 698 (356) -53% (27 4%
Total cost of revenues.. $ 3,091 § 3271 $ 3,730 $ (180) 6% § (459 -12%
Gross margin. .. ......... $13,654 $12475 $13,967 $1,179 9%  $(1,492) -11%
Gross margin percentage . 82% 79% 9%

Cost of revenues was $3.1 million (or 18% of total revenues) in fiscal 2006, a decline of $180,000 (or
6%) from the cost of revenues of $3.3 million (or 21% of total revenues) reported in fiscal 2005. This
decline included unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations of approximately $79,000.

Cost of revenues was $3.3 million (or 21% of total revenues) in fiscal 2005, a decrease of $459,000 (or
12%) from the cost of revenues of $3.7 million (or 21% of total revenues) reported in fiscal 2004,

Gross margin percentages (cost of revenues as a percentage of total revenues) were slightly improved
at 82% in fiscal 2006, and relatively flat at 79% in 2005 and 2004.

Cost of license revenues:  Cost of license revenues consists primarily of royalties and costs of third
party products, which we resell to our customers, as well as product media and shipping and packaging

Costs.

The following table summarizes the cost of license revenues (in thousands, except percentages) in
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004

Fiscal Year ended October 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 In Dollars  Percentage  In Dollars  Percentage
License
Revenues.........ooavenn. $8,469 $8,828 $9,686  $(359) -4% $(858) 9%
/571 SO 313 274 457 39 14% (183) -40%
Margin................. $8,156 $8,554 §$9,229  $(398) -5% $(675) 1%
Margin percentage....... 96% 97% 95%

Fiscai 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005

Cost of license revenues was $313,000 (or 4% of license revenues) in fiscal 2006, and increased
$39,000 (or 14%) from the cost of license revenues of $274,000 (or 3% of license revenues) in fiscal 2005.
The increase was primarily due to an increase in product media and packaging costs, as well as warranty
reserves offset by a decrease in costs associated with one discontinued product line in our European
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operations of approximately $79,000. Additionally, there was a decrease of $44,000 in cost of third party
products in our North American operation.

License margin decreased by 1% in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 due to the slight increase in
cost of license revenues in fiscal 2006.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

Cost of license revenues was $274,000 (or 3% of license revenues) in fiscal 2005, and decreased
$183,000 (or 40%) from the cost of license revenues of $457,000 (or 5% of license revenues) in fiscal 2004.
The decrease was primarily due to a $250,000 decline in the cost of license revenues in our North
American region related to a reduction in royalty expenses associated with the termination of a contract
with one of our third party vendors for licenses that we no longer embed in our standard product line. The
termination of this royalty contract resulted in a reduction of royalty expenditures of approximately
$100,000 per quarter. This decrease was partially offset by an increase of $69,000 in our European region
related to royalty expenses for third party products that we embed in our standard product line in Europe.

License margin improved by 2% in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004 due to the fact that our revenue
mix included fewer revenues from the sale of third party products, which have lower margins.

Cost of maintenance revenues:  Cost of maintenance revenues consists primarily of customer support
personnel and related expenses, including payroll, employee benefits and allocated overhead.

The following table summarizes the cost of maintenance revenues (in thousands, except percentages)
in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004
Fiscal Year ended October 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 InDollars  Percentage In Dollars Percentage
Maintenance
Revenues................. $6,726  $6,305 $6,783 $421 7% $(478) -7%
Costovovven i, 1,442 1,456 1,516 (14) -1% {60) 4%
Margin................. $5284 $4.849 $5267 $435 9% $(418) -8%
Margin percentage....... 79% T7% 78%

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005 '

Cost of maintenance revenues was $1.4 million (or 21% of maintenance revenues) in fiscal 2006,
representing a decline of $14,000 (or 1%) from the cost of cost of maintenance revenues of $ 1.5 million
(or 23% of maintenance revenues) reported in fiscal 2005. The overall cost of maintenance revenues
remained relatively consistent in these two years. The decline in absolute dollars of $14,000 was mainly due
to a headcount reduction of one employee (resulting in a reduction in salary and related expenses of
$34,000 in our 1.S. operations) as a result of fiscal 2005 restructuring activities, offset by an increase of
approximately $20,000 in traveling and related expenses in our European operations as a result of
increased maintenance revenues in that region.

Maintenance margins improved by 2% in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005, because of improved
utilization of our maintenance resources with increased maintenance revenues during fiscal 2006.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

Cost of maintenance revenues was $1.5 million (or 23% of maintenance revenues) in fiscal 2005, and
declined $60,000 (or 4%) from the cost of maintenance revenues of $1.5 million (or 22% of maintenance
revenues} in fiscal 2004. The decrease in absolute dollars was primarily due to a $195,000 decline in the
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cost of maintenance revenues in our North American region related to reduction in headcount of three
employees and their associated salary and benefits expenses and facilities allocation costs. This decrease in
our North American region was partially offset by a $140,000 increase in expenses in our European region,
as the result of the Poet acquisition and our decision to maintain a technical support presence in Europe to
accommodate the requirements for technical services from our European customer base subsequent to the
Poct metger.

Maintenance margins declined by 1% in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004, as the reduction in
maintenance revenues outpaced the reduction in certain fixed costs during the period.

Cost of professional services revenues: Cost of professional services consists of salaries, bonuses, third
party consulting fees and other costs associated with supporting our professional services organization.

The following table summarizes the cost of professional services revenues (in thousands, except
percentages) in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004
Fiscal Year ended October 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 In Dollars  Percentage  In Dollars  Percentage
Professional services
Revenues.................. $1,550 $ 613 $1,228  $937 153%  $(615) -50%
001 PR 1,021 870 1,059 151 ﬁ% (189) -18%
Margin.................. $ 529 §(257) § 169 $786 306% $g426) -252%

Margin percentage. . ... ... 4% -42% 14%

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005

Cost of professional services revenues was $1.0 million (or 66% of professional services revenues) in
fiscal 2006, and increased $151,000 (or 17%) over the cost of professional services revenues of $870,000 (or
1429 of professional services revenues) in fiscal 2005. This was primarily due to increases in salary and
consultant compensation as a result of transferring resources from engineering to professional services
after full utilization of professional services personnel in our European region pursuant to our percentage-
of-completion consulting engagements with certain European customers.

In Europe, there is a typical one-year warranty requirement for all our products and services. Prior to
our merger with Poet in March 2004, Poet Holdings, Inc. provided for a reserve for such warranties that
could be in excess of its regular maintenance programs. We have continued to maintain a reserve of
approximately $8,000 related to the FastObjects products in Europe as of October 31, 2006. Pursuant to
our consulting percentage-of-completion engagements with certain European customers, we have recorded
additional warranty reserves of $128,000 for fiscal 2006.

The professional services margin improved by 76% in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 due to better
utilization of our professional personnel. The negative margin in professional services for fiscal 2005 was
due to under-utilization of one full-time employee dedicated to professional services as a result of delays
related to a major consulting project during fiscal 2005.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

Cost of professional services revenues was $870,000 (or 142% of professional services revenues) in
fiscal 2005, and declined $189,000 (or 18%) from cost of professional services revenues of $1.1 million (or
86% of professional services revenues) in fiscal 2004. This was primarily due to a decline of $260,000 in our
North American region related to a headcount reduction of one employee and the associated salary,
benefits and facility allocation cost. The decline was partially offset by an increase of $72,000 in our
European region due to increased service revenues in that region.
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The professional services margin declined by 56% in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal 2004 due to lower
utilization rates of our professional personnel. The negative margin in professional services for fiscal 2005
was due to under-utilization of one full-time employee dedicated to professional services as a result of
delays related to a major consulting project during fiscal 2005.

Amortization of Intangible Assets: The amortization of intangible assets in fiscal 2006 consists of the
amortization of intangible assets acquired in the 2004 acquisitions of Poet Holdings, Inc., FastObjects, Inc,

and JDO Genie technology.

The following table summarizes the amortization of intangible assets (in thousands, except
percentages) in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004

October 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 In Dollars  Percentage In Dollars  Percentage
Mokume Software, Inc............ $— $— $72 8§ — — $(72) -100%
Poet Holdings, In¢.. . ............. 189 507 571 (318) -63% (64) -11%
IDO Genies (PTY), LTD. ........ 10 11z 35 2) 2% 77 220%
FastObjects, Inc.................. 16 52 20 (36) -69% 32 _160%

Total amortization of purchased

intangibles. ..............o L $315 $671 $698 $(356) -53% m 4%

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005

Amortization of intangible assets was $315,000 (or 4% of license revenues) in fiscal 2006, and
decreased $356,000 (or 53%) from amortization of intangible assets of $ 671,000 (or 8% of license
revenues) in fiscal 2005, The decline was due to several write-offs of our previously amortized intangible

assets for $2.6 million in fiscal 2005.

We expect to incur approximately $79,000 per quarter for amortization of intangible assets in fiscal
2007.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

The amortization of intangible assets in fiscal 2005 consists of the amortization of intangible assets
acquired in the 2004 acquisitions of Poet Holdings, Inc., FastObjects, Inc, and JDO Genie technology.

Amortization of intangible assets was $671,000 (or 4% of total revenues) in fiscal 2005 as compared
to $698,000 (or 4% of total revenues) in fiscal 2004, The decline in absolute dollars of $27,000 in fiscal
2005 compared to fiscal 2004 was due to several write offs of our intangible assets, which occurred in late
fiscal 2005, eliminating associated amortization of these written-off assets.
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Operating Expenses

Operating Expenses. The following table summarizes our operating expenses (in thousands, except
percentages) for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

- Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004
Fiscal Year ended Octlober 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrense)
2006 2005 2004 In Dollars  Percentage _InDollars Percentage
Operating expenses ‘
Sales and marketing. .. $ 3062 $ 5803 § 8004 $ (2741)  47%  $(2,201) 27%
Research and
development . ... .. .. 3,147 3925 5137 (178)  20%  (1,212) -24%
General and
administrative...... 3,712 4,647 4,514 (935) -20% 133 3%
Impairment of goodwill
and intangibles.. . ... —_ 12,913 1,024 (12,913) -100% 11,889 1161%
Restructuring ........ 218 638 3,271 (420) -66% (2,633) -80%
Total................ $10,139 $27,926 $21,950 $(17,787) -64% § 5976 27%

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20(_)5

Total operating expenses were $10.1 million (or 61% of total revenues) in fiscal 2006. Our total
operating expenses in fiscal 2006 represented a decline of $4.9 million (or 32%) from $15 million of total
operating expenses (after excluding $12.9 million of write-offs for impairment of goodwill and intangible
assets in fiscal 2005), reported for fiscal 2005. This decline included unfavorable foreign currency exchange
fluctuations of $68,000. The most significant portion of this decline in our operating expenses was a
reduction in our sales and marketing expenses by approximately $2.7 million as part of our restructuring
efforts, followed by a $935,000 reduction in our general and administrative expenses and a $778,000
reduction in research and development expenses, discussed further below.

Sales and Marketing: Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel and related
expenses, commissions earned by sales personnel, trade shows, travel and other marketing communication

costs, such as advertising and other marketing programs.

Sales and marketing expenses were $3.1 million (or 18% of total revenues) in fiscal 2006, a decrease of
$2.7 million (or 47%), compared to $5.8 million (or 37% of total revenues) in fiscal 2005. The decrease was
primarily due to headcount reductions of six personnel in our U.S. sales operations (resulting in a
reduction of salary, commission, employee severance payments and other payroll related expenses totaling
$1.1 million) and headcount reductions of five personnel in European operations (resulting in a reduction
of salary, commission, employee severance payments and other payroll related expenses totaling $489,000).
Additionally, the sales activities and marketing programs were reduced in both the U.S. and European
operations resulting in a reduction of expenses of approximately $939,000. Headcount reductions were the
result of our fiscal 2005 restructuring activities to better align our costs with current revenue levels.

We expect sales and marketing expenses in fiscal 2007 to be generally consistent with our sales and
marketing expense levels in fiscal 2006, and that sales and marketing expense will continue to represent a
considerable percentage of our total operating expenditures in the future.

Research and Development: Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel and
related expenses, including payroll and employee benefits, expenses for facilities and payments made to
outside software development contractors.

Research and development expenses were $3.1 million (or 19% of revenues) for fiscal 2006, a
decrease of $778,000 (or 20%), compared to $3.9 million (or 25% of revenues) in fiscal 2005. The decrease




was mainly due to headcount reductions of three personnel in our U.S. operations (resulting in a reduction
of salary and payroll related expenses, as well as severance payments totaling $355,000) and a decline in
temporary help and outside consultant expenses (resulting in a reduction of $402,000). These reductions
were primarily due to our fiscal 2005 restructuring activities,

We anticipate that we will continue to invest significant resources in research and development
activities in the future to develop new products, advance the technology of our existing products and
develop new business opportunitics. We expect our research and development expenses in fiscal 2007 to be
generally consistent with our research and development expenses levels in fiscal 2006.

General and Administrative:  General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel and
related expenses and general operating expenses.

General and administrative expenses were $3.7 million {or 22% of total revenues) in fiscal 2006, a
decrease of $935,000 (or 20%), compared to $4.6 million (or 30% of total revenues) in fiscal 2005. The
decrease was mainly due to headcount reductions of three personnel in U.S. operations (resulting in a
reduction of salary and payroll related expenses totaling $99,000) and a reduction in temporary help and
outside consultant expenses (resulting in a reduction of $97,000) as the result our fiscal 2005 restructuring
activities. Legal expenses declined by $677,000 and were primarily a result of an insurance reimbursement
for certain legal costs of $241,000, a reduction of $185,000 in legal expenses related to a legal settlement,
and a reduction of $251,000 in overall legal costs due to less complex regulatory issues during fiscal 2006.
Additionally, accounting and SEC filing related expenses declined by $297,000 due to more streamlined
operations and procedures. These declines were offset by an increase of approximately $279,000 in salary
and traveling expenses in our European operations attributable to our CEO as a result of a reorganization
in management.

We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase moderately for fiscal 2007 due to costs
associated with implementation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley of 2002 and the absence of any
reimbursement for legal costs in fiscal 2007, and legal fees and potential costs associated with a pending
litigation in which a customer, Rockwell Automation, is seeking indemnity from a third-party claim
asserted against Rockwell Automation by Systems America, Inc.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

Operating expenses were $28.0 million (or 177% of total revenues) in fiscal 2005, an increase of
$6.0 million (or 27%), compared to $22.0 million (or 124% of total revenues) in fiscal 2004. This increase
in¢cluded $12.9 miltion of non-cash changes for impairment of goodwill and intangible assets and
restructuring charges of $638,000 in fiscal 2005, compared to $1.0 million of non-cash charges for
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, and restructuring charges of $3.3 million in fiscal 2004, This
increase also included $187,000 of foreign currency exchange losses. These increases were countered by
significant reductions in our sales and marketing expenses and research and development expenses in fiscal
2005 as compared to fiscal 2004, which were implemented as part of our restructuring efforts.

Sales and Marketing:  Sales and marketing expenses were $5.8 million (or 37% of total revenues) in
fiscal 2005, a decrease of $2.2 million (or 27%), compared to $8.0 million {or 45% of total revenues) in
fiscal 2004. The decrease was mainly due to a decline of $1.4 million in the costs of our North American
sales organization as a result of headcount reductions of seven employees and their related salaries,
benefits, commissions, traveling expenses and facilities allocation costs, as well as a decline of $180,000 in
consulting expenses in our North American marketing organization as a result of reduced activities in’
various marketing programs. In addition, there was a decline of $600,000 in sales and marketing expenses
in our European region, due primarily to a decline in salaries, benefits, commissions and traveling expenses
in our European sale organization related to a headcount reduction of nine sales employees.
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Research and Development: Research and development expenses were $3.9 million (or 25% of
revenues) in fiscal 2005, a decrease of $1.2 million (or 24%), compared to $5.1 million (or 29% of
revenues) in fiscal 2004.}The decrease was primarily due to a reduction of $1.6 million in expenses for our
North American research and development operations related to a headcount reduction of twelve
employees and their related salaries and benefits as part of our restructuring in the fourth quarter of fiscal ’
2004. These cost reductions were partially offset by an increase of $314,000 in our European operational
costs for an additional six employees who joined Versant pursuant to the Poet acquisition and their related”
salary and benefit expenses, We also experienced an increase of $74,000 in our Indian operations for an
additioral headcount of nine employees for their related salary and benefits.

“General and Administrative:” General and administrative expenses were $4.6 million (or 30% of total .
revenues) in fiscal 2005, an increase of $133,000 (or 3%}, compared to $4.5 million (or 26% of total ~ ~
revenues) in fiscal 2004. This increase was due to an $820,000 increase in North American expenses for
professional services fees which were primarily associated with accounting and legal services for SEC
cdmj;ﬁliance, offset by a decline of $473,000 in North American region expenses related to the headcount
re'dpc;ion of fc:>u'r employees and their associated salary, benefits and facility allocation costs. These costs.
were further offset by a decline of $200,000 in our European operational expenses related to the o
héadéount reduction of six employees and their associated salaries and beriefits due to consolidation of '
Versant Europe operations with Poet.

Outside Shareholders’ Loss from Variable Interest Entity or “VIE”

[l
¢

Fiscal Year ended .* Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004 .
. October 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase {Decrease) ‘

. L ‘ - . , - 2006 2005 2004 In Dollars Percentage  In Dollars Percentage °
Outside shareholders’ income T Oy
fromVIE.................... $138 $320 §$— $(182) -57% $320 . - —

During the three months ended July 31, 2005, as part of our restructuring plan, we spun-off the assets- ‘
of our VOA Net product to, Vanatec, and we committed to the capital contribution of an additional
212,500 euros (or $260,000) to Vanatec, which we fully contributed on November 3, 2005. We determined
that equity at risk in Vanatec was not sufficient to permit it to finance its activities without additional.
subordinated financial support; therefore, we considered-Vanatec a variable interest entity in accordance, -
with FIN 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (As Amended).

Vanatec’s results were included in our consolidated financial statements for the three month periods
ended July 31, 2005, October 31, 2005 and January 31, 2006 and through March 27, 2006. During the three
months ended January 31,2006, we absorbed our share of Vanatec's losses up to the point that it exceeded
variable interest liability; and subsequent to that we absorbed 100% of the losses that Vanatec had . .
incurred for an additional amount of $35,000 for the three months ended January 31, 2006.

On March 27,2006, wé sold‘out 19.6% interest in Vanatec to a third party investor for €4,900 and
entered into a joint ownership agreement with Vanatec with respect to certain technology we had’
previously licensed to Vanatec. According to this agreement, Vanatec is obligated to pay Versant a
running royalty interest at a rate of six percent of its net proceeds, but no less than €30 per copy of licenses
it grants of the co-owned technology, for a period of five years following the effective date of this
agreement. Further, at any time during the royalty period, Vanatec has the right to exercise a buyout for its
royalty obligations by making a one-time payment to Versant of €450,000. As a result of Versant’s sale of
its interest in Vanatec and this agreement, Versant determined that it was no longer the primary
beneficiary of Vanatec, and thus, was no longer required to consolidate Vanatec’s operating results. We
continued to absorb 100% of Vanatec’s losses for an additional amount of $70,000 for the period between
February 1, 2006 and March 27, 2006, We are no longer required to consolidate the operating results of
Vanatec as of March 28, 2006.




Income (loss} From Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes:

In February 2006, we sold our WebSphere consulting business in exchange for a one-time cash
payment plus certain contingent payments during a 24-month period following the ctose of the transaction.
Additionally, in September 2004, we sold all the stock of Poet GmbH, an indirect Versant subsidiary that
owned the assets and employed the personnel of our Catalog Solutions Business (the “Catalog Business”)
to a privately held German company. As a result, we have reflected the results of operations of the
WebSphere consulting practice for fiscal 2006, fiscal 2005, and fiscal 2004 and the results of operations of
the Catalog Business for fiscal 2004 as discontinued operations. Therefore, reported revenues for these
periods no longer include any revenues from the WebSphere consulting practice and the Catalog Business.
The results from the discontinued WebSphere and Catalog Business operations, however, are reported as
income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes.

The following table summarizes our income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
(in thousands, except percentages) in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004: '

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal 2006 vs 2005 Fiscal 2005 vs 2004

October 31, Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 2004 In Dollars  Percentage In Dollars  Percentape
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of income
LAXES . oo veeaeeneenann $231 $417 $(1,314)  $(186) -45%  $1,731 132%

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005

Income from discontinued operations, net was $231,000 in fiscal 2006 compared to $417,000 in fiscal
2005. The $231,000 income from discontinued operations in fiscal 2006 primarily represents royalty
payments for Websphere during fiscal 2006. The $417,000 income from discontinued operations in fiscal
2005 primarily represents Websphere’s net income for fiscal 2005. '

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004

Income from discontinued operations, net was $417,000 in fiscal 2005 compared to loss from
discontinued operations of $1.3 million in fiscal 2004. The $1.3 million loss from discontinued operations in
fiscal 2004 primarily represents the net loss of $1.6 million from our Catalog Business offset by '
Websphere’s net income of $332,000 for fiscal 2004.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash and Cash Equivalents

In fiscal 2006 we financed our operations and met our capital expenditure rcqmrements through ¢ cash
flows from operations.

As of October 31, 2006, $7.0 million of our $8.2 million in cash and cash equivalents at that date was
held in foreign financial institutions, of which $3.9 million was held in foreign currencies.

¢
P

48




The following table summarizes our cash balances held in foreign currencies and their equivalent U.S.
dollar amounts (in thousands):

As of October 31, 2006
Local Currency  U.S. Dollar

~ Cash in foreign currency:

| SXTY ¢ € 2907 $3,699

v BritishPound. ..o £ 106 200
IndiaRupee . ..., Rs. 1,137 25
Total oo e $3,924

We transact business in various foreign currencies and, accordingly, we are subject to exposure from
adverse movements in foreigr currency exchange rates. To date, the effect of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates on our net operating results has not been significant. Operating expenses incurred by our
foreign subsidiaries are denominated primarily in local currencies. We currently do not use financial
instruments to hedge these operating expenses. We intend to asscss the need to utilize financial
instruments to hedge currency exposures on an ongoing basis during fiscal 2007.

Our exposure to foreign exchange risk is related to the magnitude of foreign net profits and losses
denominated in euros and Pound Sterling, as well as our net position of monetary assets and monetary
liabilities in those foreign currencies. These exposures have the potential to produce either gains or losses
within our consolidated results. Qur European operations, however, in some instances act as & natural
hedge since both operating expenses as well as revenues are denominated in local currencies. In these
instances, although an unfavorable change in the exchange rate of euros or Pound Sterling against the U.S.
dollar will result in lower revenues when translated into U.S. dollars, the operating expenditures will be
lower as well. Additionally, since most of our cash resides outside the United States, we have maintained
approximately 46% of our cash balance in Europe in the form of U.S. dollars to neutralize the impact of
any foreign currency fluctuations.

In relation to our cash balances held overseas, there were no European Union foreign exchange
restrictions on repatriating our overseas-held cash to the United States. However, we may be subject to
income tax withholding in the source countries and to U.S. federal and state income taxes if the cash
payment or transfer from our subsidiaries to the U.S. parent were to be classified as a dividend. Other
payments made by our European overseas subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business (e.g. payment of
royalties or interest from the subsidiaries to the U.S. parent) were generally not subject to income tax
withholding due to tax treaties.

Our cash equivalents primarily consist of money market accounts; accordingly, our interest rate risk is
not considered significant.

We believe that, with our current cost structure, we can reasonably expect to operate at a positive cash
flow level in fiscal 2007. ‘




Fiscal 2004 o . S T o oy TR L P SR USRI G LT
We used $4.6 million cash in operating activities in fiscal 2004, which was comprised of the following:

» Approximately $24.3 million of cash expenses, mamly employee related.'an increase of $1.9 million
over cash expenses paid in operating activities in fiscal 2003, pnmanly due to addltlon of Poet s
employees since March 18, 2004, plus i

. Approxnmately $700 000 of restructurmg expenses pald in- flscal 2004 offset by S
. Approxrmately $20.1 million cash collected from our'customers SN : ,
Cash Flow provided by (used in) Investing Activities - e \ A ‘ P .‘ ,_ o Ny

Our ptimary uses of cash in 1nvestmg activities have typically been for the purchases of ] property and
equipment (mostly information technology related equipment). ‘Howevet, in fiscal 2004 and 2003, we made
a number of acquisitions (Poet, FastObjects, Inc. and the JDO Genie technology) and incurted sigrificant
costs in connection with such acquisitions. Additionally, in fiscal 2006, we sold our WebSphere consulting
practice and our interests in Vanatec, the proceeds from which are reflected in investing activities.-And in
fiscal 2004, we sold our catalog solutions busmess for cash the proceeds from whrch are reflected in

investing activities, . . ST Lt ey N

Fiscal 2006 Lo
In fiscal 2006, net cash provided by mvestmg activities was approxlmately $385 000,,comprrsed of the

following: . : 7 N e s ) T

" ‘e Cash inflows from the procéeds of sale of our WebSphere practlce and mterests of Varatec for
approximately $506,000, offset by ' EACUSTEREES A

e Cash used in purchases of property and equrpment of $144 000 and cash gcnerated from Sales of
property and equipment of $23,000" e ate .

We ant1c1pate an increase in purchases of property ¢ and equlpment in flscal 2007 1ncludmg costs
related to the replacement Of older server equipment and other computer related equipment in both-
Germany and the U.S., and capital expenditures related to new corporate headquarters in the U. S., as the
current building lease expires on June 30, 2007. - . - Al e, Ll b oot 0 ol

Fiscal 2005 =+ ''-° . B : T N S L UL T T

PNV S T TS |n]"-ta
In fiscal 2005 .net cash. used in mvestmg actwltres was appromrnately $47 000 compnsed of the
following: . , _

g e e i " [P PR ‘,:" .
» Cash used in purchases of property and equrpment of $20 000 and cash generated from sales of
property and equipment of $32 000,and - - - n

« $59,000 related to acquisition of a 19.6% of mterest in Vanatec, a prwately held company to whom
we spun-out our VOA.Net assets, 3 o G

Fiscal 2004 ‘ _. - .I‘- o . i-'_ ' O T L S I T \ ™ }
In fiscal 2004, net cash pro;.'ided hy in;festin'g‘acti\-'ities was approximately $6.4 million, comprised of
the following:

e Cash inflows from the acquisition of Poet (net of transaction costs) and the sale of our catalog
business for approximately $7.2 million, offset by




¢ Investing outflows representing the net acquisition costs of FastObjects Inc. and the JDO Genie
technology for approximately $500,000 and purchases of property and equipment for approximately
$262,000.

Cash Flow provided by (used in) Financing Activities
Fiscal 2006

Our main source of cash from financing activities was proceeds from sale of common stock under our
employee stock option and stock purchase plans and, in the periods that we had a receivable line of credit
in place, periodic draw-downs on the credit line that were typically repaid within a month.

In fiscal 20086, $140,00d cash was provided by financing activities comprised of the followiﬂg:

« Cash inflows of $192,000 due to proceeds from the sale of common stock under our stock option
and employee stock purchase plans, and

e Cash payments of $39,000 for the repayment of the borrowing under our line of credit.
« Principal payments of $13,000 under capital lease obligations.

Our future liquidity and capital resources could be impacted by the exercise of outstanding common
stock options and the cash proceeds we receive upon exercise of these securities. Further, as of October 31,
2006 we had approximately 193,000 shares available to issue under our current equity incentive and
director plans. The timing of the issuance, the duration of their vesting provision and the grant price will all
impact the timing of any proceeds. Accordingly, we cannot estimate the amount of such proceeds at this
time.

Fiscal 2005

Our main source of cash from financing activities was proceeds from sale of common stock under our
employee stock option and stock purchase plans and, in the periods that we had a receivable line of credit
in place, periodic draw-downs on the credit line that were typically repaid within a month,

In fiscal 2005, $380,000 cash provided by financing activities, comprised of the following:

e Cash inflows of $334,000 due to proceeds from the sale of common stock under our stock option
and employee stock purchase plans, and

e Cash inflows of $50,000 due to proceeds from the borrowing from the line of credit during the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. On June 21, 2005, Versant and a bank entered into a Loan and
Security Agreement, a Streamline Facility Agreement and an Intellectual Property Security
Agreement, collectively, the “Loan Agreements”. Under the terms of these Loan Agreements, we
may borrow up to 2 maximum of $3.0 million from the bank at any one time under a revolving
secured accounts receivable-based line of credit. This line of credit permits Versant to obtain short-
term loan advances from the bank equal to 80% of the face amount of specific eligible accounts
receivable of Versant. The interest rate on each advance will be either 4.0% or 4.5% above the
bank’s prime rate. As noted below, this credit facility expires in June 2007 and we do not currently
expect to renew it :

Fiscal 200
On September 3, 2004, our receivables based credit line for $5.0 million with a financial institution
expired and we elected not to renew the facility at that time due 1o our very low historic usage of this credit

line. The last time we borrowed under this line was in October 2003 for $500,000, and this amount was
repaid within a month.




Our primary uses of cash in financing activities were typically for the repayments under our
receivables credit line that, as mentioned above, expired in September 2004. :

In fiscal 2004, cash provided and used in financing activities were as follows:

» Repayment of the amount drawn-down on the receivables credit line for $500,000 in October 2003,
offset by

 The proceeds for the sale of common stock for $468,000, under our stock option and employee
stock purchase plans.

Commitments and Contingencies

Our principal commitments as of October 31, 2006 consisted of obligations under operating leases for
facilities and equipment.

In November 1996, we entered into a ten-year operating lease agreement for our corporate
headquarters in Fremont, California that commenced on July 1, 1997 and expires on June 30, 2007. The
terms of the lease provide for certain increases in rental payments during the lease term. Rental expense
under this agreement, including contractual rent increases, is recognized on a straight-line basis. We also
lease field office space in Europe and India, generally under multi-year operating lease agreements.
Consolidated rent expense in fiscal years ended Gctober 31, 2006, October 31, 2005 and October 31, 2004,
were approximately $877,000, $1.0 million, and $1.7 million, respectively. .

We have recorded approximately $591,000 of our commitments on our October 31, 2006 Balance
Sheet. Qur annual minimum commitments as of October 31, 2006 under non-cancelable operating leases,
not recorded on the October 31, 2006 balance sheet, are as follows:

Rental Equipment
Lease Leases Total

Fiscal year ending October 31,

2007 . e 1,054 60 1,114
2008 . e e 93 43 136
2009 . e e e e — 34 34
2000 . . e e e — 16 16
Thereafter. . ......ooviivii i — 22 22

Total ..o $1,147 $175 $1,322

On June 21, 2005, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with a financial institution, a
Streamline Facility Agreement and an Intellectual Property Security Agreement, or cotlectively, the “Loan
Agreements”. Under the terms of these Loan Agreements, we may borrow up to a maximum of
$3.0 million from the bank at any one¢ time under a revolving secured accounts receivable-based line of
credit. This line of credit permits us to obtain short-term loan advances from the financial institution equal
to 80% of the face amount of our specific eligible accounts receivable. The interest rate on each advance
will be either 4.0% or 4.5% above the bank’s prime rate. Our obligations to the financial institution under
the Loan Agreements are secured by a first security interest in all of our assets, including our equipment,
cash and intellectual property. The credit facility provided by the Loan Agreements will expire by June 21,
2007, and we do not expect to renew this facility or enter into another credit facility in fiscal 2007.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and cash to be generated from operations will
be sufficient to finance our operations during the next twelve months. However, if we fail to generate
adequate cash flows from operations in the future, due to an unexpected decline in our revenues, or due to
a sustained increase in cash expenditures in excess of the revenues generated; then our cash balances may
not be sufficient to fund our continuing operations without obtaining additional debt or equity financing.
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Additional cash may also be needed to acquire or invest in complementary businesses or products or to
obtain the right to use complementary technologies, and we expect that, in the event of such an acquisition
or investment, if significant, it will be necessary for us to seek additional debt or equity financing.

If we are required to obtain additional financing for our working capital, there can be no assurance
that such financing will be available to us on reasonable financial or other terms, or at all. The prices at
which new investors might be willing to purchase our securities may be lower than the market value or the
trading price of our common stock. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities could also
result in dilution to our shareholders, which could be substantial and may involve the issuance of preferred
securities that would have liquidation preferences that entitle holders of the preferred securities to receive
certain amounts before holders of our common stock in connection with an acquisition or business
combination involving Versant or a liquidation of Versant. New investors may also seek agreements giving
them additional voting control or seats on our board of directors.

Further, if our common stock were ever delisted from trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market, our
ability to obtain financing through sales of our stock would be materially impaired. Even if we were able to
obtain additional debt or equity financing, the terms of any such financing might significantly restrict our
business activities and in some circumstances, might require us to obtain the approval of our shareholders,
which could delay or prevent consummation of the financing transaction.

In order to be able to comply with the NASDAQ Capital Market’s continued listing requirements
regarding the minimum bid price of our common stock, at our annual meeting of shareholders held on
August 22, 2005, our shareholders approved an amendment of our articles of incorporation to effect a
1-for-10 reverse split of our outstanding common stock, and to reduce the number of authorized shares of
our common stock, Series A preferred stock and undesignated preferred stock in proportion to the ratio of
the reverse split. Subsequent to the reverse split, on September 8, 2005, we received notice from NASDAQ
market that we regained compliance with NASDAQ’s minimum bid price requirement.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 154, Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections. This new standard replaces APB Opinion 20, Accounting Changes and SFAS 3, Reporting
Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. Among other changes, SFAS 154 requires that a
voluntary change in accounting principle be applied retrospectively with all prior period financial
statements presented on the new accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to do so. SFAS 154 also
provides that a change in method of depreciating or amortizing a long-lived non-financial asset be
accounted for as a change in estimate (prospectively) that was effected by a change in accounting principle,
and that corrections of previously issued financial statements should be termed a restatement. The new
standard is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. Adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

In November 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FSP No. FAS 123(R)-3,
“Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards”. This
FSP provides a practical transition election related to accounting for the tax effects of share-based -
payment awards to employees, as an alternative to the transition guidance for the APIC pool in
paragraph 81 of Statement 123(R). The guidance in this FSP is effective after November 10, 2005 as posted
in the FASB website. The Company may take up to one year from the later of adoption of SFAS 123(R) or
the effective date of this FSP to evaluate its available transition alternatives and make its one-time
election. The Company will evaluate this guidance, but does not expect a material impact on its results of
operations or financial position. - -
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In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN
48 seeks to reduce the significant diversity in practice associated with financial statement recognition and
measurement in accounting for income taxes. In recognition that a period of six to nine months would be
needed to initially apply FIN 48, the effective date of FIN 48 is the first fiscal year beginning after
December 15, 2006, with early adoption encouraged. The Company is currently in the process of
evaluating the impact that the adoption of FIN 48 will have on its financial position, results of operations
and cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement 157, Fair Value Measurements, (FAS 157). This
statement clarifies the definition of fair value, the methods used to measure fair value, and requires
expanded financial statement disclosures about fair value measurements for assets and liabilities. FAS 157
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The new
guidance will be effective for us on November 1, 2008 and we are currentiy assessing the impact on our
financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC'’s Office of the Chief Accountant and Divisions of Corporation Finance
and Investment Management released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (SAB 108), which provides
interpretive guidance on how registrants should quantify financial-statement misstatements. Currently, the
two methods most commonly used by preparers and auditors to quantify misstatements are the “rollover”
method (which focuses primarily on the income statement impact of misstatements) and the “iron curtain”
method (which focuses primarily on the balance sheet impact of misstatements). Under SAB 108,
registrants will be required to consider both the rollover and iron curtain methods (i.e., a dual approach)
when evaluating the materiality of financial statement errors. Registrants will need to revisit their prior
materiality assessments and consider them using both the rollover and iron curtain methods.

SAB 108 is effective for annual financial statements in the first fiscal year ending after November 15,
2006, therefore for us, the year ended October 31, 2007. The SAB provides transition accounting and
disclosure guidance for situations in which a registrant concludes that a material error(s) existed in prior-
period financial statements under the dual approach. Specifically, registrants will be permitted to restate
prior period financial statements or recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying SAB 108 through
an adjustment to beginning retained earnings in the year of adoption. We believe SAB 108 will not have a
material impact on our annual financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Faoreign currency hedging instruments. 'We transact business in various foreign currencies and,
accordingly, we are subject to exposure from adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. To
date, the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on revenue and operating expenses has not
been material. Operating expenses incurred by our foreign subsidiaries are denominated primarily in local
currencies. We currently do not use financial instruments to hedge these operating expenses. We intend to

assess the need to utilize financial instruments to hedge currency exposures on an ongoing basis during
fiscal 2007.

Our exposure to foreign exchange risk is related to the magnitude of foreign net profits and losses
denominated in euros and Pound Sterling, as well as our net position of monetary assets and monetary
liabilities in those foreign currencies. These exposures have the potential to produce either gains or losses
within our consolidated results. Our European operations, however, in some instances act as a natural
hedge since both operating expenses as well as revenues are denominated in local currencies. In these
instances, although an unfavorable change in the exchange rate of euros or Pound Sterling against the U.S.
dollar will result in lower revenues when translated into U.S. dollars, the operating expenditures will be
lower as well. Additionally, since most of our cash resides outside the United States, we have maintained
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approximately 46% of our cash balance in Europe in the form of U.S. dollars to neutralize the impact of
any foreign currency fluctuations.

We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative trading purposes.

Interest rate risk.  Our cash equivalents primarily consist of money market accounts; therefore, we do
not believe that our interest rate risk is significant at this time.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Versant Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Versant Corporation and
subsidiaries (the “Company”} as of October 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31,
2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Versant Corporation and subsidiaries as of October 31,
2006 and 2003, and the consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has adopted Financial
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123(R), Share-Based Payments (SFAS 123R) in 2006.

/s{ Grant Thornton LLP
December 8, 2006
San Francisco, California
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

As of October 31,
2006 2005
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ........... e e $ 8231 § 3958
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $62 and
$114 at October 31, 2006 and Qctober 31, 2005, respectively .............. 2,885 2,529
L 1431 o VB =) 1 2T <1 7S 782 . 744
Total currentassetS. .......covvivvninn, S 11,898 7,231
Property and equipment, net ................ e 385 489
Goodwill ..........ciiiiiiiiiae, e 6,720 6,720
Intangible as518, el . ..ottt e e e et i e e 1,196 1,512
Otherassets..........coo... R 62 294
Total ASSeL5 . ..\ttt i i e e § 20,261 § 16,246
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accountspayable. ... ... .. e e $ 154 § 779
Accrued Habilities .. vvovve vttt et et it e e - 2,363 2,667
DeferTed TEVeMUES . o . ottt ittt e ettt e et e © 3,083 2,779
BT (=3 =1 1D (=3 11 S PO CEO O 99 136
Total current liabilities . ... ...\ttt 5,699 6,361
Long-term restructuring acerual ... .. .vu it i i i — 448
9153 {9 (16 I (4253 1110t 742 184
Long-term capital lease obligations ........... ..ot 28 30
Deferred remt . .ttt e e e e e — 98
Variable interest entity liability .. ......... ..o — 137
Total Habilities . ... ove ettt e e it e e e e e ' 6,469 7,258
Stockholders’ equity:
Commonstock, noparvalue ....... ... .. i i i e 95,089 94,755
Deferred stock-based compensation ...........c.iveiiiiiiiiiiisireneeiin, — (44)
Other comprehensive income, net ... 521 39
Accumulated defiCit. . ..ot e e e e (81,818) (86,119)
Total stockholders’ equity ....... ..o i e 13,792 8,988
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ..........ooviiiiii i, $ 20,261 § 16,246

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except for per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended October 31,

¥ 2006 2005 2004
Revenues: \
7T 111 - A I [P $ 8469 $ 8828 § 9686
MAINLENATICE. . v ot e e e et tae s e aae s anaaesananaananea oty 6,726 6,305 6,783
Professional SEIVICES. « . o« oo ie ettt i i 1,550 613 1,228
TOMAl FEVEIIUES . . oot vttt e ittt et tin st ia s san e sta st s 16,745 15,746 17,697
Cost of revenues:
T o= R R R R N3 274 457
Amortization of intangible assets. . .. ... oo s 671 698
L TRy T 1 T U U PSRN G 1,442 1,456 1,516
ProfesSional SEIVIEES. . . o v vttt r i et 1,021 870 1,059
Total COst OF TEVEMUES . . . oottt ittt inr e me et aa s 3,091 3.271 3,730
GIOSS PrOfI . .. .ottt e 13,654 12,475 13,967
Operating expenses:
Sales and Marketing . . . ... v v e e e 3,062 5.803 8,004
Research and development .. ...t e e s 3,147 3,925 5137
General and administrative ... ..ot i it i e 3712 4.647 4514
Impairment of goodwill ... .. .. ... oo — 10,300 707
Impairment of intangibles .. .. ... ... — 2,613 317
ReSITUCIUIINE - -« . o oot i it i iia e a sttt r i 218 638 3,271
Total OPerating CXPEMNSES. o v v v v o r s s e ettt 10,139 27,926 21,950
Income (loss) from Operations . . . .. ... . .ottt i e 3,515 (15.451) (7,983)
Qutside shareholders’income from VIE. . ... ... .. it s 138 320 —
OUREL INCOIMIE, TICE &« v v s v v v st v vt a e cem e ia s saaanananaesan et 208 197 119
Gain on disposal of Variable Interest Entity ... ... i 131 — —
Income (loss) from continuing operations beforetaxes . ............. ..o 3,992 (14,934) (7.864)
Provision fOr NCOME LAXES . ...« oo ve i it it e e 390 37 88
Net income (loss) from continuing OPerations. . . ...... ..o iniena it e 3,602 (14,971) (7.952)
Deemed dividend to preferred sharcholders ... ...l — — (2,422)
Net income {loss) from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders . . . ... 3,602 (14971)  (10,374)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes. ................. 231 417 (1.314)
Gain (loss) from sale of discontinued operations, net of income taxes. .......... ...t 468 — (309)
NEtInEOME (IOSS) .« v« v vttt et et et $ 4,301  $(14,554) §(11,997)
Basic income (loss) per share:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders ... ... $ 101 % (423) § (333
Earnings (loss} from discontinued operations. net of income tax. .................cnnn $ 019 $ 02 3 (0352
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders ... .. .. PP T $ 120 3 (41i) § (3.85)
Diluted income (loss) per share:
Net income {loss) from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders ... ... $ 101§ (423) § (3.3}
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax. .. .......oovvaveens $ 019 § 012 3 (0.52)
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders . ... $ 120 $ (411) 3 (3.85)
Shares used in per share calculation:
BaSIC. « o ettt e e e 3,577 3,539 3,117
0031 10T A 3,584 3,539 3117
Non-cash stock-based compensation inctuded in the above expenses:
COSE OF FOVETILES . + 4 4 vt vt vr e e e e e e e e e bt e et na i n e st $ 39 s 27§ —
Salesand Markelting. . . ... oo iuu ittt c e 41 12 25
Resecarch and development . ... ... i 79 44 35
General and administrative ... ... oo ot 77 13 36
1) PR O $ 236 §% 9% § 86

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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YERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
(in thousands, except for share amount)

Accumulated
Other Total Total
Convertible Preferred Common Deferred  Accumulated Comprehensive Sharcholders’ Comprehensive
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Compensation Deficit Income Equity Income {loss)

Balance at October 31, 2003. . . .. 1,313,743 § 7,772 1,464,764 $55,096 § — $(59,568) $ 22 § 3322

ESPP. ... ... .. ... — — 29,927 198 — — — 198

Exercise of stock options . . ... — —  28,39%4 270 — — — 270
Conversion of preferred stock

tocommon. . ............. (1,313,743) (7,772) 394,123 7,772 — — - —

Inducement to preferred stock

holders relating to conversion

of preferred stock and

modification of warrants . . .. — — — 2422 — (2,422) — — (2,422}
Issurance of common stock and

options in connection with

Poet acquisition. . . ......,, — - 1,552,534 28,330 (299) —_ — 28,031
Amortization of unearned stock
based compensation . ...... — — — — 86 — — 86
Cancellation of unvested Poet
stockoptions . .. .......... — — — (67) 67 — — -
Net loss before deemed
dividend. ... ouuiiiii i — — — — — (9,575) — (9,575) (9,575)
Foregn currency translation
adjustments .. ............ — — — — — — 547 547 547
Total comprehensive loss . . . .. — — — — — — — —
Balance at October 31, 2004. . . .. - $ - 3,469,742 $94,021 $(146) $(71,565) $ 569 $ 22,879 $(11,450)
ESPP...............cou — — 15,985 73 — — — 73
Exercise of stock options .. ... j— — 52,137 267 — — — 267
Reverse split adjustments.. . . . . — —_— (42) — —_— — — —

Issurance of common stock in
connection with purchase of

JDOassets. . ..ovvnnnnn — — 23015 400 — — — 400
Amortization of unearned stock
based compensation ....... — — — — 96 — — 96
Cancellation of unvested Poet
stockoptions .. ........... — — — (%) 6 — — —
Netloss...........ovvvnn. — — — — - {14,554} — (14,554) (14,554)
Foregn currency translation
adjustments . ............. — — — — — — (173) 173) (173)
Total comprehensive loss . .. .. — — — — — — — — -
Balance at October 31, 2005, . . .. — § — 3,560,837 $94,755 $ (44) $(86,119) $ 396 $ 8988 $(14,727)
ESPP..... .. ... ... — — 16,630 64 — — — 64
Exercise of stock options . .. .. — — 25499 128 — — - 128
Forfeiture of commeon stock -
Mokume Cancellation. . .. .. — —  (8,998) (50) — — — (50)
Non-cash stock based .
compesnation expenses . . . . . — -_ -_ 192 — — — 192
Adjustment from deferred
compensation to APIC ... .. — — — — 44 — —_ 44
Netincome . ....ovvevnnn... — - — —_ —_— 4,301 — 4,301 4,301
Foregn currency translation
adjustments . .. ........... — - —_ —_ — — 125 125 125
Total comprehensive loss . . ... — — — — — — — —
Baiance at October 31, 2006. . , . . — s — 3,596,968 $95,089 $ — $(81,818) $ 521 $ 13,792 $ 4,426

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004
Cash Rows from operating activities:
Net ineome (JOSS) . ..ttt e e $4,301  $(14,554) $(9.575)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by {used in) operating activities:
Gain from sale of discontinued operations, net of incometaxes . ... ..., ... (468) — —
Gain on disposal of Variable Interest Entity . .. ..., oot ver i (131) — —
Lossonsale of Catalog business ... ... e e — — am
Earnings (losses) from discontinued operations .. ..., ..o (231) (417) 1,955
Depreciation and amortization . ... ... .. i 203 305 1,557
Amortization of intangible 3ssets ... ... ... i i s 315 671 —
Stock-based COMPENSALION ... . ... ittt ttiaamc e aaaa st 236 96 86
Write off of property and equipment. . .. ... e 25 — 65
Write off of {easehold improvements in conjunction with restructuring .. ... ............. — — 200
Impairment of goodwill and intangibles . ... ... ... ool — 12,913 1,024
Non-cash operating expenses related to cancellation of common stock .. ........ ... ..., {50} — —_
Provision (recovery) of bad debtallowance. .. ... . o (55) (251) 87
Changes in current assets and liabilities:
RESITICEE CaSI. « . v v vttt s ettt e e e e — 320 —
Accounts receivable . L. L e (260) 2,690 {93)
Prepaid expenses and OTHEr ASSET8. . ..o vuute s iias ot e aanoc e s 194 406 237
ACCOURES PAYADIE . - - . oo ettt (557) (65) {305)
Accrued liabilities and other labilities. . . . . .. ... i i v e - {785) (1.923) 1,707
DefeITed TEVENUES . + + « ¢ttt v e aee e e e e e et s aae ettt 673 40y  (1.780)
Deferred 1BNL. . .ottt e s (137 (83) 42
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ............oo v 3,273 68 (4,568}
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds fromsale of Websphere. . .......... ... e 500 — —
Proceeds fromsale of VANATET .. ... it i i e i e s 6 — —
Proceeds from sale of Catalog Business ... ........ .. it iiinrriroreronnnernrones — 1,223
Cash acquired in Poet acquisition, net of transaction costs. . .. ..o — — 5.931
Investment i VANALEC .. .o .o vttt it it e a st e e s — (59 —_
Proceeds from sale of propertyand equipment. . ... ..o 23 32 —_
Purchase of IDO Genie (PTY) Ltd. ..o vt iiaana e — — (200)
Purchase of FastObjects, INC. . ... .. i e — — (301)
Purchases of property and eqUIPMERL. . ... ottt (144) (20} (262)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities. . . . ........... ..o 385 {47} 6,391
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock, Net . . . ... .. i e it e s 192 334 468
Principal payments under capital lease obligations. . ... ... oo o o (13) (6) —
Proceeds (net payments) under short-term note and bankloan . ..................... .. (39) 50 (500)
Net cash provided by (used in} financing activities. . . ............ o ool 140 378 (32)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents. . .................. ... 244 (171) 486
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents from operating, investing and financing activities. . . ... 4,042 228 2,277
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash cquivalents from discontinued operation. . ........... 231 417 (1,955)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period. . . ... ... ... ..o i 3,958 3,313 2,991
Cash and cash equivalents atend of period . . .. .......... ... ... il $8231 $ 3958 % 3,313
Supplemental disclosures of cash flows information:
Cash paid for:
T SR G fF 6 % 2% % 3
Foreign, federal, foreign withholding and state income taxes . . ... ........oooniiiaiies $ 54 % 37 § 88
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities:
Conversion of preferred shares tocommonstocks . ............... e 3} — 8 — 3772
Deemed dividend to preferred shareholders. ... ... ... i £t — 5 —  § 2422
Common stock issued in conjunction with purchase of JDO Genie (PTY) Ltd............... $ — § 400 §$ —
Common stock issued in conjunction with Poet acquisition . ... .......... .o v i $8 — 5§ — $25928
Options issued in conjunction with Poet acquisition, net of intrinsic value of unvested options..  § —  § — § 2103
Mokume commeon stock Cantellation. . .. .o r i i e 3 (50) % e
Non cash stock COMPENSAtION EXPENSES . . . ..ot ieintie e rae it rar s $ 236 $ % $ 8

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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VERSANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
October 31, 2006

NOTE 1. THE COMPANY AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Versant Corporation (with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to in this report as “Versant” or “the
Company”) was incorporated in California in August 1988. Versant is a leading provider of object-oriented
data management software that forms a critical component of the infrastructure of enterprise computing.
The Company designs, develops, markets and supports object-oriented database management system
products to solve complex data management and data integration problems of enterprises. Versant also
provides related product support, training and consulting services to assist users in development and
deployment of software applications based on its products. The Company operates its business within a
single operating segment referred to as Data Management. Versant’s principal executive offices are
located in Fremont, California. Versant has international operations in Germany, the United Kingdom
and India and markets its software products and related maintenance services directly through telesales
and ficld sales organizations in North America and Germany and indirectly through distributors and
resellers worldwide,

Versant is subject to the risks associated with similar companies in a comparable stage of
development. These risks include, but are not limited to the following: dependence on a key product,
fluctuations of operating results, scasonality, lengthy sales cycles for its products, product concentration,
dependence on the continued customer acceptance of object database technology, competition, a limited
customer base, dependence on key individuals, dependence on international operations, foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations and the Company’s ability to adequately finance its ongoing operations.

The Company generated net income of $4.3 million in fiscal 2006, and net losses of $14.6 million and
$12 million in fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. Management anticipates funding future operations from
its current cash resources and its future cash flows from operations. However, if the Company’s financial
results fall short of projections, additional debt or equity may be required to finance operations, and the
Company may need to implement further cost reductions. No assurances can be given that these efforts
will be successful, if required.

In July 2005, Versant, through its subsidiary Versant GmbH, entered into certain agreements to effect
a spin-off of tangible assets, technology rights and contracts related to its Versant Open Access .NET
(“VOA.NET”) business to Vanatec GmbH (a then newly formed privately held German based company).
As a result, in accordance with FIN 46(R), Vanatec’s operating results were included in Versant’s
consolidated financial statements from July 2005 through March 27, 2006. On March 27, 2006, Versant
sold its entire equity interest in Vanatec to a third party investor and entered into a joint ownership
agreement with Vanatec with respect to technology it had previously licensed to Vanatec (see Note 7 for a
more detailed description of the Vanatec transaction). As a result of this sale of its interest in Vanatec, as
of March 28, 2006, Versant is no longer required to consolidate the operating results of Vanatec.

In February 2006, Versant completed the sale of the assets associated with its WebSphere® consulting
practice to Sima Solutions, a newly formed privately held U.S. based corporation. Versant’s WebSphere
consulting practice provided consulting and training services to end-users of IBM’s WebSphere®
application server software. As a result of this transaction, Versant has ceased conducting its WebSphere
consulting practice. In connection with this transaction, twelve employees of Versant, who formerly worked
in Versant’s WebSphere consulting practice, left Versant to join Sima Solutions,

At fiscal year end 2006, Versant had a total of 76 employees.
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NOTE 2. .SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include 100% of the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and
cash flows of Versant and all entities in which Versant has a controlling voting interest (subsidiaries) and,
from July 2005 through March 27, 2006, the variable interest entity (VIE) required to be consolidated in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (see Note 7). Intercompany accounts and
transactions between consolidated companies have been eliminated in consolidation.

The financial position and operating results of foreign operations are consolidated using the local
currency as their functional currency. Local currency assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of
exchange on the balance sheet date, and local currency revenues and expenses are translated at average
rates of exchange during the period. Resulting translation gains or losses are included in the accompanying
consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
income, net.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (GAAP), requires management to make estimates and assumptions, which
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three
months or less at the time of purchase. The Company’s cash and other cash equivalents at October 31,
2006 and October 31, 2005 consisted of deposits in banks and money market funds. As of October 31, 2006
and 2005 cash balances held in foreign financial institutions were $7.0 million and $2.9 million,
respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company’s financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of
credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable. The Company
maintains its cash and cash equivalents with high quality financial institutions and invests in highly rated
short-term securities. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts resulting from the
inability of our customers to make required payments. The allowance was $62,000 and $114,000 at
October 31, 2006 and October 31, 2005, respectively. The amount of the Company’s allowance is based on
historical experience and an analysis of the current accounts receivable balances. Credit losses to date have
been within management’s expectations. However, actual results could differ from such estimates. As of
October 31, 2006 and October 31, 2005, there was one customer each year, the balance of whose accounts
exceeded 109% of aggregate accounts receivable.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, computed using the
straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally ranging from three to five
years. Depreciation commences upon placing the asset in service. Capital leases are recorded at the lesser
of the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of the lease or the present value of the minimum lease
payments as of the beginning of the lease term. Leased assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
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shorter of the useful life or the remaining lease term. The Company reviews its property and equipment for
impairment periodically or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of an asset may not be recoverable.

The following table summarizes the breakdown of the Company’s property and equipment as of
October 31, 2006 and QOctober 31, 2005 (in thousands):

As of October 31,

2006 _ 2005

COomputer €qUIPMENt .. .. o.vt it ii e $ 4,723 § 4295
Furniture and fIXIures. . oo vttt it it et it eneiisereraann 1,825 2,084
00 17 1 o~ OO PR 1,479 1,446
Leasehold improvements. . ............coiiininnrnniainn. 155 1,198
Capital leasesandothers......... ... ... oot 87 81

' 8,269 9,104
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization.............. (7,884) (8,615)

$ 385 § 489

Total depreciation expense for fiscal 2006, fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 were $203,000, $305,000, and
$1.6 million, respectively.

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in
business combinations. In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) approved the
issuance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets. SFAS No. 142 provides guidance on how to account for goodwill and certain intangible assets after
an acquisition is completed. As required by SFAS 142, Versant ceased amortizing its goodwill effective
November 1, 2002. Prior to November 1, 2002, the Company amortized goodwill over five years using the
straight-line method.

Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test. Versant uses the market approach to assess the fair
value of its goodwill and intangible assets, which is then compared to the carrying value of those assets to
test for impairment. The total fair value of Versant’s assets is estimated by summing the fair value of
Versant’s equity (as indicated by Versant publicly traded share price and shares outstanding plus a control
premium}, debt and current liabilities. Under this approach, if the estimated fair value of Versant’s assets
is greater than the carrying value of these assets, then there is no apparent goodwill impairment. If the
estimated fair value of Versant assets is less than the carrying value of these assets, then Versant allocates
the reporting unit’s estimated fair value to its assets and liabilities as though the reporting unit had just
been acquired in a business combination. The impairment loss is the amount, if any, by which the implied
fair value of goodwill is less than that reporting unit’s goodwill carrying amount and would be recorded in
earnings during the period of such impairment.

As the result of the aforementioned impairment test on August 25, 2004, Versant determined that the
carrying value of goodwill acquired through its acquisition of Mokume Software Inc., in November 2002
had been fully impaired. Consequently, during the three months ended July 31, 2004, the Company
recorded a charge of approximately $707,000 related to the write-off of remaining Mokume goodwill.

Further, due to a decline in the trading price of Versant’s common stock and revised revenue
projections in fiscal 2005, most notably for the FastObjects product line, the Company prepared an
updated valuation with regard to its goodwill as of July 31, 2005. The affected goodwill was acquired by
Versant as a result of its merger with Poet in March 2004, its acquisition of technology assets from JDO
Genie (PTY) Limited in June 2004, and its acquisition of FastObjects, Inc. in July 2004. Consequently, for
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the quarter ended July 31, 2005, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $10.3 million related to
the write down of its goodwill.

There were no goodwill impairment charges recorded during the year ended October 31, 2006.

For the purpose of testing for goodwill impairment in its single Data Management operating segment,
Versant has aggregated the goodwill for the following acquisitions:

Versant Europe, acquired in 1997;

Poet, acquired on March 18, 2004,
Technology of JDO Genie, acquired on June 30, 2004; and

FastObjects, Inc., acquired on July 6, 2004.
The goodwill balances as of October 31, 2006 and October 31, 2005, are as follows (in thousands):

As of October 31, 2006 As of October 31, 2005
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumuiated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amopunt Amouni Amortization Amount
Goodwill:

Versant Europe and India . . $3,277 $3,036 $ 241 $3,277 $3,036 $ 241
Poet Holdings, Inc. ........ 5,752 — 5752 5,752 — 5,752
FastObjects, Inc.. .......... 677 — 677 677 — 677
JDO Genie (PTY), LTD. . .. 50 — 50 50 — 50
Total ........covvvvnn.. $9,756 $3,036 $6,720 $9.756 $3.036 $6,720

Versant evaluates its long-lived assets, including intangible assets other than goodwill, for impairment
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets (SFAS 144). SFAS 144 requires that long-lived assets and intangible assets other than goodwill be
evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
an asset may not be recoverable. The recoverability test compares the carrying amount of the asset or asset
group to the expected undiscounted net cash flows to be generated by these assets. If the carrying amount
of the asset or asset group is less than the expected undiscounted net cash flows to be generated by these
assets, an impairment loss is recorded in earnings during the period of such impairment and is calculated
as the excess of the carrying amount of the asset or asset group over its estimated fair value.

Identifiable intangibles are currently amortized over five years in relation to the acquisition of
technology of JDO Genie (PTY) Ltd, six years in relation to the FastObjects, Inc. acquisition and seven
years in relation to the merger with Poet, using the straight-line method in each of these cases. Intangible
assets consist of acquired technology and customer relationships.

Versant tests and evaluates its intangible assets for impairment whenever indicators of potential
impairment are identified. As a result, on August 25, 2004, the Company determined that the carrying
value of intangible assets acquired through its acquisition of Mokume Software Inc. in November 2002 had
been fully impaired. Consequently, for the quarter ended July 31, 2004, the Company recorded a charge of
approximately $317,000 related to the write-off of remaining Mokume intangible assets.

Versant performed tests and valuations on its intangible assets on July 31, 2005. As a result, the
Company recorded a charge of $2.6 million related to the write down of intangible assets, of which
$2.4 million was recorded as impairment of Poet intangible assets and $232,000 was recorded as
impairment of FastObjects, Inc. intangible assets.

There were no impairments of long-lived assets during the year ended October 31, 2006.




The Company’s intangible assets’ balances as of October 31, 2006 and October 31, 2005 are as follows
(in thousands):

As of October 31, 2006 As of Qctober 31, 2005
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying  Accumulated  Carrying Carrying  Accumulated  Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Intangible assets:
Poet Holdings, Inc.
(Amortized over 7yrs) ...... $1,919 $1,076 $ 843 $1,919 $ 887 $1,032
JDO Genie (PTY), LTD.
(Amortized over 5yrs) ...... 550 257 293 550 146 404
FastObjects, Inc.
(Amortized over 6yrs) ...... 148 88 60 148 72 76
Total.............cooiiitn $2.617 $1,421 $1,196 $2,617 $1,105 $1,512

The projected amortization of intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

Amortization
Fiscal year ending October 31,

2007 L e e 315
2008 L e 315
2000 L e 279
2000 . e e 200
Thereafter. .. ... 87
8 $1,196
Revenue Recognition

Versant recognizes revenues in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition with
Respect to Certain Transactions, and SOP 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain
Production-Type Contracts. Revenues consist mainly of revenues earned under software license
agreements, maintenance support agreements (otherwise known as post-contract customer support,
“PCS™), and agreements for consulting and training activities.

Versant uses the residual method to recognize revenues when a license agreement includes one or
more elements to be delivered at a future date. If there is an undelivered element under the license
arrangement, Versant defers revenues based on vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of the fair
value of the undelivered elements, as determined by the price charged when the element is sold separately.
1f VSOE of fair value does not exist for all undelivered elements of a transaction, the Company defers all
revenues from that transaction until sufficient evidence exists or all elements have been delivered. Under
the residual method, discounts are allocated only to the delivered elements in a multiple element
arrangement, with any undelivered elements being deferred based on the VSOE of the value of such
undelivered elements. Versant typically does not offer discounts on future undeveloped products.

Revenues from software license arrangements, including prepaid license fees, are recognized when all
of the following criteria are met:

» Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists.

¢ Delivery has occurred and there are no future deliverables except PCS.
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¢ Fee is fixed and determinable. 1f we cannot conclude that a fee is fixed and determinable, then
assuming all other criteria have been met, revenues are recognized as payments become due in
accordance with paragraph 29 of SOP 97-2;

» Collection is probable. Probability of collection is assessed using the following customer
information: credit service reports, bank and trade references, public filings, and/or current
financial statements. Prior payment experience is reviewed on all existing customers. Payment terms
in excess of our standard payment terms of 30-90 days net are granted on an exception basis,
typically in situations where customers elect to purchase development and deployment licenses
simultaneously for an entire project and are attempting to align their payments with their
deployment schedules. Extended payment terms are only granted to customers with a proven ability
to pay at the time the order is received, and with prior approval of our senior management. In
accordance with paragraph 27 of SOP 97-2, the Company has an established history of collection,
without concessions, on longer-term receivables. The Company typically does not grant extended
payment terms beyond 90 days. I

If an acceptance period or other contingency exists, revenues are not recognized untit customer
acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period, or satisfaction of the contingency, as applicable. The
Company’s license fees are non-cancelable and non-refundable and Versant does not make concessions or
grant a refund for any unused amount. Also, the Company’s customer agreements for prepaid deployment
licenses do not make payment of the Company’s license fees contingent upon the actual deployment of its
software. Therefore, a customer’s delay or acceleration in its deployment schedule does not impact the
Company’s revenue recognition. Revenues from related PCS for all product lines are usually billed in
advance of the service being provided and are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the
term of the PCS, which is generally twelve months. In some cases PCS revenues are paid in arrears of the
service being provided and are recognized as revenues at the time the customer provides a report to the
Company for deployments made during a given time period. Training and consulting revenues are
recognized when a purchase order is received, the services have been performed and collection is deemed
probable. Consulting services are billed on an hourly, daily or monthly rate. Training classes are billed
based on group or individual attendance.

Versant categorizes its customers into two broad groups, End-Users and Value Added Resellers
(VARs). End User customers are companies who use the Company’s products internally and do not
redistribute the product outside of their corporate organizations. VAR customers include traditional
Value Added Resellers, Systems Integrators, OEMs and other vendors who redistribute the Company’s
products to their external third party customers, either individually or as part of an integrated product.
Versant licenses its data management products through two types of perpetual licenses—development and
test licenses and deployment licenses. Development and test licenses are typically sold on a per seat basis
and authorize a customer to develop and test an application program that uses the Company’s software
product. Before an End-User customer may deploy an application that it has developed under our
development license, it must purchase deployment licenses based on the number of computers connected
to the server that will run the application using the Company’s database management system. For certain
applications, the Company offers deployment licenses priced on a per user basis. Pricing of Versant Object
Database and FastObjects licenses varies according to several factors, including the number of computer
servers on which the application runs and the number of users that are able to access the server at any one
time. Customers may elect to simultaneously purchase development and deployment licenses for an entire
project. These development and deployment licenses may also provide for prepayment of a nonrefundable
amount for future deployment

VARs and distributors purchase development licenses from the Company on a per seat basis on terms
similar to those of development licenses sold directly to End-Users. VARs are authorized to sublicense
deployment copies of the Company’s data management products that are either bundled or embedded in
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the VAR’s applications and sold directly to End-Users. VARs are required to report their distribution of
Versant’s software and are charged a royaity that is based either on the number of copies of its application
software that are distributed or computed as a percentage of the selling price charged by the VARSs to their
end-user customers. These royalties from VARs may be prepaid in full or paid upon deployment. Provided
that all other conditions for revenue recognition have been met, revenues from arrangements with VARs
are recognized, (i) as to prepaid license arrangements, when the prepaid licenses are sold to the VARSs,
and (ii) as to other license arrangements, at the time the VAR provides a royalty report to the Company
for sales made by the VAR during a given period.

Revenues from the resale of third-party products or services are recorded at total contract value with
the corresponding cost included in the cost of sales when the Company acts as a principal in these
transactions by assuming the risks and rewards of ownership (including the risk of loss for collection,
delivery or returns). When Versant does not assume the risks and rewards of ownership, revenues from the
resale of third-party products or services are recorded at contract value net of the cost of sales. .

In rare cases that a customer requests engineering work for porting the Company’s products to an
unsupported platform or customization of its software for specific functionality, or any other non-routine
technical work, Versant recognizes revenues in accordance with SOP 81-1 and uses either time and
material percentage of completion or completed contract methods for recognizing revenues. The Company
uses the percentage of completion method if the Company can make reasonable and dependable estimates
of labor costs and hours required to complete the work in question. Versant periodically reviews these
estimates in connection with work performed and rates actually charged and recognizes any losses when
identified. Progress to completion is determined using the cost-to-cost method, whereby cost incurred to
date as a percentage of total estimated cost determines the percentage completed and revenue recognized.
When using the percentage of completion method, the following conditions must exist:

¢ An agreement must include provisions that clearly specify the rights regarding goods or services to
be provided and received by both parties, the consideration to be exchanged and the manner and
terms of settlement.

+ The customers are able to satisfy their obligations under the contract.
+ Versant is able to satisfy its obligations under the contract.

The completed contract method is used when reasonable or dependable estimates cannot be made. As
a result, in such situations, the Company defers all revenues until such time that the work is fully
completed.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currencies of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are their respective local currencies.
The Company translates the assets and liabilities of international subsidiaries into the U.S. Dollar at the
current exchange rates in effect during each period. Revenues and expenses are translated using rates that
approximate the average of those in effect during the period. Gains and losses from translation
adjustments are included in stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheet caption as other
comprehensive income.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) consists entirely of cumulative translation adjustments resulting
from the Company’s application of its foreign currency translation policy and unrealized gains (losses) on
marketable securities. The tax effects on the unrealized gains (losses) were not significant during any of the
periods presented.




The following table summarizes the breakdown of other comprehensive loss for the years ended
October 31, 2006, October 31, 2005 and October 31, 2004 (in thousands):

Fiscal year ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004
Net income (loss),asreported ...........oovvnnn $4,301  $(14,554) $(11,997)
Foreign currency translation adjustment. ........... 125 {(173) 547
Other comprehensive income (loss). ............. $4,426  $(14,727) $(11,450)

Warranties and Indemnification Obligations

The Company recognizes warranty and indemnification obligations under FASB Statement No. 5 (As
Amended), Accounting for Contingencies, FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN”} 45, Guarantor’s Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others and
FASB Concepts Statement No. (“SFAC”) 7 (As Amended), Using Cash Flow Information and Present
Value in Accounting Measurements. These pronouncements require a guarantor to recognize and disclose a
liability for obligations it has undertaken in relation to the issuance of the guarantee.

The Company’s software license agreements generally include certain provisions for indemnifying
customers against liabilities if the Company’s software products infringe upon a third party’s intellectual
property rights. To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of any
indemnification; therefore, the Company has not accrued any expenses for such indemnity liabilities either
in the U.S, or Europe.

The Company’s software license agreements also generally include a warranty that the Company’s
software products will substantially operate as described in the applicable program documentation. The
Company also warrants that services the Company performs will be provided in a manner consistent with
industry standards. To date, Versant has not incurred any material costs associated with these warranties,
and as such the Company has not provided for any reserves for any such warranty liabilities in its U.S.
operation results,

In Europe, however, there is typically a one-year warranty period for all the Company’s products and
services, During fiscal 2006, Versant completed a significant consulting arrangement for which the
Company recorded a $117,000 warranty reserve. As a result, Versant has a total warranty reserve of
$136,000 as of October 31, 2006 compared to $8,000 at October 31, 2005, based on historical experience
and expected need.

The Company is currently a party to litigation in which Rockwell Automation, one of Versant’s
customers, is seeking indemnification from the Company for alleged infringement of intellectual property
rights asserted against it by Systems America, Inc. Versant has not accrued for a loss contingency, as the
Company is contesting legally the allegations and unable to estimate a loss amount under FASB Statement
No. 5.
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Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts received from customers under certain maintenance, software
and service contracts for which the revenue earning process has not been completed and revenue has not
been recognized. The deferred revenues will be recognized ratably over the life of the contract or when the
service is rendered and the Company has satisfied all the revenue recognition criteria.

As of October 31,

2006 2005
M AT, ot vttt ettt e e ne it e e e $3,769 $2,910
Training and consulting . ... ... .. i ) 56 53
4170 721 R N P $3.825 $2,963

Accrued Liabilities

The breakdown of short-term and long-term accrued liabilities for the fiscal years ended October 3'1,
2006 and October 31, 2005 were as follows:

As of October 31,

2006 2005
Payrollandrelated . .......oovniniino e . % 898 § 725
Customer deposits. . ... vv i e 131 92
Taxespayable. ... I 357 —
Restructuring accruial o ..o iieinn i 448 1,181
11 T-> o 529 1,117
0 o | PP PSP $2,363  $3,115

Software Development Costs

Software development costs is included in product development and is expensed as incurred. After
technological feasibility is established, material software development costs are capitalized in accordance
with SFAS No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed.
The period between achieving technological feasibility, which Versant has defined as the establishment of
a working model, typically occurring when the beta testing commences, and the general availability of such
software has been short, and software development costs qualifying for capitalization have been
insignificant. No software development costs have been capitalized for the periods ended October 31, 2006
and October 30, 2005 since the timing of achieving technological feasibility and general availability has not
been materially different. '

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes based on Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Under the asset and
liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets
and liabilities. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce tax assets to an amount for which
realization is more likely than not. The Company has recorded a valuation allowance for substantially all of
its deferred tax assets, except to the extent of deferred tax liabilities, as it is presently unable to conclude
that it is more likely than not those net deferred tax assets will be realized.
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Stock-Based Compensation

On November 1, 2006, Versant adopted the fair value recognition provisions of FASB Statement
No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, and Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 107 (“SAB 107”), using the modified-prospective transition method. (See Note 3).

Prior to fiscal 2006, Versant accounted for stock issued to employees in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, as interpreted by FIN 44,
Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation and complied with the disclosure provision
of SFAS No.123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Under APB No. 25, compensation expense was
based on the difference, if any, on the date of the grant, between the fair value of the Company’s stock and
the exercise price of the option. Stock compensation was amortized over the vesting period of the individual
awards in a manner consistent with the method described in FASB Interpretation No. 28, Accounting for
Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option Award Plus. In addition, the Company accounted
for stock issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123. Pursuant to SFAS 123,
stock-based compensation is accounted for at the fair value of the equity instruments issued, or at the fair
value of the consideration received, whichever is more reliably measurable.

Pursuant to SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure, the
Company is required to disclose the pro forma effects of stock-based compensation on net income and net
income per share as if the company had elected to use the fair value approach to account for all of its
employee stock-based compensation plans. If the compensation cost of the Company’s plans had been
determined under the fair value approach in accordance with SFAS No. 123, the Company’s pro forma net
loss and pro forma net loss per share during the fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 would have been (in thousands,
except per share amounts) as follows:

Fiscal year ended
October 31,
2005 2004
Net income (loss), asreported .............. ... .. it $(14,554) $(11,997)
Stock based compensation under APB25. . .......... L 96 86
Compensation expense under SFAS 123 related to:
Stockoptionplans. .......... ..o i (425) (656)
Employee stock purchase plan .............ooiuina {46) (157)
Pro forma net income (loss) ........... ..o $(14,929) $(12,724)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share:
Asteported. .. ... $ 411) $ (3.85)
Proforma ... ... i e $ (422) $ (4.08)

Segment and Geographic Information

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information establishes standards for the manner in which public companies report
information about operating segments in annual and interim financial statements. It also establishes
standards for related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas, and major customers. The
method for determining what information to report is based on the way management organizes the operating
segments within the Company for making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. The
Company’s chief operating decision-maker is considered to be the Company’s chief exceutive officer (CEO).
The CEO reviews financial information presented on an entity level basis accompanied by non-aggregated
information about revenues by product type and certain information about geographic regions for purposes
of making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. The entity level financial information is
identical to the information presented in the accompanying statements of operations. Therefore, the
Company has determined that it operates in a single operating segment, Data Management.
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The Company operates in North America, Europe and Asia. In general, revenues are attributed to the
country in which the contract originates,

The following tables summarize revenues and long-lived assets by each geographic region (in
thousands):

Fiscal year ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004
Revenues by region:
North America. . .......ooovvi it e $ 6175 $ 5306 $ 9,278
BUIOPE. ..ot 10,138 10,087 7,690
ASI .. e 432 353 729 -
<] ) S $16,745 $15,746 $17,697

Fiscal year ended

October 31,

2006 2005
Total long-lived assets by region:
NOrth AMETICA. . ..ottt iiaiin s 3161 $496
BUIOPe. . i e e e e 173 183
- 37 T o113 104
1) A $447  $783

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 154, Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections. This new standard replaces APB Opinion 20, Accounting Changes and SFAS 3, Reporting
Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. Among other changes, SFAS 154 requires that a
voluntary change in accounting principle be applied retrospectively with all prior period financial
statements presented on the new accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to do so. SFAS 154 also
provides that a change in method of depreciating or amortizing a long-lived non-financial asset be
accounted for as a change in estimate (prospectively) that was effected by a change in accounting principle,
and that corrections of previously issued financial statements should be termed a restaternent. The new
standard is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. Adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

In November 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FSP No. FAS 123(R)-3,
“Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards”. This
FSP provides a practical transition election related to accounting for the tax effects of share-based
payment awards to employees, as an alternative to the transition guidance for the APIC pool in
paragraph 81 of Statement 123(R). The guidance in this FSP is effective after November 10, 2005 as posted
in the FASB website. The Company may take up to one year from the later of adoption of SFAS 123(R) or
the effective date of this FSP to evaluate its available transition alternatives and make its one-time
election. The Company will evaluate this guidance, but does not expect a material impact on its results of
operations or financial position. '

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48).
FIN 48 seeks to reduce the significant diversity in practice associated with financial statement recognition
and measurement in accounting for income taxes. In recognition that a period of six to nine months would
be needed to initially apply FIN 48, the effective date of FIN 48 is the first fiscal year beginning after
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December 15, 2006, with early adoption encouraged. The Company is currently in the process of
evaluating the impact that the adoption of FIN 48 will have on its financial position, results of operations
and cash flows. FIN 48 will become effective for us with our fiscal year beginning November 1, 2007.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement 157, Fair Value Measurements, (FAS 157). This
statement clarifies the definition of fair value, the methods used to measure fair value, and requires
expanded financial statement disclosures about fair value measurements for assets and liabilities. FAS 157
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The new
guidance will be effective for us on November 1, 2008 and the Company is currently assessing the impact
on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC’s Office of the Chief Accountant and Divisions of Corporation Finance
and Investment Management released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (SAB 108), which provides
interpretive guidance on how registrants should quantify financial-staterment misstatements. Currently, the
two methods most commonly used by preparers and auditors to quantify misstatements are the “rollover”
method (which focuses primarily on the income statement impact of misstatements) and the “iron curtain”
method (which focuses primarily on the balance sheet impact of misstatements). Under SAB 108,
registrants will be required to consider both the roflover and iron curtain methods (i.e., a dual approach)
when evaluating the materiality of financial statement errors. Registrants will need to revisit their prior
materiality assessments and consider them using both the rollover and iron curtain methods.

SAB 108 is effective for annual financial statements in the first fiscal year ending after November 15,
2006, therefore for us, the year ended October 31, 2007. The SAB provides transition accounting and
disclosure guidance for situations in which a registrant concludes that a material error(s) existed in prior-
period financial statements under the dual approach. Specifically, registrants will be permitted to restate
prior period financial statements or recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying SAB 108 through
an adjustment to beginning retained earnings in the year of adoption. The Company believes SAB 108 will
not have a material impact on its annual financial statements,

NOTE 3. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Versant maintains a 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, which is a successor and replacement to the
Company’s 1996 Equity Incentive Plan. The 2005 Equity Incentive Plan was approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the Company’s annual meeting of shareholders held on August 22, 2005. The standard
term of stock options granted pursuant to the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and its 1996 predecessor plan is
ten years from the date of grant (subject to earlier termination if the option holder ceases to be employed
or otherwise ceases to have a service relationship with the Company). Under the standard vesting schedule
for options granted under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and its predecessor 1996 Plan, for so long as the -
option holder continues to be employed by or otherwise provide services to the Company, options vest and
become exercisable in installments over a three-year period, with 25% of the shares subject to the option
vesting and becoming exercisable on the date nine months after the option was granted and 1/27 of the
remaining 75% of the option shares vesting each month thereafter over the next 27 months.

Versant also maintains a 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan, which is a successor and replacement to
the Company’s 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan, The 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan was approved by
the Company’s shareholders at the Company’s annual meeting of shareholders held on August 22, 2005.
Options granted under the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan and its predecessor 1996 plan are
immediately exercisable. However, if a director ceases to be a member of the Company’s board of directors
or a consultant to the Company at any time within the two-year period after he or she is granted an option
under these plans, then any shares the director purchases upon exercise of such options that are unvested
when he or she ceases to be a director or a consultant may, at the Company’s option, be repurchased by the
Company at their original purchase price per share. Under the standard vesting schedule for options
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granted under the 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan and its predecessor 1996 plan, for so long as the
option holder continuously serves as a member of the Company’s board of directors or as a consultant,
50% of the shares subject to an option granted to such director under these plans will vest free of the
Company’s repurchase option on each of the first two anniversaries of the date such option is granted.

Lastly, the Company maintains a 2005 Stock Purchase Plan, which is a successor and replacement to
the Company’s 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The 2005 Stock Purchase Plan was approved by the
Company’s shareholders at the Company’s annual meeting of shareholders held on August 22, 2005. The
1996 Stock Purchase Plan remained in effect until late May 2006 when it expired and was replaced by the
Company’s 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan effective June 1, 2006. Under the 1996 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan, each offering of common shares thereunder was for a period of twenty-four months,
consisting of four six-month purchase periods. Under the 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, each
offering of common shares thereunder is for a petiod of twelve months, consisting of two six-month
purchase periods. The purchase price of shares, which employees may acquire at any purchase period, is
85% of the lesser of either of the following: the fair market value of the shares on the offering date; or the
fair market value of the shares on the purchase date.

A more detailed description of each of the above-mentioned stock and stock option plans can be
found in Note 12 of these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Prior to November 1, 2005, Versant accounted for stock issued to employees in accordance with the
recognition and measurement provisions of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,
and its related Interpretations, as permitted by FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation. For fiscal 2005, the Company atso did not record any compensation expense in connection
with its Employee Stock Purchase Plan since the purchase price of the stock was 85% of the lower of the
fair market value of its common stock at the beginning or the end of each offering period.

Effective November 1, 2005, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of FASB
Statement No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, and Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 107 (“SAB 107"), using the modified-prospective transition method. Under the modified-
prospective transition method, the recognized compensation costs during fiscal 2006 include the following
components:

First, compensation cost for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of
November 1, 2005, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions
of SFAS 123.

Second, compensation cost for all share-based payments granted or modified subsequent to
November 1, 2003, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
123(R).

Versant uses straight-line vesting attribution to evenly distribute the compensation cost over the
requisite service period.

SFAS 123(R) requires companies to estimate forfeiture rates at the time of grant and to revise these
estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeiture rates differ from those estimates. Versant applies the
forfeiture rate to the unvested portion of the option valuation and performs a true up for the amount of the
valuation to be recorded if the actual forfeiture rate is different from the one applied on prior periods. The
current forfeiture rate for the unvested portion of the option valuation recognized as of October 31, 2006 is
20%.

Versant estimates the fair value of employee stock options and rights to purchase shares under its
employee stock purchase plan, or “ESPP” using a Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. This is consistent
with the provisions of SFAS 123(R), SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. (“SAB”) 107, Share-Based
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Payment, and the Company’s prior period pro forma disclosures of net income (loss), including share-
based compensation.

The purchase price of shares which employees may acquire under the Company’s employee stock
purchase plan, or ESPP, at any purchase period, is 85% of the lesser of either of the following: the fair
market value of the shares on the offering date or the fair market value of the shares on the purchase date.
Since the 85% threshold is no longer a safe harbor under SFAS 123(R), Versant records compensation
expense based on the estimated fair value of the shares granted under the ESPP.

Versant uses a historical model to arrive at the expected life of its options, but it takes into
consideration other factors that could possibly impact the future expected life of the options. As of
October 31, 2006, the Company determined that the estimated expected life of an employee share option
granted under the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan was 2.2 years.

The expected life for the options granted to the board members under the Directors Plan, who are not
full time employees of Versant, is 5.75 years. Versant used the simplified method allowed by SAB 107 to
arrive at this calculation. Under the simplified method, the expected term is equal to vesting term plus
original contractual term divided by two.

Versant uses the U.S. Treasury Strip rates listed on the last Thursday of every month on The Wall
Street Journal 1o compute risk-free interest rate.

Versant uses the historical volatility over the expected term of the options to estimate the expected
volatility. The Company, however, takes into account other current information available to determine the
expected volatility. Versant believes that the historical volatility, at this time, represents fairly the future
volatility of its common stock,

Versant currently does not expect to receive any tax benefits in fiscal 2006 related to stock options or
shares issued under its ESPP. Versant currently provides a full valuation allowance for its deferred tax
assets and accordingly, a valuation allowance is also provided for any tax effects of stock-based
compensation expense pursuant to SFAS 123(R).

Versant has not distributed any dividend to its common shareholders and does not expect to do so in
the near future,

The fair values of each option granted and each share issued under the ESPP are estimated on the
date of grant, using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, based on the following weighted average
assumptions:

Stock Options ESPP
Fiscal year ended October 31, Fiscal year ended October 31,
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Expected life (inycars) . . ........... 2.2-5.75 years 3 years 3 years 6 months 6 months 0.5-2 years
Weighted-average Risk-free interest
TAMC L\ e e e e 428% -5.23% 3.30%-3.81% 278% 3.2% -4.76% 3.30%-3.81% 1.97%
Volatility . .. ... ooii i 87% -115% 115% 129% 72%-83% 115% 145%

Dividend yield. . .................. — — — — — —

Stock-based compensation expense recognized under SFAS 123(R) in the consolidated income
statements for the fiscal 2006 related to stock options and ESPP were $192,000 and $44,000, respectively.

. ; '
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The following table summarizes the changes in stock option activities under the Company’s equity-
based compensation plan during fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005, respectively:

Fiscal vear ended October 31,

2006 2005
Shares Weighted average Shares Weighted average
in thousands exercise price in thousands exercise price

Outstanding at the beginning of the period. . 30 $24.90 460 $31.20

Granted ... 68 5.65 89 7.34

Exercised. ..., (26) 5.01 (53) 513

Forfeited and Expired. ................. (158) 29.40 (195) 37.03
Qutstanding at the end of the period ....... 185 $16.91 301 $24.90
Vested options at the end of the fiscal year

SINCE INCEPLON ..ot vvvvvnn v eriaerraens 301 $31.19 395 $33.44
Options exercised at the end of the fiscal year

since inception ........ ..ol 193 $36.72 168 $39.83
Options exercisable at the end of the fiscal

22 115 $20.97 249 $27.43

The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable options as of
October 31, 2006:

Options Qutstandin Options Exercisabl
Number Weighted average Weighted Number Weighted average Weighted
outstanding at remaining average exercisable at remaining average
Exercise Prices October 31, 2006 _ contractual life price October 31, 2006 _contractual life price
From $3.001086.00 ........ 50,707 7.56 $ 429 36,818 6.99 $ 451
From $6.1010 8990 ........ 80,823 8.62 7.12 25,986 7.24 7.98
From $9.20to $16.00. .. ... .. 19,963 5.66 11.92 19,436 5.61 11.93
From $17.19 to $40.00. . . .. .. 20,065 n 26.79 19,899 5.09 26.84
From $342.00t0 $122.2....... 11,842 330 86.49 11,842 3.30 86.49
From $180.00 10 $1,287.00 ... 1,190 233 444.59 1,190 233 444.59
184,590 725 $ 16.89 115,171 6,03 § 23.38

The summary of the status of Versant’s nonvested shares as of October 31, 2006 and changes during
the fiscal year ended October 31, 2006 is as follows:

Weighted-average

grant- date

Nonvested shares Shares fair value
(in thousand}

Nonvested at October 31,2005 . .. ... .. ..coevunr . 73 $3.47
Granted. .. oo e e e e e 68 3.40
Vested ..o e e (53) 3.14
Forfeited . .. .o e e et (i) 2.75
Nonvested at Qctober 31,2006, . ... ieeeaaaein 77 $3.72

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during fiscal 2006, fiscal 2005 and fiscal
2004 were $3.40, $6.04, and $3.19, respectively. The total fair vaiue of shares granted during fiscal 2006,
fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 were $231,000, $529,000 and $615,000, respectively. The aggregated intrinsic
values of options exercised during fiscal 2006, fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 were $120,000, $158,000 and
$203,000, respectively. The total fair value of shares vested during fiscal 2006, fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004
were $167,000, $316,000 and $464,000, respectively.
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The total unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested options were $253,000 at
October 31, 2006 and October 31, 2005 and will be recognized using the straight-line attribution method
ratably for the subsequent three years. We will, however, adjust total stock-based compensation cost for
changes in estimated forfeiture rates and true-ups.

NOTE 4. ACQUISITIONS
Poet Holdings, Inc.

On March 18, 2004, Poet Holdings, Inc., or Poet, was merged with a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. As a result of this merger, Poet became a wholly owned subsidiary of Versant. The merger with
Poet was consummated to obtain a broader object database product suite and thereby increase the size and
variety of Versant’s customer base, as well as to capitalize on Poet’s strong European presence and bring
Poet’s cash assets into the merged company. The total purchase price was $29,967,916, and consisted of the
following: a) a total of 15,525,342 shares of Versant common stock, valued at $25,927,321, using a fair
value per share of $1.67 per share, which were exchanged for 11,089,542 shares of Poet common stock;

b) options to purchase a total of 1,784,780 shares of Versant common stock, valued at $2,402,825 (reduced
by the intrinsic value of unvested assumed options in the amount of $299,546) which were issued upon the
conversion and assumption of 1,274,834 options to purchase shares of Poet common stock in the merger;
and c) direct transaction costs of $1,937,316. The fair value per Versant share of $1.67 was computed using
Versant’s average stock-price five days before and five days after the acquisition, eliminating the high and
the low prices in that date range. The results of operations of Poet Holdings are included in Versant’s
statement of operations from March 18, 2004 onwards.

FastObjects, Inc.

On July 6, 2004, the Company acquired FastObjects, Inc., then the exclusive US and Canadian
distributor for Poet’s FastObjects database management products. The acquisition of FastObjects was part
of the post-merger process of integrating Versant and Poet’s businesses. Prior to the acquisition, a Poet
subsidiary owned preferred shares of FastObjects, Inc. representing approximately 19% of FastObjects’
stock. In 2002, prior to its merger with Versant in March 2004, Poet had granted FastObjects, Inc.
exclusive North American distribution rights for Poet’s FastObjects product. This acquisition allowed
Versant to re-acquire those rights and bring the FastObjects product back into its regional distribution
network in North America. The total purchase price was $636,249 and consisted of the following: a) pre-
existing investment of 199% ownership in FastObjects, Inc. of $300,000; b) increase in investment of
$35,020, based on conversion from cost to equity method of accounting; ¢} net cash of $277,730, which
includes a payment of $540,974 to the shareholders of Fast Objects, Inc, less cash of $263,244 received
from Fast Objects; and d) direct transaction costs of $23,499.

JDO Genie

On June 30, 2004, Versant purchased the JDO Genie product line and its customers from JDO Genie
(PTY) Ltd., or JDO Genie, a privately held South African company. The JDO Genie product and
technology provides a solution that can serve as the foundation for multiple data access products
connecting applications to both object and relational databases. This arrangement also included a one-year
consulting contract with the JDO Genie development team, which included objective-based bonus
payments totaling $250,000. These amounts were expensed as incurred and not included as part of the
purchase price. The original purchase price recorded by the Company was $525,000, and consisted of the
following: a) a cash payment of $ 200,000 made in July of 2004; and b} a contingent deferred cash payment
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of $325,000. Under the terms of the agreement, the deferred portion of the purchase price payable to JDO
Genie (PTY) Ltd was to be either:

a. 230,150 restricted shares of Versant common stock (then valued at $400,000), if JDO Genie
(PTY) Ltd received formal written approval to receive such shares from the South African
Reserve Bank; or

b. Had the South African Reserve Bank not provided such formal approval within a defined time
period after the closing of the transaction (which time period was subsequently extended by the
mutual agreement of the parties) then in lieu of the shares, Versant would have had to pay JDO
Genie (PTY) Ltd $325,000 in cash on June 30, 2005.

On January 14, 2003, the South African Reserve Bank approved the issuance of the Versant common
shares to JDO Genie. Consequently, Versant issued the 230,150 common shares to JDO Genie in
March 2005. As a result, an adjustment of the purchase price for the JDO Genie asset purchase was
recorded during the quarter ending January 31, 2005, which resulted in an increase in purchase price of
$75,000 ($50,000 of which was recorded as goodwill and the remaining $25,000 was allocated to intangible
assets). '

As a result of the above, the total adjusted purchase price was $600,000, and consisted of the
following: a) a cash payment of $200,000 made in July of 2004; and b) 230,150 common shares of Versant
that were issued in March 2005. The results of operations of the JDO Genie product business are included
in Versant’s statement of operations from June 30, 2004 onwards.

Pro forma results of operations

The pro forma condensed consolidated statements of operations for fiscal 2004 is presented below as
if the merger with Poet and the acquisition of FastObjects, Inc. had occurred on November 1, 2003. These
pro forma figures do not include amounts related to the JDO Genie acquisition, as they are unavailable (in
thousands except per share data):

Fiscal Year Ended

October 31,
2004
REVEIIUES. .« ottt r e et ettt e e ian e $20,757
Net income (0S5} . .. oo v vei e, P $ (8,587)
Net income (loss) pershare. . ...ovvvei i e eeas $ (2.75)

NOTE 5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On February 1, 2006 Versant completed the sale of the assets associated with its WebSphere
consulting practice to Sima Solutions (“Sima”), a privately held U.S. based company. Versant’s WebSphere
practice provided consulting and training services to end-users of IBM’s WebSphere® application server
software. As a result of this transaction, Versant ceased conducting its WebSphere practice. In connection
with Versant’s sale of its WebSphere assets, certain employees of Versant, who formerly worked in
Versant’s WebSphere Practice, joined Sima.

The WebSphere transaction, based on SFAS 144, Impairments of Long-Lived Assets and Discontinued
Operations, met the criteria of a long-lived asset (disposal group) held for sale at the end of the first
quarter ended January 31, 2006. As a resuit, Versant has reflected the results of operations of its
WebSphere consulting practice for fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 as discontinued operations. Therefore,
reported revenues for these periods no longer include any revenues from the WebSphere consulting
practice. The results from the discontinued WebSphere operations, however, are reported as net income
from discontinued operations, net of income taxes.
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The sale of Versant’s WebSphere consulting practice assets was consummated pursuant to an Asset
Purchase Agreement dated February 1, 2006 (the “Sale Agreement”) between Versant and Sima. Pursuant
to the Sale Agreement, Sima acquired assets, consisting principally of certain contracts with customers,
contractors and business partners of Versant’s WebSphere consulting practice, an office lease in the
Chicago, Illinois area, certain office equipment, customer lists, marketing information and marketing
collateral. In exchange for these assets, Sima assumed certain liabilities associated with the WebSphere
consulting practice, paid Versant $500,000 in cash and agreed to make certain contingent cash “earn-out”
payments to Versant based on varying percentages of the revenues Sima collects from its operation of the
WebSphere practice during the 24-month period immediately following closing of this transaction,
substantially as follows:

» During the first twelve months following the closing of the sale to Sima (the “First Year”), Sima has
agreed to pay Versant: (i} 12% of the first $3.74 million of earn-out revenue colltected during the
First Year, if any; (ii) 5% of the next $2.0 million of earn-out revenue collected during the First
Year, if any; and (iii) 2% of any other earn-out revenue collected during the First Year in excess of
$5.74 million.

¢ During the second twelve months immediately following the First Year (the “Second Year”), Sima
has agreed to pay Versant: (i) 12% of the first $3.74 million of earn-out revenue collected during
the Second Year, if any; (ii) 5% of the next $2.0 million of earn-out revenue collected during the
Second Year, if any; and (iii) 2% of any other earn-out revenue collected during the Second Year in
excess of $5.74 million.

The above earn-out payment formula is subject to certain adjustments, including adjustments which
reduce the dollar thresholds at which the percentages of earn-out revenue are to be paid under the above
formula if certain former Versant employees do not remain employed by Sima for a certain time period
following the closing of the WebSphere transaction. Versant expects some normal attrition on the number
of the former employees of Versant, who are currently working for Sima. Any potential earn-out payments
will be recognized if and when achieved during fiscal 2007 and beyond.

The WebSphere sale transaction was reflected in the quarter ending April 30, 2006, and during the
quarters ending April 30, July 31 and October 31, 2006, Versant recorded $41,000, $90,700 and $118,000,
respectively, in royalties from WebSphere as income from discontinued operations. The following table
reflects the gain from the disposal of the discontinued WebSphere operation and earnings from
discontinued operations, net of income taxes for WebSphere.

Fiscal Year Ended

October 31,

2006

WebSphere salesproceeds. ... ... ... e 3500
Leasecancellation.............. .. o il (24)
Legalfees ..o i (8)
Gain from sale of discontinued operations, net of income taxes. . . %
WebSphere Quarterly royalty Q22006 ...................ooo.n. $ 41
WebSphere Quarterly royalty Q32006 .. ........................ 91
WebSphere Quarterly royalty Q42006 .......................... 118
Other WebSphere revenues, netof expenses. .................... (19)
Net income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes. .. $231
Total .o e e $699
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In September 2004, the Company completed its sale of all the stock of Poet GmbH, an indirect
Versant subsidiary that owned the assets and employed the personnel of Versant’s Catalog Solutions
Business (the “Catalog Business”) to ems ePublishing AG, a privately held German company based in
Karlsruhe, Germany (“EMS”). The sale was consummated pursuant to a Share Purchase and Transfer
Agreement dated September 13, 2004 (the “Sale Agreement”) between EMS and Poet Software GmbH,
another subsidiary of Versant (“Poet Software”) that owned all the shares of Poet GmbH. Pursuant to the -
Sale Agreement, EMS agreed to assume the operations of the Catalog Business.

The Catalog Business was originated by Poet and acquired by Versant in connection with its
March 2004 merger with Poet. This business involved the development and sale of software product lines
that enable companies to create, manage, customize and distribute electronic sales catalogs to conduct
business-to-business e-commerce transactions. The principal assets disposed of in the sale of the Catalog
Business to EMS include the X-Solutions and eSupplier Solutions product lines, including the Poet X-Buy,
Poet X-Market, Poet X-Sell, Poet eSupplier Port, Poet eSupplier Web and Poet eSupplier Link products,
related rights to those products and customer agreements of the Catalog Business as well as the transfer of
Catalog Business personnel. Pursuant to the Sale Agreement, it was also agreed that Poet GmbH (now
owned by EMS) may use the “Poet” trade name and mark in connection with data processing and software
businesses and that Versant, its subsidiary Poet Holdings, Inc. and their affiliates would cease their use of
the “Poet” trade name or mark effective as of January 1, 2005. In addition, pursuant to the Sale
Agreement Poet Software granted Poet GmbH certain non-exclusive rights to certain Poet database
software for use with certain existing Poet GmbH customer contracts.

In exchange for the shares of Poet GmbH, EMS paid Poet Software a closing cash payment of
1,000,000 euros and paid a further 172,000 euros for a total of 1,172,000 euros cash consideration (or
approximately $1.4 million USD). In addition EMS agreed to pay a royalty on future revenues of Poet
GmbH’s Catalog Business over the ten-month period following the signing of the Sale Agreement in an
amount equal to 30% of all Poet GmbH’s Catalog Solutions Business revenues which: (a) exceeded
800,000 euros (or approximately $1.0 million) during the period from September 1, 2004 to December 31,
2004; (b) exceeded 600,000 euros (or approximately $786,000) during the period from January 1, 2005 to
March 31, 2005; and (c) exceeded 600,000 euros (or approximately $786,000) during the period from
April 1, 2005 to June 30, 2005. Versant had not received any royalties from EMS pursuant to the Sale
Agreement referred to above as of October 31, 2006.

NOTE 6. RESTRUCTURING

Versant has undergone several restructuring programs since fiscal 2004 with the intent of reducing
ongoing operating costs.

Fiscal 2005

In June 2005, Versant committed to and began implementing a restructuring program to realign its
resources to focus on its Versant Object Database product. Versant assessed its product portfolio and
associated research and development efforts and expenditures, and then streamlined the rest of its
operations to support those reassessments. Versant planned to spin off and eliminate marginally profitable
or non-strategic products lines, consolidate development activities, eliminate four management positions
and certain duplicate positions in marketing functions and programs, and centralize its sales support
functions.

In July 2005, Versant, through its subsidiary Versant GmbH, entered into certain agreements to effect
a spin-off of tangible assets, technology rights and contracts related to its Versant Open Access NET
(“VOA.NET”) business to Vanatec GmbH (“Vanatec”), a then newly formed privately held German
based company. In connection with that spin-off, seven former Versant employees departed Versant to
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join Vanatec, and a partnership formed by those individuals, received an 80.4% equity interest in Vanatec,
with Versant retaining the remaining 19.6% equity interest. In connection with that spin-off, on July 29,
2005, Versant committed to provide funding to Vanatec in a total amount not to exceed 425,000 euros (or
$520,000) in two equal installments of 212,500 euros (or $260,000) each on August 3, 2005 and

November 3, 2005, which Versant contributed to Vanatec. In addition, during the three months ended
July 31, 2005, Versant contributed 25,000 euros {or $30,000) to Vanatec; therefore, the total cash capital
contributed and committed by Versant to Vanatec was 450,000 euros {or $550,000). VOA.NET was one of
the aforementioned non-strategic product lines which Versant decided to spin off as part of its
restructuring efforts designed to enable Versant to focus on its core database business and progress
towards its long-term profitability goal.

Versant determined that equity at risk in Vanatec is not sufficient to permit it to finance its activities
without additional subordinated financial support; therefore, Versant determined that Vanatec was a
variable interest entity in accordance with FIN 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (As
Amended). Vanatec results were included in Versant's consolidated financial statements from July 2005
through March 27, 2006 in which the criteria of FIN 46(R) for consolidation are met. Accordingly, a
variable interest entity liability in the amount of $137,000 was recorded in Versant’s accompanying
condensed consolidated balance sheet as of October 31, 2005 reflecting the 80.4% equity interest in
Vanatec held by the former Versant employees. The recording of the aforementioned variable intercst
entity liability resulted in a corresponding restructuring charge of $480,000 during fiscal 2005. On
March 27, 2006, Versant sold its 19.6% interest in Vanatec to a third party investor for 4,900 euros and
entered into a joint ownership agreement with Vanatec. As a result of the transaction, Versant determined
that it is no longer the primary beneficiary of Vanatec, and thus, in accordance with FIN 46(R) is no longer
required to consolidate its operating results effective March 28, 2006.

In fiscal 2005, Versant recorded total restructuring charges of approximately $638,000, which included
approximately $280,000 of severance payments for headcount reductions; $480,000 related to the
aforementioned Vanatec spin off of which $24,000 related to legal fees incurred due to the VOA Net spin-
off; offset by a $122,000 adjustment as result of the sublease of the Company’s UK facilities.

Fiscal 2006

The restructuring programs initiated in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 were effectively completed in
the second quarter of fiscal 2006. During the quarters ended July 31 and October 31, 2006, Versant did not
record any restructuring expenses. In fiscal 2006, Versant recorded total restructuring charges of
approximately $218,000, which consist primarily of severance payments due to headcount reductions.

As of October 31, 2006, there remains $448,000 restructuring accrual and zero variable interest entity
liability on Versant’s consolidated balance sheet.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s restructuring activities from October 31, 20(}4 through-
October 31, 2006 (in thousands):

Facility . Employee Others/

Leases  Terminations , Vanatec Total
Opening accrual balance as of October 31,2004 . ........... $2,107 $ 504 $ — % 2,611
Non-cash adjustment during the fiscal year 2005............ (122) 280 480 638
Net cash payments during the fiscal year 2005 .............. T (804) (784 (343) _(1,931)
Accrual and variable interest liability as of " ' ' '

October 31,2005 ... ... s $1,181 - § — $ 137 % 1,318
Non-cash adjustment during the fiscal year 2006............ 218 — — 218
Net cash payments during the fiscal year 2006 .............. (951) — — - (951)
Deconsolidation of Vanatec adjustment during the fiscal year ‘ o

2006 . o e = — (137 '(137)
Accrual and variable interest liability as of : ‘ ‘

October 31,2006 ... ... ... ottt $ 448 $ — $ — § 448

The facility lease payments during the fiscal 2006 were related to Versant’s obligations for 1ts
California and European facilities, which were accrued for as part of the restructuring plans.

NOTE 7. CONSOLIDATION OF VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY

Versant in July 2005 through its subsidiary Versant GmbH, entered into certain agreements to effect a
spin-off of tangible assets, technology rights and contracts related to its Versant Open Access .NET,
(“VOA.NET”) business to Vanatec GmbH (a then newly formed privately held German based company).
Versant, subsequent to this agreement, determined that the equity at risk in Vdnatec was not sufficient to
permit the company to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from
Versant; therefore, it considered Vanatec a variable interest entity in accordance with FIN 46(R),
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (As Amended).

As a result, in accordance with FIN 46(R), Vanatec’s operating results were included in Versant’s
consolidated financial statements for the three-month periods ended July 31, 2005, October 31, 2005 and
January 31, 2006, During the three months ended January 31, 2006, Versant absorbed its share of .
Vanatec’s losses up to the point that it exceeded the variable interest liability; and subsequent to that it
continued to absorb 100% of the losses that Vanatec had incurred for an additional amount of $35,000 for
the three months ended Fanuary 31, 2006. During the three months ended April 30, 2006, Versant
continued to absorb 100% of Vanatec’s losses for an additional amount of $70,000 for the period between
February 1, 2006 and March 27, 2006.

On March 27, 2006, Versant sold its 19.6% interest in Vanatec to a third party investor for 4,900 euros
and entered into a joint ownership agreement with Vanatec. According to this agreement, Vanatec shall
pay Versant a running royalty interest at a rate of six percent of its net proceeds, but no less than 30 curos
per copy of the technology subject to the licenses granted, for a period of five years following the cffective
date of the agreement. Further, at any time during the royalty period, Vanatec has the right to exercise a i
buyout for its royalty obligations by making a one-time payment to Versant of 450,000 euros. As a result of
the aforementioned transaction, Versant determined that it is no longer the primary beneficiary of
Vanatec, and thus, in accordance with FIN 46(R) is no longer required to consolidate its operating results
effective March 27, 2006.




As Versant was no longer required to consolidate the operating results of Vanatec as of March 27,
2006, it recorded a gain of approximately $131,000 on deconsolidation, representing the reversal of the
excess losses that it had absorbed and the consideration that it received from the third party investor in lieu
of its interest in Vanatec. The gain is reported as Gain on Disposal of Variable Interest Entity in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations for fiscal 2006.

NOTES. LEASE OBLIGATIONS AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

Versant’s principal commitments as of October 31, 2006 consisted of obligations under operating
leases for facilities, equipment, and contract commitments.

In November 1996, Versant entered into a ten-year operating lease agreement for the Company’s
corporate headquarters in Fremont, California that commenced on July 1, 1997 and expires on June 30,
2007. The terms of the lease provide for certain increases in rental payments during the lease term. Rental
expense under this agreement, including contractual rent increases, is recognized on a straight-line basis.
Versant also leases field office space in Europe and India, generally under multi-year operating lease
agreements. Consolidated rent expenses for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2006, October 31, 2005 and
October 31, 2004, were approximately $877,000, $1.0 million, and $1.7 million, respectively.

The Company has recorded approximately $591,000 of its commitments on its October 31, 2006
Balance Sheet. The Company’s future annual minimum commitments as of October 31, 2006 under non-
cancelable operating leases are listed in the table below:

Rental Equipment
Lease Leases Total

Fiscal year ending October 31,

2007 . e e e e 1,054 60 1,114
2008 . . e e e e 93 43 136
2000 .. e e e e e e — 34 34
2080 . e e e e — 16 16
Thereafter. .. oot e et —_ 22 22

Total Lo $1,147 $175 $1,322

NOTE9. LINE OF CREDIT

On June 21, 2005, Versant and a financial institution entered into a Loan and Security Agreement, a
Streamline Facility Agreement and an Intellectual Property Security Agreement {collectively, the “Loan
Agreements”). Under the terms of these Loan Agreements, Versant may borrow up to a maximum of
$3.0 million from the financial institution at any one time under a revolving secured accounts receivable-
based line of credit. This line of credit permits Versant to obtain short-term loan advances from the
financial institution equal to 80% of the face amount of specific eligible accounts receivable of Versant.
The interest rate on each advance will be either 4.0% or 4.5% above the bank’s prime rate. As of
October 31, 2006, there was no outstanding debt under this credit line. The Company has been in
compliance with all the covenants of the line of credit.




NOTE 16. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted net loss per common share has been computed using the weighted average number
of shares of common stock outstanding during the period, less shares subject to repurchase. The following
table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share
amounts):

Fiscal year ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004
Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to
common shareholders. .. ... .. i $3,602 $(14,971) $(10,374)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of _
TTITe00 111 L= 2 S A 231 417 (1,314)
Gain (loss) from sale of discontinued operations, net of
INCOME LAXES - 1 o r ittt e e e es ce et et iannen e annaneess 468 — 309
Net income (loss) attibutable to common shareholders ............... $4,301 $(14,554) $(11,997)
Calculation of basic net loss per share:
Weighted average common shares outstanding .. .................. 3,577 3,539 3,117
Net income {loss) per share from continuing operations ‘
attributable to common sharcholders, basic ..................... $ 1.01 $ (423) $ (3.33)
Earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations, net of .
INCOME taX, DASIC . ... vttt it e e $019 § 012 $§ (052)
Net income (loss) per share attibutable to common
shareholders,basic...... ... ..o i it $ 120 $§ (411) $ (3.85)
Calculation of diluted net income per share:
Weighted average—common shares outstanding. . ................. 3,577 3,539 3117
Dilutive securities—common stock options and shares
subject torepurchase. . ... ... i e 7. — —
Weighted average—common shares outstanding and
potentially dilutive common shares ........... ... ... ...l 3,584 3,539 3,117
Net income (loss) per share from continuing operations
attributable to common shareholders, diluted ................... $101 $§ (423) $ (3.33)
. Earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations,
net of income tax, diluted. . ......... ... . i $019 § 012 § (0.52)
Net income {loss)} per share attibutable to common
shareholders, diluted. . ... . ..o $ 120 § (41D $ (389
Anti-dilutive common stock options, not included in
net income per share calculation. ............. o o 239 341 )

The Company excludes potentially dilutive securities from its diluted net loss per share computation
when their effects are anti-dilutive to net loss per share amounts. The following common stock equivalents
were exctuded from the net loss per share computation (in thousands):

Fiscal year ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004
Anti-dilutive common stock options and non-vested common stock
not included in net loss per share calculation . ..................... 239 341 460
Shares issuable pursuant to warants to purchase common stock........ — — 131
Total anti-dilutive common shares excluded from basic & diluted
netlosspershare ... ... . i 239 341 591
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NOTE 11. INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for
Income Taxes, which requires an asset and liability approach to accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax
liabilities and assets are determined based on the difference between the financial statement carrying
amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted statutory tax rates in
effect at the balance sheet date. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax
assets when uncertainty regarding realizability exists.

Income (Loss) before provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Fiscal year ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004
United States ... ... i i i $ 930 $(16,653) $(10,282)
International. ... .. ... ... it i i i i 3,761 2,123 (1,627)

$4,691  $(14,530) $(11,909)

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Fiscal year ended October 31,

‘ 2006 2005 2004

Current:

Federal ... ..o i iiiieieeeeaeaaanas $ — 8 —  $ —

State...... e e 32 13 —

Foreign .................. e 351 — —

Foreign withholding ................... ...t 7 24 88

Totalcurrent ........cooiir e .. $ 390 § 37 % 88
Deferred:

Federal ... e — — —

) 1 1= — — —

Totaldeferred ... ...t $ — 3 — % —
Total provision for income taxes. ................. $ 390 § 37 8 88

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount estimated by applying the statutory federat
income tax rate to loss before taxes as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal year ended October 31,

2006 2005 7004

Federal tax (benefit) at statutory rate ............. $ 1,642 § (5.086) $ (4,168)
State tax (benefit) at statutory rate, net of

federalbenefit ................ .ol 188 (64) (101)
Change in valuation allowance . .................. (420) 2,212 1,761
Foreign tax differential . ................... ... ... (1,053) (743) 488
Impairment of intangible asets ................... — 3,605 —
Book intangible assets amortization not

deductible fortax. . ............ ..ot _ — 1,073
Deemed divident not deductible for tax ........... — — 848
Other. . ..o e 33 113 187
Provision for income taxes...........cooevenen.. $ 390 § 37 3 88
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The components of the net deferred tax asset were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal year ended

October 31,
2006 2005
Deferred tax asset:
Net operating loss carryforwards ................. .. ... $ 44,736 §$ 44,848
Tax credit carryforwards ........... ... 3,509 3,502
011 -3 o g (73) 242
$ 48,172 § 48,592
Valuationallowance ..........ooeeiiie i, (48,172)  (48,592)
Net deferred tax asset. ... ..vueunirerrernrevenrenenennnns $ — § —

At October 31, 2006, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carry forwards of
$82.5 million and $22.6 million, respectively and federal and state tax credit carry forwards of $2.2 million
and 1.3 million, respectively. The federal tax credit carry forwards expire on various dates through 2025, if
not utilized. The state tax credit can be carried forward indefinitely. Additionally, at October 31, 2006, the
Company had German net operating tax loss carry forwards of approximately $40.2 million. The German
tax code provides for certain annual statutory limitations related to the use of tax loss carry forward
amounts. For each taxable year, the Company may utilize German tax loss carry forwards fully up to the
first million euros of taxable income, and thereafter, the tax loss carry forwards are limited to 60% of
taxable income. Due to the Company’s history of operating losses, the Company believes that there is
sufficient uncertainty regarding the realizability of these carry forwards and, therefore, a valuation
allowance of approximately $48.2 million has been recorded against the Company’s net deferred tax assets.
The Company will continue to assess the realizability of the tax benefit available based on actual and
forecasted operating results.

Due to “change in ownership” provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, the availability of net
operating loss and tax carry forwards to offset federal taxable income in future periods is subject to an
annual limitation,

A portion of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses pertains to net operating loss carry
forwards resulting from tax deductions upon the exercise of employee stock options of approximately
$1.6 million. When recognized, the tax benefit of these loss carry forwards will be accounted for as a credit
to additional paid-in capital rather than a reduction of income tax expense.

NOTE 12. EMPLOYEE AND DIRECTOR BENEFIT PLANS

Versant has, or had during fiscal 2006, the following option plans in place:

e 2005 Equity Incentive Plan

At the Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders on August 22, 2005, the Company’s shareholders
approved the adoption of the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan. On that date, the Company immediately
terminated use of the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan and ceased to grant stock options or other stock awards
under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan, instead granting them under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.

Under Versant’s 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, options are generally granted to its employees with a
three-year vesting schedule in which 25% of the option vests and becomes exercisable nine months from
grant date and the remaining 75% vests ratably, on a monthly-basis thereafter over the remaining 27
months of the vesting schedule. All options granted to employees under the Company’s 2005 Equity
Incentive Plan expire ten years after the grant date. Grant holders have three months after leaving the
Company to exercise their vested options.




The purpose of adopting the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan was to continue to reserve and make
available under that plan the same number of common shares that woutd have been reserved and available
for future option grants and stock awards under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan if it were not then expiring.
Accordingly, the number of common shares reserved for issuance under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan is
equal to the number of shares that were reserved and available for issuance under the 1996 Equity
Incentive Plan on the date the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan was approved by the Company’s shareholders,
plus any shares that in the future would have become available for issuance under the 1996 Equity
Incentive Plan due to the expiration of unexercised options or other forfeitures of equity awards granted
under that plan. Thus, adoption and approval of the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan did not result in any
increase in the number of shares of Common Stock available for equity awards beyond the number of
shares that would otherwise have been available for issuance under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan if it did
not expire.

e 1996 Equity Incentive Plan

Under Versant’s 1996 Equity Incentive Plan, options are generally granted to its employees with a
three-year vesting schedule in which 25% of the option vests and becomes exercisable nine months from
grant date and the remaining 75% vests ratably, on a monthly-basis thercafter over the remaining 27
months of the vesting schedule. Versant’s Compensation Committee has from time to time approved non-
standard stock option vesting schedules for the purposes of employee retention or bonus grants, such as a
three-year grant, with 25% vesting in three months and the remaining vesting ratably on a monthly-basis
thereafter or an option grant with 100% of the option grant vesting three months after the grant date. All
options granted to employees under the Company’s 1996 Equity Incentive Plan expire ten years after the
grant date. Graat holders have three months after leaving the Company to exercise their vested options.
No further options will be granted under 1996 Equity Incentive Plan.

e 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan

On August 22, 2005, the Company’s shareholders approved the 2005 Director Stock Option Plan at
the Annual Meeting. The Company immediately terminated use of the 1996 Director Stock Option Plan
and ceased to grant stock options or other stock awards under the 1996 Director Stock Option Plan, and
instead granted them under the 2005 Director Stock Option Plan.

Under Versant’s 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan, Versant grants 4,000 options as an initial grant to
new directors of the Board and 2,000 as an annual succeeding grant thereafter. Both grants vest 50% on
the first and second anniversaries of the option grant. The options granted under the 2005 Directors Stock
Option Plan expire ten years after the grant date. Directors have seven months after leaving their
directorships to exercise their vested options.

‘The purpose of adopting the 2005 Directors Plan was to continue to reserve and make available under
that plan the same number of common shares that would be reserved and available for future option grants
under the 1996 Directors Plan if it were not then expiring. Accordingly, the number of common shares
reserved for issuance under the 2005 Directors Plan will be equal to the number of shares that are reserved
and available for issuance under the 1996 Directors Plan on the date the 2005 Directors Plan was approved
by the Company’s shareholders (the “Directors Plan Effective Date”), which was August 22, 2005, plus any
shares that in the future would have become available for issuance under the 1996 Directors Plan due to
the expiration of unexercised options granted under that plan or the Company’s repurchase of shares
issued under that plan at their original issue price. Thus, adoption and approval of the 2005 Directors Plan
will not result in any increase in the number of shares of Common Stock available for options beyond the
number of shares that would otherwise have been available for issuance under the prior Directors Plan if it
did not expire.




The purpose of the 2005 Directors Plan was also to enhance the Company’s ability to attract and
retain highly qualified directors who are not employees of the Company or any of parent, subsidiary or
affiliate of the Company (an “Outside Director”) through the use of equity incentives. The Board believed
that the 1996 Directors Plan played an important role in the Company’s efforts to attract and retain
Outside Directors and expected the 2005 Directors Plan to play a similar role. The Board believes that
adoption of the new 2005 Directors Plan is in the best interests of the Company because it believes that the
2005 Directors Plan will help enable the Company to provide equity participation to attract and retain
Outside Directors of outstanding ability. In this regard the Company noted that recent legislation, stock
exchange requirements and case law have increased the importance to the Company of having qualified
independent directors. However, these changes had also increased the obligations, risks and time
commitment of directors of public companies such as the Company, making it even more important for the
Company to be able to offer equity incentives to attract and retain qualified Outside Directors,

* 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan

Under Versant’s 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan, Versant grants 40,000 options as an initial grant
to new directors of the Board and 20,000 as an annual succeeding grant thereafter. Both grants vest 50%
on the first and second anniversaries of the option grant. The options granted under the 1996 Directors
Stock Option Plan expire ten years after the grant date. Directors have seven months after leaving their
directorships to exercise their vested options. No further options will be granted under 1996 Director Stock
Option Plan.

Versant acquired all of Poet’s stock option plans in connection with our March 2004 acquisition of
Poet. Prior to the acquisition Poet had the following plans in place:

e 1995 Stock Option Plan

Under Poet’s 1995 Stock Option Plan, options were generally granted with a four-year vesting
schedule of which 25% are vested twelve months after the date of grant with the remaining options vesting
ratably on a monthly-basis over the remaining 36-month vesting period. Poet has approved non-standard
stock option vesting schedules for the purposes of employee retention or bonus grants, including an option
grant with 100% of the option grant vested at 6 months.

e 2001 Non-statutory Plan.

Standard vesting under this plan is a three-year vesting schedule with 33% of the options vesting one
year after the date of grant, and the remaining options vesting ratably on a monthly-basis over the
remaining 24-month vesting period.

. Director Plan

Under Poet’s 1999 Director’s Plan, options were generally granted to its directors with a three-year
vesting schedule, with 33% vesting twelve months from the option grant date with remaining vesting
ratably on a monthly-basis over the remaining 24-month vesting period. Poet has granted options, as
approved by their Board of Directors, with non-standard option vesting, including an option grant vesting
100% on the fourth anniversary of the grant date; and a four-year grant with 25% vesting on each
subsequent anniversary of the grant date.

No further options will be granted under any of Poet’s option plans.




Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

As of Qctober 31, 2006, the Company had reserved shares of common stock for the following
purposes:

Employee stock purchase plan . ............c . i i i 25,402
Stock options available forgrant. ........ ... ... oL 193,234
Unexercised Stock OPtIONS .. ... ..o e i e 184,590

403,226

Stock Options Activities

The stock option activities in fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:

Options Number of Weighted
available for options average
grant outstanding price

Balance at October 38,2003 ................. 163,739 373,076 $26.60
Authorized ........... ..o i i 178,478 _— -
Granted. ..ot i e (192,693) 13,020 15.40
Assumed..........o i i i — 178,478 34.90
Exercised/Expired .......................... (12,771) {(28,394) 9.50
Canceled. ... it 77,315 {76,287) 23.30
Balance at October 31,2004 . ................ 214,068 459,893 $31.20
Authorized ........... ... ... ... ... ... — — —
Granted. .......cooi i i i i (88,950) 88,950 7.34
Exercised/Expired . .........cooiiiiiniiinn.. (53,199} (52,338) 513
Canceled........... .ot 195,018 (195,018) 37.03
Balance at October 31,2005 ............ e 266,937 301,487 $24.90
Authorized ..., — — —
Granted. ... ... ... ... . i (67,875) 67.875 5.65
Exercised/Expired . ......................... (163,776) (26,824) 5.01
Canceled ..o s 157,948 {157,948) 29.40
Balance at October 31,2006 ................. 193,234 184,590 $16.89

The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable options at
October 31, 2006:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Number Weighted average Weighted Number Weighted average Weighted
outstanding at remaining average exercisable at remaining average

Exercise Prices October 31, 2006  contractual life price October 31, 2006 _contractual life price
From $3.00t0 $6.00 ........ 50,707 7.56 3 429 36,818 6.99 $ 451
From $6.10t0 $9.90 . ..., ... 80,823 8.62 7.12 25,980 724 798
From $9.20 10 $16.00. . ... ... . 19,963 5.66 11.92 19,436 5.61 11.93
From $17.19 to $40.00. . . .... 20,065 5.1 26.79 19,899 5.09 26.84
From $42.00to $122.2. ... ... 11,842 330 86.49 11,842 3.30 86.49
From $180.00 10 $1,287.00 . .. 1,190 233 444.59 1,190 2.33 444.59

184,590 7.25 $ 16.89 115,171 605 $ 23.38
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Non Cash Stock Expense

The following table summarizes the non-cash stock expenses in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Fiscal Year ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004
Stock options expenses under FAS123R ............... $192 $— $—
Stock expenses related ESPP under FAS 123R .......... 44 — —
Unvested Poet Options expenses under APB25......... _ 9% _86 _
Total non cash stock expense ..............oooiiinn. $236 $96 $86

In both fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, stock based compensation expense represents the amortization of
the deferred compensation related to options assumed in the Poet merger.

NOTE 13, FORFEITURE OF COMMON STOCK

In October 2004, Systems America Inc. served a complaint against Versant in a lawsuit alleging that
former employees of Systems America who left that company to form Mokume Software, Inc.
(“Mokume™) misappropriated Systems America trade secrets and confidential information, unfairly
competed with Systems America and infringed Systems America’s trademarks. The Systems America suit
alleged that when Versant acquired Mokume in November 2002, it acquired the benefit of the allegedly
misappropriated trade secrets, confidential information, customer relationships, trademarks and trade
names, and thus Systems America sought damages and injunctive relief from Versant. In connection with
this litigation, Versant in turn sought indemnification from the former stockholders of Mokume under the
terms of the merger agreement pursuant to which Versant acquired Mokume in November 2002, Versant's
indemnification claims were made on the grounds that the allegations in and the existence of the Systems
America litigation constituted a breach of certain representations and warranties made by the former
Mokume stockholders to Versant in the merger agreement. Versant's indemnification rights entitled
Versant to obtain indemnification by canceling and recovering certain shares of Versant Common Stock
issued to the former Mokume stockholders in connection with Versant’s acquisition of Mokume, Pursuant
to a written agreement with the representative of the former Mokume stockholders in accordance with the
merger agreement, 8,998 shares of Versant Common Stock for $50,000 held by the former Mokume
stockholders were forfeited and cancelled as of January 12, 2006 in satisfaction of Versant’s
indemnification rights.

NOTE 14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company paid one of its directors, Bernhard Woebker, $60,000 in fiscal 2006 for consulting
services, in addition to the amounts paid to Mr. Woebker as part of the Company’s standard director
compensation.

NOTE 15. VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES

Versant evaluates and revises its bad debt allowance as part of its quarter end process at each
subsidiary and corporate level. The Company’s management assigns a risk factor and percentage of risk to
each account receivable, the collection of which is considered non-routine. The Company also assigns a
general reserve 1o all its overdue accounts, excluding the non-routine items.
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The following table summarizes the activities in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts (in
thousands):

Fiscal year ended October 31,

2006 2005 2004
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Beginningbalance............ ... .. ciiiiiia., $ 114 $ 368 $258
Provision in allowance for doubtful accounts......... 175 29 1t
Recovery in allowance for doubtful accounts......... (227) (283) €Y
Endingbalance..............cooiiiiiiiiiiiann. $ 62 $ 114 $368

NOTE 16. QUARTERLY INFORMATION (unaudited)

Summarized quarterly supplemental consolidated financial information for fiscal 2006 and 2005, net
of discontinued operations (in thousands}:

Fiscal 2006 Quarters Ended Fiscal 2005 Quarters Ended
October 31, _July3l, April30, January3l, October3l, July3l, April30, January3i,

Revenues. ............ $4,585 $3,755 $3,780 $4,625 $3,802 $ 3452 § 3210 $5,281
Cost of revenues ....... $ 882 $ 536 § 773 $ 900 3 662 $ 823 § 831 $ 948
Grossprofit. ... ....... $3,703 $3,219 $3.,007 $3,725 $3,140 $ 2629 52379 $4,333
Operating expenses. . . ., $2,463 $2,252 $2422 $3,002 $3,110 $ 17,000 $ 3,705 $4,117
Income (loss) from

operations ......... $1,240 $ 967 $ 585 § 723 $ 30 £014371)  $(1,3206) $ 216
Net income (loss) from

continuing operations

attributable to common

shareholders. . ... ... $1,245 $ 917 $ 651 $ 789 $ 416 $(14,413) $(1,226) $ 252
Income (loss) from

discontinued

operations, net of

incometax ......... § 118 $F 9 $ 35 $ (13 $ 9% $ 61 § 167 $ 93
Gain (loss) from sale of

discontinued

operations, net of

incometax ......... 5 — $ — $ 468 5 — 5 — $ — 3 - 5 —
Net income (loss) ... .. $1,363 $1,008 $1,154 $ 776 $ 512 $(14,352) $(1,059) $ 345
Net income (loss) per

share

Basic.............. $ 038 $ 028 $ 032 $ 022 $ 0.4 $ (4.04) 3 (0.30) $ 0.10

Diluted ............ $038 $02 $032  $02 $014 § (404) § (030) $ 010




ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Proéeaurés

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Our management (with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief FlnanCIal

Officer) evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in »
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange
Act), as of October 31, 2006, the end of the fiscal period covered by this report on Form 10-K. Securities
and Exchange Commission, ot SEC, rules define the term “disclosure controls and procedures” to mean a

company’s controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time period specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures
include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in its reports filed under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to
the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons
performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Based on the evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures by our
management with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, our
Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period
covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, '
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and
forms. '

A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control
issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been or will be detected. These inherent limitations include the
fact that there are resource constraints, and that the benefits of controls must be considered relative to
their costs.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compllance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate. .

The certification of Versant’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer attached as
Exhibit 31.01 and 31.02 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, in paragraph 4 of such certifications,
information concerning Versant’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting. Such certifications should be read in conjunction with the information contained in this ltem 9A
for a more complete understanding of the matters covered by such certifications. The certifying officers
have worked to design, or caused to be designed, disclosure controls and procedures, for the purpose of
ensuring that material information relating to Versant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to them by other personnel of Versant on a timely basis. These disclosure controls and procedures
were designed and adopted in good faith for this purpose, but it is recognized that these procedures must
be continually evaluated and can always merit further improvement.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal 2006 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

SEC rules define the term “internal control over financial reporting” as a process designed by, or
under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons
performing similar functions, and effected by the Company’s board of directors, management and other
personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

* Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

» Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the Company; and

¢ Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None
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PART II1
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics that applies to Versant’s principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and all other employees of the Company.
This Code of Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at http://www.versant.com. We intend to satisfy
the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding any amendment to, or waiver from, a
provision of this Code of Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on our website at
http://www.versant.com on the investors’ relations page.

The remainder of the information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy
Statement to be filed in connection with our 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
Item 11, Executive Compensation

The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be
filed in connection with our 2007 Aanual Meeting of Shareholders.
Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters )

The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be
filed in connection with our 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be
filed in connection with our 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
Item 14, Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required for this Item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be
filed in connection with our 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

The exhibit list in the “Exhibit Index” is incorporated herein by reference as the list of exhibits
required as part of this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

VERSANT CORPORATION
Dated: . /s/ Jerry Wong
January 29,2007 - K Jerry Wong
, Vice President, Finance
. Chief Financial Officer

(Duly Authorized Officer and Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Jochen Witte

Jochen Witte

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Duly Authorized Officer and Principal
Executive Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

By signing this Form 10-K below, I hereby appoint each of Jochen Witte and Jerry Wong as my
attorneys-in-fact to sign all amendments to this Form 10-K on my behalf, and to file this report on
Form 10-K (including all exhibits and other documents related to the Form 10-K) with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. I authorize each of my attorneys-in-fact to (1) appoint a substitute attorney-in-fact
for himself and (2) perform any actions that he believes are necessary or appropriate to carry out the
intention and purpose of this Power of Attorney. I ratify and confirm all lawful actions taken, directly or
indirectly, by my attorneys-in-fact and by any properly appointed substitute attorneys-in-fact.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER:

/s/{Jochen Witte President.and Chief Executive Officer
Jochen Witte

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

OFFICER:

/s/ Jerry Wong Vice President, Finance and
Jerry Wong Chief Financial Officer
ADDITIONAL DIRECTORS:

/s/ Uday Bellary Director

Uday Bellary

/s/ William Henry Delevati Director

William Henry Delevati

fs/ Herbert May Director

Herbert May

/s/ Bernhard Woebker Director

Bernhard Woebker

Date

January 29, 2007

January 29, 2007

January 29, 2007

January 29, 2007

January 29, 2007

January 29, 2007



EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form Date Number Herewith
2.01 Agreement and Plan of Merger with Poet Holdings, Inc. 8-K 09/29/03 99.01

dated September 27, 2003 by and among the Registrant,
Puma Acquisition Inc. and Poet Holdings Inc. ¥

2.02 Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as S-4/A 2/2/04 2.2
of January 20, 2004, by and among the Registrant, Poet
Holdings, Inc. and Puma Acquisition, Inc.

2.03 Share Purchase and Transfer Agreement dated as of 3-K  9/17/03 2.1
September 13, 2004 between Poet Software GmbH and
ems ePublishing AG and attached list of annexes thereto
(translated to English from the original German text). ¥

2.04 Vanatec GmbH Asset Purchase Agreement 10-KSB  1/30/06  2.06

2.05 Vanatec GmbH Agreement on the Purchase and 10-KSB  1/30/06 2.07
Assignment of a Share

2.06 Asset Purchase Agreement as of February 1, 2006 8-K 062/7/06 201
between Versant Corporation and Sima Solutions

3.01 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the S-8 03/24/04 4.01

Registrant, filed with the California Secretary of State on
March 18, 2004 ‘

3.02 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated 8-K  8/26/05 31
Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant, filed with the
California Secretary of State on August 22, 2005

3.03 Registrant’s Amended and Restated Bylaws 10-K  2/15/05 32
10.01  Registrant’s 2005 Equity Incentive Plan** S-8 12/22/05 99.01
1002 Forms of Stock Option Agreements and Stock Option S-8 12/22/05 99.02

Exercise Agreements under Registrant’s 2005 Equity
Incentive Plan**

10.03 Registrant’s 2005 Directors Stock Option Plan** S-812/22/05  99.03

10.04 Forms of Stock Option Grants and Stock Option Exercise CS-8 12/22/05  99.04
Agreements under Registrant’s 2005 Directors Stock
Option Plan**

10.05 Registrant’s 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan** S-8 12/22/05 99.05

10.06 Forms of Enroliment Form and Subscription Agreement S-8 12/22/05 99.06
under Registrant’s 2005 Employee Stock Purchase Plan**

10.07 Registrant’s 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan, as S-8 08/14/03  4.06
amended as of July 30, 2003, and related documents**

10.08  Registrant’s 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as 10-K  2/15/05 10.02

amended as of August 17, 2004 and related documents**
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form Date Number Herewith

10.09 Registrant’s 1996 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended as of S-8 05/09/02  4.05
April 18, 2002, and related documents**

10.10 Poet Holdings, Inc. Amended and Restated 1995 Stock S-8  3/24/04 4.5
Plan and Forms of Stock Option Agreement and Exercise
Notice thereunder**

10.11 Poet Holdings, Inc. 1999 Director Option Plan and Forms S-8  3/24/04 4.6
of Director Option Agreement and Director Option
Exercise Notice thereunder**

10.12  Poet Holdings, Inc. 200! Non Statutory Stock Option S-8  3/24/04 4.7
Plan and Forms of Stock Option Agreement and Exercise
Notice thereunder**

10.13 Form of Letter from Registrant to option holders of Poet S-8  3/24/04 99.01
Holdings, Inc., regarding assumption of options by
Registrant™**

10.14 Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into by Registrant 10-K  2/15/05 109
with each of its directors and executive officers _

10.15 Form of Amendment to Versant Corporation Stock SB-2  7/16/96
Option Agreement™*

10.16 Lease Agreement dated November 25, 1996 between 10-KSB  4/03/98 10.15
John Arrillaga, Trustee et al. and Registrant

10.17 Separation Agreement dated June 14, 2005 between 8-K 6/16/05 10.01
Versant Corporation and Nick Ordon**

10.18 Separation Agreement dated June 14, 2005 between 8-K 6/16/05 10,02
Registrant and Lee McGrath**

10.19  Joint Employment Agreement and Managing Director 8-K 12/1/06  5.02
Service Contract between Registrant, Versant GmbH, a
wholly owned subsidiary of Registrant, and Jochen
Witte**

10.20 Registration Rights Agreement dated December 28,1998 10-KSB  03/31/99  10.35
between the Registrant and the parties listed on the
Schedule of Investors attached thereto

10.21  Supplement dated June 28, 1999 to Registration Rights 8-K 07/13/99 10.02
Agreement among the Registrant and the parties listed
on the Schedule of Investors attached thereto

10.22  Silicon Valley Bank Loan and Security Agreement 10-KSB  01/30/06  10.23

10.23  Silicon Valley Bank and Versant Corporation Streamline  10-KSB  01/30/06  10.24
Facility Agreement

10.24  Silicon Valley Bank and Versant Corporation Intellectual  10-KSB  01/30/06 10.25

Property Security Agreement
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form Date Number Herewith
10.25  Silicon Valley Bank and Versant Corporation Default 10-Q 03/17/06 10.01
Waiver and First Amendment to Loan and Security
Agreement
21.01 Subsidiaries of the Registrant =
23.01 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP
31.01  Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive
Officer
31.02 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial =
Officer
32.01 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer
32.02 Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer

Tt Pursuant to Item 601{b)(2) of Regulations of 3-K, certain annexes, exhibits and schedules to this
Exhibit have been omitted but will be furnished supplementally to the Commission upon request.

* ¥

Management contract or compensatory plan.
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SUBSIDIARY

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGSITRANT

JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION

EXHIBIT 21.01

Poet Holdings, Inc

Poet Software Corporation
Versant Gmbh

Versant Ltd.

Mokume Software, Inc.
FastQObjects, Inc.

Versant India

Delaware
Massachusetts
Germany
United Kingdom
California

California

India




EXHIBIT 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated December 8, 2006, accompanying the consolidated financial
statements included in the Annual Report of Versant Corporation on Form 10-K for the year ended
October 31, 2006. We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the previously
filed Registration Statements of Versant Corporation on Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-67776, 333-87922,
333-107956, 333-113871, 333-125368, and 333-130601). ‘ .

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP
San Francisco, CA
January 26, 2007




Date:  January 29, 2007

By

EXHIBIT 31.01

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant To Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a) As
Adopted Pursuant To Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Jochen Witte, President and Chief Executive Officer of Versant Corporation, certify that:
I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Versant Corporation (the “registrant”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s{ Jochen Witte
Jochen Witte
Chief Executive QOfficer




EXHIBIT 31.02

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant To Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a) As Adopted
Pursuant To Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

1, Jerry Wong, Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Versant Corporation, certify
that: .

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Versant Corporation (the “registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsii)le for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and o

¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal controt over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  January 29, 2007

By /s Jerry Wong
Jerry Wong
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.01

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C, Section 1358, As- Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Versant. Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), I, Jochen Witte, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §,1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d} of the Securities Exchange
Actof1934;and | - o0 _ _

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
_condition and result of operatlons of the Company for the quarterly penod cavered by the Report.

RIS S 1 sad !

/s/ Jochen Witte

Jochen Witte

President and Chicef Executive Officer
January 29, 2007

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Comphny and
will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff -
upon request., o
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